University of Hawaii, Manoa Honolulu, HI

The Origin, History, and Distribution of Water and its Relation to Life in the Universe

Principal Investigator:

Karen Meech meech@ifa.hawaii.edu

Co-Investigators/Collaborators:

At University of Hawaii, Manoa: F. Scott Anderson Kimberly Binsted James Cowen Eric Gaidos David Jewitt David Karl Klaus Keil Rolf-Peter Kudritzki Michael Motti Tobias Owen Bo Reipurth

The Origin, History, and Distribution of Water and its Relation to Life in the Universe

PI: Karen J. Meech University of Hawaii

Contents

1	Executive Summary						
2	Research and Management Plan						
	2.1	Water	and Life in the Universe	6			
		2.1.1	Origin of Water and the Formation of Stars and Planetary Systems	13			
		2.1.2	Interstellar Ices \longrightarrow Comets \ldots	17			
		2.1.3	Role of Water in the Formation of Biologically Important Molecules in				
			Space	21			
		2.1.4	Origin and Distribution of Planetary Water	25			
		2.1.5	Water and Aqueous Alteration on Mars	29			
		2.1.6	Water-Rock Chemistry and Habitats for Life	32			
		2.1.7	Extreme Aquatic Environments on Earth and their Analogy to Potential				
			Habitats in the Solar System	38			
		2.1.8	An Integrated Model of the Planetary Water Cycle	44			
		2.1.9	Signatures of Water-Bearing Exoplanets	47			
	2.2	Extend	ling the State of the Field – Relevance to Past, Current, Future NASA OSS				
		Progra	ms	48			
	2.3	Techni	cal Approach	49			
		2.3.1	Infrared Spectroscopy and Sub-mm Interferometry:				
			Young Stars, Circumstellar Disks, and Molecular Clouds	49			
		2.3.2	Extraterrestrial Ice Laboratory Experiments	51			
		2.3.3	Comet & Centaur Observations	54			
		2.3.4	Comet Isotopic Measurements	55			
		2.3.5	Instruments for the Identification of Biomarkers	56			
	2.4	Outline	e of Work Plan	61			
		2.4.1	Management Approach	62			
		2.4.2	Timelines & Deliverables	62			
		2.4.3	Role of Co-Investigators and Collaborators	64			
3	Plan for Strongthoning the Astrobiology Community 92						
5	3 1	Educat	tion and Public Outreach	83			
	5.1	3 1 1	Introduction	83			
		312	Astrobiology Laboratory Institute for Instructors (Alii)	83			
		313	Summer Workshon and Research Experience	84			
		314	Astrobiology in a Course for Pre-Service Teachers	85			
		315	The Faulkes Telescone Facility	85			
		316	Find aging the Public	85			
		317	Evaluation	86			
	32	Profes	sional Community	87			
	5.4	3 2 1	Winter Astrobiology school	87			
		377	Visiting Faculty Scholars Program	87			
	33	Teami	ng with Minority Institutions	88			
	3.4	Institut	tional Commitment	88			

Faci	Facilities & Equipment						
3.7	Other .	Astrobiology Commitments	91				
3.6	Information Technology						
3.5	Flight Missions						
	3.4.2	Outside Contributions	89				
	3.4.1	University of Hawaii	88				

4 Facilities & Equipment

1 Executive Summary

Intellectual Focus & Proposed Research -

Water is the medium in which the chemistry of all life on Earth takes place. Water is the habitat in which life first emerged and in which all of it still thrives. Water has modified Earth's geology and climate to a degree that has allowed life to persist to the present epoch. We propose to create a research and education framework that links the biological, chemical, geological, and astronomical sciences to better understand the origin, history, distribution, and role of water as it relates to life in the universe. We focus on scenarios involving the sources and distribution of water in planetary systems and the delivery and incorporation of water into rocky planets that orbit within the "habitable zones" of their parent stars. Our framework will include and connect research on major aspects of planetary water – in effect we aim to understand the terms of a "watery Drake equation":

- Observations and modeling of the abundance and distribution of water in the interstellar medium, molecular clouds, and circumstellar disks;
- Surveys and studies of the numbers, water content, D/H ratio and dynamics of icy outer solar system bodies such as comets, Centaurs and Kuiper Belt objects;
- Laboratory experiments on complex molecule trapping and formation on interstellar waterrich grain mantles and planetary ices;
- Cosmochemical studies of meteorites that record the incorporation of water into silicate material in the primordial Solar System as an early step in its eventual inclusion in larger bodies, including planets;
- Models of the escape of water (as hydrogen) from the atmospheres of Earth-sized planets;
- Spacecraft- and meteorite-based research and theoretical studies on the role of water in forming the diversity of rocks and sediments on Earth, Mars, and Venus.
- Biological exploration of ice-covered habitats in Iceland, Antarctica, and North America with potential application to the search for life on Mars and Europa.
- Biological and chemical exploration of extreme aquatic habitats in and around the Hawaiian islands including the deep-sea, Kauhako Lake crater on Molokai and Lake Waiau near the summit of Mauna Kea.
- Development of concepts and prototype hardware for instruments that could be used to detect and characterize life on other planetary bodies.

Distinguishing Features -

By developing and testing models and exploring the outcomes of alternative scenarios we seek to determine what controls the abundance and distribution of water and hypothetical aqueous habitats in other planetary systems. This research will directly support the NASA search

for past or present life on Mars and efforts (such as the NASA Terrestrial Planet Finder) to directly detect and characterize Earth-sized exoplanets. The proposed framework of our research will support a group of postdoctoral scholars who will carry out independent, interdisciplinary research spanning two or more of the investigators' (or affiliated investigators') research specialties. The island setting and the unique facilities of the University of Hawaii offer an environment conducive to these investigations. The University of Hawaii houses world-class research groups active in astronomy, and in the chemical, geological and biological sciences. It is home to a substantial array of scientific facilities, including the telescopes of Mauna Kea Observatory, a fleet of research vessels for oceanographic and deep-sea investigations and facilities for exploration of the extreme environments found on the volcanoes and in the lakes and oceans around Hawaii. Through this Astrobiology proposal we aim to combine and capitalize on these many areas of research excellence to craft a new, interdisciplinary study of water and its relation to life.

Management Approach -

The UH-NAI PI will meet once a week with the Co-Investigators to discuss research progress, discuss any technical, financial or management issues, and to involve everyone in the E/PO activites. The timelines and status of the projects will be reviewed and updated at these meetings. In addition the UH-NAI will offer an astrobiology seminar series which will involve the entire local community. Additionally the development of our collaborative visualization tool will help foster interdisciplinary communications and highlight areas of new development which can be discussed at these regular meetings.

Education/Public Outreach Activities -

Our group has a strong record in education and public outreach, and we intend to build on that experience by providing innovative laboratory-based learning opportunities for teachers and engaging the public in our research. We intend to develop a program that trains teachers in the science of astrobiology, how to incorporate astrobiology into their classes, and in how to use the activities we will develop as part of the program. The focal point of our teacher-training program will be a summer professional development program. Using the summer workshop and research experience as a base, we will also develop a course for pre-service teachers. All projects will involve development of standards-based classroom activities. We also intend to actively engage the public in our discoveries.

Institutional Commitments -

The University of Hawaii and the Institute for Astronomy are strongly committed to the success of this project, and have committed a total of \$4.5 million in faculty positions, in-kind salary support and cash contributions to the project.

Collaborative Networking Concepts -

We will design, implement and evaluate a software visualization tool to interface with the NAI ScienceOrganizer knowledge management tool.

2 Research and Management Plan

2.1 Water and Life in the Universe

"If there is magic on this planet, it is contained in water." - Loren Eiseley, The Immense Journey

We humans, and all life on Earth, are aqueous beings. Our cells are mostly water that has been exquisitely packaged in lipid membranes. They are cytoplasmic solutions of solvable molecules whose aqueous chemistry is responsible for cellular maintenance, growth, and reproduction. Water's chemical and thermodynamic properties make it an ideal medium for biological activity, so much so that it is considered essential for recognizable life. It has been called the "ultimate solvent" because of its ability to form multiple hydrogen bonds with solutes and its strongly polar character. It is also capable of serving as both an acid and a base. Strong hydrogen bonding between water molecules stabilizes the liquid phase over a wider range of temperatures compared to other cosmically abundant molecules, and it endows water with a high latent heat of vaporization. Unlike many compounds, water expands upon freezing and its ice floats, a property that is crucial for the persistence of aquatic habitats under freezing surface conditions. In addition to its direct role in biology, water is also a predominant determinant in the geology, geochemistry, and climate of our planet. It influenced the structure and early evolution of the Solar System itself, aspects of which dictate the habitability of Earth. Water and life are connected at many scales, from the interstellar medium to microbial habitats, and through many processes; astrophysical, geological, geochemical, and biological. We propose an Astrobiology research consortium that seeks to better understand these connections and their implications for the distribution, nature, and signature of life throughout the universe.

Water has been involved in life since its first appearance on the early Earth. The leading theories of the origin of life invoke prebiotic chemistry in low-temperature aqueous solutions, *e.g.*, a "warm little pond"^[42] supplied with prebiotic molecules by atmospheric chemistry^[143], or in the hydrothermal brines produced by high-temperature water-rock interactions^[35]. The first three billion years of the drama of life on this planet was played out entirely in aquatic environments. The world's oceans and freshwater bodies remain the home for a large fraction of species at the present era and life has invaded and adapted to nearly every environment on the Earth's surface where there is some liquid water, almost regardless of temperature, pH, or chemistry.

Water is also involved in geochemical reactions that maintain surface conditions permissive of life. For example, aqueous weathering of silicate minerals in the presence of a CO_2 -containing atmosphere produces alkalinity, which in turn allows CO_2 in the ocean-atmosphere system to precipitate as carbonate minerals and eventually become sequestered as carbonate rocks. Without these reactions, the buildup of volcanic CO_2 in the atmosphere would lead to intense greenhouse conditions similar to those on Venus. Instead, temperature-sensitive weathering and the concomitant deposition of carbonates constitute a negative feedback that may have regulated atmospheric CO_2 levels to compensate for the Sun's luminosity evolution over 4.5 billion years^[214]. Water vapor itself is the most active greenhouse gas in the present-day atmosphere, amplifying the effects of other, incondensible gases by a factor of 2-3. Water also modifies the amount of solar radiation reflected by the Earth back to space, either as relatively absorbent oceans, as reflective ice, or as scattering clouds. These warm or cool the Earth and can create positive or negative albedo-temperature feedbacks. "Snowball Earth" epochs of runaway glaciation thought to have

been driven by such a feedback may have provoked major crises in the history of life^[85, 111].

Finally, the presence of volatiles such as water significantly alters the rheology and thermodynamics of silicate minerals in Earth's crust and mantle. The presence of water in the mantle has a profound effect on its internal convective motions and the melting behavior. The formation of magmas involved in volcanism at hot spots and island arcs is thought to be driven by, or at least influenced by, the ability of fluxing water to depress the solidus of silicate rocks. Water may be responsible for a low viscosity zone beneath the brittle lithosphere^[104] and may weaken faults, giving lithospheric plates increased flexure^[168]. These last two may be critical to the operation of plate tectonics. Plate tectonics is responsible for much of the geologic activity on Earth's surface, including mid-ocean ridge and island arc volcanism at the margins of oceanic plates, uplift of mountain ranges by tectonic forces at converging continental plates, and deepening of basins where continental plates diverge. These geologic processes in turn drive many of the biogeochemical cycles important to Earth's habitability, particularly the weathering of uplifted silicate and carbonate rocks, the revolatilization and release of CO₂ from carbonates at subduction zones, and the burial of organic carbon in sediments and concomitant release of molecular oxygen.

Water is abundant on present-day Earth. Three-quarters of its surface is covered by oceans and models suggest that crustal and mantle rocks contain an even greater amount of water^[200]. What was the origin of this water and how did it become incorporated in the Earth? The deuterium to hydrogen ratio (D/H) of seawater (1.56×10^{-4}) (and a similar value for mantle water) offers a constraint on the origin and subsequent history of Earth's water^[119]</sup>. The total inventory and distribution of water on Earth was probably determined early in the planet's history and may have consisted primarily of water dissolved into a magma ocean in equilibrium with a dense steam atmosphere^[174]. The D/H of seawater is similar to that found in certain primitive water-rich chondritic meteorites. This suggests that Earth's water was evolved from dehydration of hydrous minerals during the accretion of chondrite-like planetesimals (not necessarily represented by any of the extant classes of meteorites). Thus it is possible that Earth's water was evolved from dehydration of hydrous minerals during or after the accretion of chondrite-like planetesimals (not necessarily represented by any extant classes). The seawater D/H ratio is significantly lower than ratios measured in three long-period comets. While this appears to rule out long-period comets as primary contributors of Earth's water, the D/H ratios of other cometary types have not been measured. In particular, the short-period comets formed further from the sun and at lower temperatures than the long-period comets. Their nebular processing and resultant D/H ratios may have been significantly different from those of their long-period cometary counterparts. In addition, as we discuss later, the terrestrial planet abundances of the noble gases such as Ar, Kr and Xe are not easily explained by delivery from the asteroid belt, but more compatible with a cryogenic, presumably cometary source. For these reasons, it is too early to rule out a cometary source for Earth's water and other volatiles.

Water in precursor planetesimals could have derived either from hydration of silicate grains by water molecules in the primordial solar nebula, or at greater distances from the proto-Sun, by aqueous alteration of larger bodies composed of a rock/ice mixture^[77] and their dynamical transport to accretion zone of the proto-Earth. Nebular water in turn traces its ancestry to the chemistry of the interstellar medium at temperatures of 10-20 K. The enrichment of Solar System water in deuterium with respect to the protosolar nebula (D/H = 2.5×10^{-6}), was the result of isotopic fractionation in the protosolar nebula, perhaps involving irradiation and ion-molecule reactions^[186]. Irradiation of gas-phase or solid-phase water could also process organic material, enriching it in deuterium, in the interstellar medium and proto-solar nebula. This processing may take the form of gas-phase reactions in the solar nebula, irradiation of icy grains, and aqueous alteration in the parent bodies of meteorites. Important prebiotic molecules such as amino acids and sugars could have been produced in these environments. This material would have been later brought to the Earth in comet-like bodies.

Earth has hosted surface waters throughout most of its history. The rock record preserves water-lain sediments at least as old as 3.5 billion years and the oxygen isotopes of zircon crystals support the existence of a hydrosphere as early as 4.4 billion years ago^[223]. How has the total inventory of terrestrial water changed with time and how has it exchanged between reservoirs at the surface and in the interior? The current escape rate of water (as hydrogen) to space would have a negligible impact on the total inventory, even over 4.5 billion years, and is small compared to the fluxes between the surface and interior^[119]. However, higher rates of escape may have accompanied an anoxic atmosphere and higher ultraviolet radiation from a younger Sun. The elemental and isotopic abundances of rare gases seem to require that a significant amount of hydrogen (perhaps some from water) was lost in a non-fractionating hydrodynamic wind^[174]. Additional water (as hydrogen) could have been sequestered into Earth's core^[169]. Because of volcanism, weathering, and the subduction of lithospheric plates, water is continually exchanging between the surface and mantle. A secular decrease of surface water (and uptake by the mantle) with time has been suggested, although this conclusion is highly model-dependent^[18].

Like liquid water, life has a lengthy history on this planet. It is possible that for nearly as long as aquatic environments have been stable at the surface, life has been present to inhabitat them. Carbon isotopic fractionation in apatite grains from the 3.85 billion-year old Isua supracrustal belt (Greenland) has been interpreted as the product of biological carbon fixation, and microforms from Australian cherts have been described as the oldest microfossils^[194]. Both of these interpretations have been challenged in the light of new geologic data^[122, 19], and the exact temporal relationship between water and life on the early Earth remains unresolved. Though these early origins remain obscure, it is clear that life has subsequently expanded into, and adapted to, the entire range of aquatic habitats on the Earth, from anoxic seas to the extremely nutrient-poor open ocean, from seafloor hot springs to low-temperature brines in sea-ice, from highly alkaline lakes (pH ~ 10) to the extremely acidic (pH ~ 0) streams draining metal ore bodies. How has water physically and chemically diverse habitats for life? How has life evolved to adapt to those environments?

Humanity is extending its search for life beyond the Earth to other bodies in the Solar System, and that quest has been largely framed in terms of a search for water, especially water in its liquid state. Although the surface of present-day Mars is extremely cold and dry, a series of orbiting spacecraft have returned images containing geomorphic evidence for the presence of ground ice, and high concentrations of ice have now been detected in the uppermost meters of martian soil^[57]. Spacecraft imagery has also revealed giant outflow channels and valley networks incised in ancient terrain, evidence that this water once flowed as a liquid^[57]. Whether these landforms indicate that Mars once possessed a temperate climate, oceans and an Earth-like hydrological cycle is actively debated^[33, 195, 71], yet it is clear that aqueous habitats existed, perhaps only transiently, near or at the surface of the planet. The more recent identification of small "gullies" on the walls of some craters and canyons^[126], perhaps carved by expelled groundwater^[69] or melting ice^[36] has prompted speculation that suitable habitats for microbial life may persist to the present day. The search for

water is an integral piece of the NASA program of Mars exploration: current and future missions will use high-resolution and multi-spectral imaging to identify sites of past or present aqueous activity from orbit to be investigated by robotic landers and rovers.

The icy Galilean satellites of Jupiter, especially Europa, exhibit features indicative of active geologic resurfacing that may be related to the presence of interior liquid water maintained by tidal frictional heating in addition to heat released by the radioactive decay of long-lived isotopes^[170]. The *Galileo* spacecraft's detection of an induced magnetic field around both Europa and Callisto can be explained by global interior oceans or layers of partially molten ice^[226]. It is widely speculated that interior oceans could support life, assuming a suitable chemical source of energy replaces sunlight^[184, 66, 130, 31]. The tidal-driven tectonics of the icy crust of Europa may allow liquid water to penetrate close to the surface^[67]. Missions to orbit Europa, precisely measure the tidal flexure of its ice crust and probe its interior with radar have been considered. Longer-term concepts include plans to land on its surface and penetrate the crust to explore any ocean.

The scope of the search for life will expand dramatically as space observatories are developed to detect and characterize Earth-size planets around other stars^[121, 11]. Current ground-based methods such as Doppler velocimetry are capable of detecting only giant gas planets^[40]. Future, space-based searches will be based on the direct detection of a planet's reflected or emitted light. This will also allow their surfaces and/or atmospheres to be characterized both spectroscopically and photometrically (changes in full-disk light as the planet revolves around the parent star and rotates on its axis). Planets within the "habitable zone" of their parent star (the range of orbital semimajor axes where surface temperatures permit liquid water) will be of particular interest. Searches for potential atmospheric biosignatures (e.g., methane or molecular oxygen)^[47] will be accompanied by observations to determine the physiochemical conditions on the planet's surface and especially the thermodynamic state of water. The latter can be elucidated by searching for the spectral signature of atmospheric water vapor and the photometric variability produced by the planet's rotation and albedo differences between water, land masses, water vapor clouds, and ice. Further into the future, giant space observatories may perform a census of thousands of nearby stars and image the closest Earth-like planets to determine directly if they have oceans and continents, clouds and polar caps, a hydrological cycle and aquatic habitats like those on Earth.

Cosmically, water is not uniformally abundant, its incorporation into Earth-sized planets not necessarily constant, nor is its planetary manifestation as aquatic habitats suitable for life a given. The search for life in the universe must account for these variations and the uncertainties that accompany them. Water is formed in the interstellar medium and in the denser molecular clouds that give rise to star-forming regions. Differences in elemental abundance, gas-phase chemistry, and grain chemistry will result in measurable variation in the abundance of water in those regions. Water is a significant source of infrared opacity in collapsing cloud cores and protostellar disks; the efficiency at which the collapsing gas cools may control the stability against gravitational fragmentation and the formation of binary or multiple systems (including brown dwarf companions). The abundance of water in protoplanetary disks is a sensitive function of the oxidation state of the nebula and, to first order, the elemental ratio of carbon to oxygen: the C/O ratio has been observed to vary significantly from star to star, implying that there may be very "wet" as well as "dry" planetary systems^[67]. Furthermore, the cosmochemical record in meteorites shows that a large range in oxidation states and water abundance existed in the early Solar System, perhaps as a result of removal of water from the warm interior of the primordial nebula and its condensation at greater distances^[41]. Presumably, planets formed from different mixing ratios of this primitive material would be endowed with different initial inventories of water. The total planetary inventory of water may also depend on the presence of giant planets and the efficiency of its dynamical transport as icy bodies from the outer regions of a planetary system^[150].



The efficiency of incorporation of water into planets will also depend on the accretion history and subsequent escape of water back into space via hydrodynamic flow powered by the extreme ultraviolet radiation of the young parent star. Stars of different mass, metallicity (heavy-element abundance) and initial rotation rates will emit different levels of EUV radiation. The convection of planetary silicate mantles as they reject the heat from long-lived radioisotopes and the gravitational energy of formation will manifest itself as geologic activity and will drive the exchange of water between the surface and the mantle of these planets. Depending on the size and composition of a planet, that exchange will result in different partitioning of water between the surface and interior with obvious consequences for habitability. Further, the thermodynamic state of water on the surface (i.e., liquid, vapor or ice) will depend on surface temperatures and atmospheric pressures which are determined in large part by the geochemical cycling of volatiles such as carbon driven by geologic activity and, ultimately, mantle convection. The tempo and mode of mantle convection appears to be sensitive to the amount of volatiles, particularly water, stored in the mantle itself. Finally, the process of biological adaptation may allow life to colonize and flourish not only in a variety of temperate aquatic environments, but also extreme environments such as low-nutrient oceans, high UV exposure lakes, high temperature deep sea vents, low temperature

subglacial lakes without sunlight, and even ice or settings where the only stable phase of water is steam. These adaptations will ultimately constrain the limits, distribution, and history of life relative to that of water in the universe.

We seek to investigate the astrophysical, cosmochemical, geological, and biological processes that link the history and distribution of life in the universe to that of water. This research will have eight interdisplinary foci:

- *The origin of water and the formation of stars and planetary systems*: This research will focus on mapping the distribution of water in the molecular clouds and cloud cores that are the precursors of stars and planetary systems; understanding the role of water as active molecule and potential tracer in the evolution of collapsing cloud cores, protostars, and protoplanetary disks, and measuring and modeling the participation of water in the protoplanetary disk chemistry that is recorded in pristine meteoric and cometary material.
- *Observational and experimental investigation of water ices in space*: Comet ices preserve a chemical record of the interstellar medium and early Solar System that can be explored by spectroscopy and imaging as the ices volatilize near orbital perihelion. Interpretations of these observations, however, requires laboratory measurements that include solid-phase reactions. Water ice serves as the energy-transfer medium and active participant in a variety of radiation-driven organic chemistry reactions thought to be important in either the interstellar medium or the primordial solar nebula.
- *The origin and distribution of planetary water*: The distribution of water in planet-forming disks, its incorporation of water into planet-forming material, and its eventual inclusion in planets such as the Earth is a fundamental cosmochemical problem. The D/H ratio of planetary atmospheres and potential sources such as meteorites and comets is a powerful means of constraining models of early Solar System water and continued measurement of D/H in additional comets and primitive meteorites will aid that effort. The record of aqueous activity in the parent bodies of chondritic meteorites provides information about the abundance and distribution of water in the primordial solar nebula and its subsequent conversion into the hydrous minerals that are a likely source of most of Earth's water.
- *Water and aqueous alteration on Mars*: Mars is the planet most resembling Earth, it contains unambiguous evidence for the activity of past and present water, and is probably the most likely to host or have hosted extant or extinct life. Studies of the history and action of water on this body compared to Earth are thus of great importance in this regard. These include understanding the potential for the hydrothermal and low-temperature alteration of crustal minerals and rocks by water, and the mechanisms whereby liquid water might be generated on, or brought to the surface of the planet at different epochs.
- *Water-rock chemistry and habitats for life*: The reaction between silicate rocks and water, particularly at high temperature, produces aqueous fluids and altered mineral surfaces whose thermodynamic disequilibria are potential energy sources for life. The role of both subaerial and submarine hotsprings influenced by such water-rock reactions has been well established, but the diversity of potential chemistries and concomitant biological communities has only begun to be explored. These include subseafloor hydrothermal systems in the oceanic crust near mid-ocean ridges, low-temperature systems further from the ridge

axis, cool springs generated by interaction of water with ultramafic rocks at subduction zones, and the interaction of lava and seawater at the surface of the earth.

- *Extreme aquatic habitats on Earth and their analogy to potential habitats elsewhere in the Solar System*: Evidence for water near the surfaces of Mars and Europa suggests there are potential aquatic habitats for life waiting to be explored. Yet these habitats may be very different from those typically found on Earth in terms of lack of sunlight, nutrient levels, high UV levels, or even the state of water itself. Approximate terrestrial analogs to such habitats do exist and will be explored to determine if and how communities of organisms have adapted to those conditions, and to evaluate strategies for the detection of life in those environments.
- An integrated model of planetary water and its early history on Earth-like planets: The processes of impacts, atmospheric escape, volcanic outgassing, weathering, and burial or subduction of hydrous minerals result in changes in the total inventory of planetary water as well as the exchange of water between surface and interior reservoirs. The importance of each process, and its effect on the time-dependent abundance of surface water (and hence the planet's ability to support life) will depend on the initial inventory of water, the astrophysical environment of the planet (*i.e.*, late rate of accretion, ultraviolet radiation from the parent star), its size, and its composition. A model of planetary water can be constrained using known or estimated fluxes and reservoirs of water on the present-day Earth, and can be used to explore the time-evolution of water on the early Earth, as well as Earth-size planets whose space environment or composition differ.
- Signatures of water-bearing exoplanets: The search for life and water will expand outside the Solar System with the eventual deployment of space observatories capable of detecting and characterizing Earth-size exoplanets and their environments. The escape of water from such bodies in young planetary systems may be directly detectable. In addition to searching for signatures of life on a planet, it will be desirable to measure the abundance, distribution, and state of water on its surface using photometric and spectroscopic data. Earthshine, the light from Earth reflected from the dark side of the Moon, provides a practical means of evaluating our capability to identify and describe similarly water-covered worlds around other stars.

With regards to the theme of Water and Life in the Universe, the University of Hawaii is unique in (1) having personnel whose research encompasses the role of water over the entire range of astrophysics, planetary science, chemistry, geology, and biology; (2) having unequaled access to the telescopes of the world's premier astronomical observing site to carry out water-related observations; and (3) being located near a variety of aquatic habitats, many found nowhere else near a major research university, (*e.g.*, the open ocean, a high-altitude lake, fumaroles, and a shoreline where lava enters the sea). To carry out our research on Water and Life in the Universe, we propose to create an interdisciplinary network of investigators and a core community of postdoctoral fellows. This organization will be based at the University of Hawaii but will have collaborators in several other countries. Each postdoctoral fellow will carry out independent, interdisciplinary research that connects two or more of the areas of expertise of the individual investigators in-volved in this proposal. The fellow will not be based with any one investigator but will instead be physically located in their own group, which we call the "Water Hole".

2.1.1 Origin of Water and the Formation of Stars and Planetary Systems

Objectives -(1) quantify the presence of water ice in the interstellar clouds, out of which stars form. (2) understand the structure, kinematics, composition, and physical properties of the circumstellar disks out of which planets form, thus defining the general environment in which water will exist. (3) determine the specific role of water ice in these chemical and physical processes.

Connections – §2.1.3 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 3; Objective 3.1 Researchers – Reipurth, Williams, Ceccarelli

Background – The interstellar medium contains the basic material out of which stars and new planetary systems form. Molecular clouds contain cores of gas and dust, which are cold and dense, and which can collapse, leading to the formation of a protostar and a surrounding rotating disk. By studying star and planet formation as it occurs at present in nearby dark clouds, we open a window on the processes that shaped our own solar system 4.6 billion years ago. The Institute for Astronomy at the University of Hawaii has just inaugurated the Center for Star and Planet Formation in order to develop and strengthen interdisciplinary connections between early solar system studies focusing on comets, Kuiper belt objects, and meteorites, and the analysis of present-day star formation events and newborn stellar objects. One of the prime goals of this effort is to trace the evolution of water from its origins in molecular clouds, its role as a major coolant in the collapse process, its inclusion into and processing within circumstellar disks, to its eventual incorporation into icy solar system bodies such as comets. Ultimately this will lead to planetary water reservoirs such as the oceans on Earth, thus forming the basis for the development of life as we know it.

Interstellar Chemistry and the Origin of Water

In the cold environment of dense interstellar clouds, volatile molecules freeze out onto dust grains and form icy mantles surrounding the silicate and carbonaceous cores. Grain surface chemistry allows for the formation of more complex molecules than is possible in the gas phase. These molecules, including water, are then liberated from the grain surfaces through heating by a young star. Determining the solid state processes in dense clouds is thus essential for an understanding of the chemistry and evolution of water ice. Observationally, there are three closely related approaches to explore the role of water ice in the star formation process.

Mapping the Distribution of Water Ice in Dense Cloud Cores

Water ice exists in the interior of molecular clouds; it is estimated that about 10% of oxygen atoms in molecular clouds are bound up as water ice^[4]. For visual extinctions of less than $A_V \sim 2 - 5$ mag, UV radiation from the interstellar radiation field destroys water molecules. For higher extinctions, the UV field gradually becomes sufficiently attenuated for ice to survive, and a linear relation is found between the optical depth of water ice τ_{ice} and $A_V^{[221, 157]}$. Such observations can be carried out by observing background stars in the near-IR wavelength range thanks to a strong water ice absorption band at 3.1 μ m (Fig. 2.1.1a).

Few studies have been made, since terrestrial water absorption interferes with observations. We will launch a major infrared study extending the early water ice studies between $5 < A_V < 20$ mag (Fig. 2.1.1b) to the much higher extinctions (up to $A_V \sim 100$) in the dense cores out of which solarlike stars are forming. This requires the superior high-altitude dry conditions at Mauna Kea and the availability of 8 - 10 m class telescopes, and the Institute for Astronomy is thus ideally positioned to successfully carry out such a project. Nothing is currently known about water ice absorption at such high column densities, and we will for the first time determine if the linear relation found at low extinctions continues.



Fig 2.1.1b–Calculated and observed column densities of water ice as a function of visual extinction over the range $0 \le A_V \le 20$ for Taurus. The models are discussed in^[167].



Fig 2.1.1a–Water ice map overlaid on a C¹⁸O map of parts of the Taurus molecular clouds^[157]. Both filled and open circles show the position of observed field stars and the diameter of filled circles is proportional to the value of τ_{ice} .

One may expect that the slope changes as the UV field decreases and molecules increasingly condense onto grain surfaces. Physical conditions in the cloud cores can be determined by mapping them with heterodyne detectors and sub-mm continuum arrays at Mauna Kea facilities like the JCMT and the SMA, for direct comparison with the water ice maps. Since the C/O ratio differs between various molecular clouds, we will also explore if the abundance of water ice changes in different star forming regions. If so, the eventual incorporation into planets may not necessarily be constant.

The Physical and Chemical Properties of Circumstellar Disks

It is possible to learn much about water chemistry via observations of related species such as CH_3OH , HCO^+ , and their deuterated counterparts, which have observable line emission outside of the broad terrestrial water bands. A rich chemistry has been observed in star forming cores at (sub-)millimeter wavelengths^[116]. The next step is to extend the study of chemistry in protostellar envelopes to protoplanetary disks. Dutrey^[50] have surveyed a variety of molecules in a nearby disk in Taurus but there are few other observations to date due to the weakness of the line emission. Observations of molecules in disks are technically more challenging than in cores be-

cause of the low resolution of single-dish telescopes operating at millimeter wavelengths and the consequent beam dilution. To achieve higher resolution requires operating multiple antennas as an interferometer. Interferometers also have the advantage of automatically filtering out uniform emission from unrelated molecular gas in the cloud. The first such array of telescopes operating at sub-millimeter wavelengths has recently started operations on Mauna Kea. Once it reaches its targeted specifications in late 2003, the Sub-Millimeter Array (SMA) will provide the ability to map molecular line emission in disks and study their chemical state.

Through the UH access to telescopes on Mauna Kea, it is possible to dedicate large quantities of time to survey for sub-millimeter line emission from water related species in nearby protostellar cores and protoplanetary disks and follow their chemical evolution. The single dish Caltech Submillimeter Observatory (CSO) and James Clerk Maxwell Telescope (JCMT) telescopes have a resolution in the range 10-20" and are well suited to line surveys in protostellar cores. Even in the closest stellar nurseries in Taurus, protostellar disks have radii of only a few arcseconds so line detection is very challenging with these single dish telescopes. The SMA will be a unique resource for imaging at arcsecond resolution in the sub-millimeter regime. By matching the beam and source size more closely, many lines are expected to be detectable and it will become possible to explore the structure, dynamics, and chemistry of protostellar disks. A pioneering study of chemistry in the LkCa 15 disk was made at millimeter wavelengths using the OVRO interferometer^[180]. Our proposed observations are at shorter wavelengths than this work and target warmer gas where both line and continuum emission are stronger. In addition to the line observations, the thermal dust emission provides information on the grain mass opacity and thereby the composition of the (icy) mantles.

The combination of the single dish observations of cores and interferometer measurements of disks will show the chemical evolution from the early stages of star formation in cores to the beginning of planet formation in disks. This is a challenging project that will require large amounts of telescope time due to the multitude of species and relative weakness of emission. UH is in a unique position of being able to bring three sub-millimeter telescopes to bear on this problem, including the only one able to image at arcsecond resolution. Therefore, this survey can be expected to make a significant contribution to our knowledge of the initial chemical conditions of star-forming clouds. The SMA will be dedicated in November 2003. It will be linked to the JCMT and CSO in 2005, thereby doubling the sensitivity and resolution. These telescopes are a unique resource both for research and for training. The skills that students and postdocs learn in carrying out this work will prepare them to take full advantage of the Atacama Large Millimeter Array (ALMA). Scheduled for completion in 2011, this 64-element sub-millimeter interferometer will revolutionize the field of astrobiology by imaging the formation of stars in unprecedented detail. It will have, for example, the capability to image the gaps in disks formed by protoplanets and to study chemical gradients at AU scales.

Hot Water Emission and the Chemistry of Circumstellar Disks

Water is found in the form of water ice at temperatures below about 150 K, but it exists as water vapor at temperatures up to the thermal dissociation limit around 2500 K. Whereas the interiors of dark clouds are always below the ice condensation limit, circumstellar disks around newborn sun-like stars are within the temperature range of water vapor between roughly 0.1 and 5 AU. In this region of a disk, water is a strong and efficient molecular coolant (Fig. 2.1.1c). Furthermore,

not only is water abundant in circumstellar disks, but it has a large number of radiative transitions sampling a wide range of temperatures. Water is therefore an excellent diagnostic of the properties of circumstellar disks at radii relevant for planet formation^[159].

Groundbased observations of water are complicated by the presence of water in the Earth's atmosphere, causing telluric absorption. Observations from dry high-altitude observatories like Mauna Kea greatly reduce this problem. Additionally, because higher excitation states of water have transitions far from the vibrational band centers, it is possible to make groundbased low-resolution spectroscopic observations of water, if it is much hotter than the Earth's atmosphere, when observing in the wings of the telluric water bands at nearinfrared wavelengths. Najita et al.^[159] have demonstrated that it is possible to use high spectral resolution to study individual, resolved near-infrared lines far from the vibrational band centers.



Fig 2.1.1c–Hot water emission (vertical lines) in two young solar-type stars near a CO bandhead^[159]. A synthetic spectrum is included for DG Tau.

They find that the water lines are narrower than the CO lines (as expected for a rotating Keplerian disk since water has a lower dissociation temperature than CO) and therefore extend further out into more slowly rotating parts of a disk. Such spectroscopic studies require very high signalto-noise in order to define the broad weak molecular features, and we envisage to employ the 8-10m telescopes at Mauna Kea for the first detailed and comprehensive study of water vapor emission in the circumstellar disks of newborn sun-like stars.

Water Masers in the Protostellar Environment

Many ortho and para rotational levels of water lie close to each other and thus tend to be easily inverted. Accordingly, if these levels correspond to allowed radiative transitions they can give rise to maser amplification. The strongest water maser emission is that of the $6_{1,6} - 5_{2,3}$ transition which is easily detected from the ground at 22 GHz^[25]. The strong 22 GHz maser emission can be explained by the collisional pumping of dense neutral gas which has been heated by shocks.

In recent years a number of surveys have demonstrated that water masers are commonly observed around newborn stars, with detection rates of 40% for the youngest Class 0 sources, 4% for slightly more evolved (50,000 to 100,000 yr older) Class I sources, and 0% for still older, optically visible Class II sources^[64, 65]. This dramatic decrease in water maser detection over a relatively short evolutionary time span is likely to be caused by the rapid dissipation of dense gas around the central objects. In most cases the masers appear to align along the axis of outflow from the newborn stars^[32], supporting other evidence suggesting that water is efficiently and abundantly produced within warm gas, heated by shocks that are converting gas-phase oxygen into water^[164]. The high spatial resolution of the Very Large Array (VLA) interferometer (0.08 arcsec at 1.3 cm in the A configuration, corresponding to 10 AU in the nearest star forming regions) is thus providing insights into the launch of protostellar jets which may be the source of chondrules and CAI's in the early solar nebula^[199]. This offers a unique connection between the formation of other young stars and the study of our own origins through meteoritic analysis. In rarer cases, the masers appear to trace the distribution of gas in circumstellar disks, see Fig. 2.1.1d^[211, 98, 171].

Recently, proper motions of water masers have been determined by studies with Very Long Baseline Interferometry. Such observations represent an improvement of two orders of magnitude with respect to the best angular resolution achieved with the VLA in its Aconfiguration^[210]. Interferometric water maser observations are the only observations with sufficiently high spatial resolution to allow a detailed determination, on solar system scales, of physical conditions and kinematics in the circumstellar disks out of which planets will form. For the last decade, we have used the VLA extensively to study deeply embedded, newborn, sun-like stars^[181]. We will employ this facility to study the distribution and temporal evolution of water masers, using the water maser emission as a tool to explore physical conditions in protoplanetary disks versus of age.



Fig 2.1.1d–A 1.3 cm radio continuum image from the Very Large Array^[210]. Dots indicate the position of the water masers. The ellipse shows the size of Neptune's orbit for comparison purposes.

Analysis of Water in Star Forming Regions with Space Missions

Water vapor is so abundant and so rapidly variable in the Earth's atmosphere that detailed observations are rather difficult. The Infrared Space Observatory (ISO) and the Submillimeter Wave Astronomy Satellite (SWAS) opened mid- and far-infrared windows with numerous strong water lines^[24, 128, 140], and indicated the advances we can expect in this area of research from future missions. Two major projects, the Stratospheric Observatory for Infrared Astronomy (SOFIA) and the Space Infrared Telescope Facility (SIRTF), are in the final stages of preparation, and will soon be available to the astronomical community. Later this decade we will get the Herschel mission, a 3.5 m mid- and far-infrared telescope that will be placed in a solar orbit at the L2 point. It will be extremely sensitive, and will permit detailed studies of the relation of water ice to circumstellar chemistry in newborn stars^[25]. Meanwhile SIRTF, due to be launched this year, will have far higher sensitivity and resolution than ISO and SWAS, although it, too, will be unable to resolve circumstellar disks. We will use SIRTF to measure the global water content in young star forming cores and disks as a constraint on modeling our resolved ground based observations of water related molecules.

2.1.2 Interstellar Ices \longrightarrow Comets

Objective – We would like to understand the volatile (especially water ice) abundances of comets and related bodies and to know to what extent cometary water has been processed since its ac-

cretion in the precursor molecular cloud. As ice-rich bodies, the nuclei are thermodynamically stable against sublimation only at heliocentric distances > 5 AU. Therefore, we must address the compositions of objects in the middle and outer solar system in order to understand the sources and delivery mechanisms. This requires the application of astronomical techniques using the largest telescopes. As the cometary ices are likely to have been altered by prolonged irradiation by energetic particles, we must also use laboratory experiments to understand the nature and rates of chemical reactions occuring in exposed ices. We will mount a systematic program to study irradiated ices both astronomically and in the laboratory.

Connections – §2.1.4 §2.1.3 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 3; Objective 3.1 Researchers – Bar-Nun, Jewitt, Kaiser, Meech, Owen, Prialnik

Background– Until the late 1980's, the standard paradigm held that comets were pristine relics, "planetesimals", from the era of planet formation. Indeed, the inventory of species detected to date in the ISM is very similar to that found in the comets^[156], broadly consistent with this paradigm. However, we now understand that comets can have different sources. Dynamical evidence suggests that the short-period comets (SP) must have had a low-inclination source in the trans-Neptunian region (beyond 30 AU), while long-period comets (LP) formed at smaller distances (*e.g.* the Jupiter-Neptune zone), were perturbed outwards and are now stored in the Oort Cloud^[49, 58]. The different comet dynamical types have experienced different thermal, collisional and irradiation histories; it is natural to expect that these differences will be reflected in their compositions.

The Comet – ISM Connection

The inventory of species detected to date in the ISM is very similar to those found in comets^[53], leading to the suggestion that much of the interstellar material is incorporated unaltered into comets. However, during the earliest stages of the evolution of the planetary disk, infalling interstellar material may have been heavily processed due to shock-induced sublimation from icy grain mantles and subsequent volatile re-condensation^[124]. At the low ambient temperatures expected in the nebula, the water ice would recondense in an amorphous form, trapping other more volatile species. Nevertheless, observations of recent bright comets have shown that there is evidence for preservation of an interstellar ice component within nuclei, yet at the same time the cometary material has undergone processing during its formation. Measurements of the D/H ratio in P/Halley^[10, 52], in C/1996 B2 Hyakutake^[17] and in C/1995 O1 Hale-Bopp^[139] show an enrichment by a factor of ten in water compared to the protosolar ratio. The enrichment is a result of ion-molecule and grain-surface reactions in molecular clouds. Laboratory experiments have shown that this ratio cannot have been re-equilibrated in the solar nebula^[118].

The Oort Cloud, the Kuiper Belt and Related Bodies

The Oort Cloud contains about 10^{12} comets, with a combined mass probably comparable to that of Neptune. The planetesimals grew collisionally until they were big enough to decouple from the nebular gas (at sizes of 10's to 100's of meters)^[218]. Planetesimals ejected to the Oort Cloud

may have undergone collisional evolution en-route, but have since been stored in a collision-free environment at only 10K temperature^[201]. They have been subject to the full intensity of ionizing galactic cosmic rays for the past 4.6 Gyr. The Kuiper Belt, contains perhaps 10^5 bodies larger than 100 km in diameter and ~ 10^{10} larger than the typical cometary nucleus (~ 1 km: Jewitt and Luu 2000). The current total mass is only ~ $0.2 M_{\oplus}$ but this is thought to be only about 1% of the initial Kuiper Belt mass. Material has been lost from the Kuiper Belt through dynamical erosion and through collisional shattering and ejection. It has been conjectured that the late heavy bombardment of the solar system, most clearly recorded in the cratering history of the Moon, might have been caused by the clearing out of the massive initial Kuiper belt.

Presently, objects escape from the Kuiper belt through dynamical chaos, and are scattered amongst the planets. Those that are not ejected from the solar system to the interstellar medium are scattered inwards to fall under the gravitational control of Jupiter. Once inside Jupiter's 5 AU radius orbit, water ice in the surface layers begins to sublimate, giving rise to an atmosphere or "coma", and these objects are observationally relabelled as "comets". It is thus appropriate to think of a stream of objects emanating from the Kuiper belt and being scattered between the planets, leading sometimes to the appearance of active comets near the earth and, on rare occasions, to collisions with the Earth and terrestrial planets. Bodies that have left the Kuiper belt but which are not yet warm enough to strongly sublimate are known as "Centaurs". About 50 such objects are thought to be collisionally produced chips from larger bodies. They have been in a warmer thermal environment (50K), have been at least partly protected from cosmic rays by heliospheric shielding, and may have been heated and shocked during ejection from their parent bodies.

Spectral Properties

Observational evidence for the effects of irradiation of the comets is found in their remarkably low albedos. Even though they are known to be ice-rich, the cometary nuclei are amongst the darkest objects in the solar system, with albedos typically of only $\sim 4\%$. Albedos of Kuiper Belt Objects and Centaurs, although few are known with confidence, also fall in the few to 10% range. Such low albedoes, together with the reddish colors measured in the optical spectral region, are consistent with hydrogen-depeleted, carbon-rich organics.



Fig 2.1.2a–Water ice bands at 1.5 and 2.0μ m in the reflection spectrum of Centaur 2060 Chiron^[?].

Spectral features on these bodies have proved difficult to find, indicating the low abundance of bonds capable of generating measurable vibrational features in the near infrared. In one spectacular counter-example to this claim, telescopic observations have revealed the presence of several near-infrared absorptions in the spectrum of Centaur 5145 Pholus. One model can fit these features using a surface composition including complex organics ("tholin"), water ice and a light hydrocarbon (possible methanol^[39]). Water ice is seen also in the reflection spectra of other Cen-

taurs and KBOs (see Fig. 2.1.2a). The existence of organics in comets is known from optical spectroscopy of radicals (C_2 , C_3) and from near infrared and radio spectroscopy of molecules (HCN, H₂CO). In-situ measurements of dust grains in P/Halley detected grains composed largely of the elements CHON.

Whether the processed organics are confined to a meter-thick surface layer or "mantle", or are to be found throughout the bulk of the cometary nucleus remains unknown (see Fig. 2.1.2b). Cosmic rays have a stopping length of only meters but irradiation of solid matter prior to incorporation in the cometary nucleus could lead to this matter being found at all depths^[138]. Observations of amorphous ice in comets^[44] show that the comets cannot have been heated much above 137K. This places limits on the allowable abundance of ²⁶Al and on timescales from chondrule formation to comet formation to allow the ²⁶Al to decay by 2 orders of magnitude from the abundance inferred in the Allende meteorite. The heating from ²⁶Al would occur in the first few $\times 10^6$ to 10^7 years, or possibly longer for larger bodies^[176]. Delayed formation is a feature of accretion in the low density Kuiper Belt, so that it seems natural that ²⁶Al would be largely absent in these bodies.



Fig 2.1.2b–Sequences of aging in the upper layers of a comet nucleus from the pristine state, through alterations undergone from heating in the Oort cloud from bright stars, supernovae and decay of ²⁶Al to the active phase of volatile loss.

Comets formed closer to the sun at higher densities could have grown more rapidly and might have incorporated a larger fraction of ²⁶Al and other short-lived isotopes, possibly with important consequences for thermal and chemical processing histories. Organic molecules when exposed to charged particle and UV radiation produce radiolysis and photolysis. Laboratory evidence shows that carbon-containing frozen mixtures will form complex organics when exposed to radiation and that complex organics will break down under irradiation (see §2.1.3). The effects of progressive irradiation include weakening of the IR bands owing to CH bonds, a change in the slope of the visible reflectance spectra (0.4-0.8 μ m) and a progressive lowering of the albedo. Hence there is much speculation that red outer solar system materials result from these processes^[204], and that bright, neutral-blue surfaces correspond to newly exposed icy surfaces. The technology has just become advanced enough to begin to study a statistically meaningful sample of comets and Centaurs to look for the water-ice signature, and the chemical composition of the surface, including organic materials.

Proposed Observations

We aim to capitalize on University of Hawaii access to Mauna Kea to undertake a systematic investigation of the abundances and abundance differences in the ice-bearing bodies of the solar

system. Such a study is timely because (*i*) new surveys have revealed a large number of observable but currently unobserved target Centaurs and Kuiper belt Objects and (*ii*) new telescopes and new detector technologies allow high quality observations that were previously impossible to secure. As a counterpart to the acquisition of astronomical spectra, we will obtain laboratory reflection spectra of relevant ice-dirt mixtures, all subject to appropriate degrees of irradiation damage by high energy particle sources. See $\S2.3.4$ for details.

2.1.3 Role of Water in the Formation of Biologically Important Molecules in Space

Objective – To use ultra-high vacuum scattering lab experiments to investigate the charged particle versus photon induced formation of interstellar $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers in astrophysically important, water-rich ice mixtures.

Connections – §2.1.1 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goals 3, 4; Objective 3.1, 4.3 Researchers – Kaiser, Ehrenfreund, Bar-Nun, Owen

Background – Cutting-edge laboratory experiments present a unique opportunity to address for the very first time the important questions of how the basic life ingredients can be formed abiotically in extraterrestrial environments such as molecular clouds and the crucial role that water has played in their formation. Water ice presents the main constituent not only of interstellar grain material, but also of cometary matter^[146]. Due to its high abundance, it plays a vital role in the underlying physicochemical processes which lead to the formation of astrobiologically significant molecules like carbon hydrates (sugars) in the interstellar medium and in our solar system.

Basic processes of ice formation and destruction in interstellar clouds

There are four basic processes which influence the ice chemistry in the ISM. Figure 2.1.3a shows a schematic overview of an icy grain and its catalytic surface. Accretion is a very efficient process in cold environments because most of the gaseous species (with the exception of H₂ and He) stick onto the grains with almost 100% efficiency. This accretion process occurs on a timescale of $\tau \sim 2 \times 10^9/n(H_2)$ yr, assuming a sticking efficiency of unity. The accretion process occurs to specific grain sites, known as binding sites. Water ice acts as a matrix which embeds complex organic molecules such as freshly synthesized sugars and amino acids. Due to this matrix isolation, ionizing radiation (nuclei, electrons, photons) from the galactic cosmic radiation field and the solar wind interact predominantly with the main constituent of these ices: water molecules. Therefore, water molecules protect astrobiologically significant molecules inside the icy grain material from being destroyed by ionizing radiation. Without this water ice, no organic molecule can survive neither on interstellar grains nor on comets.

Secondly, the actual formation of astrobiologically important molecules generates chemical energy, which is stored as vibrational energy in the newly formed molecules. This excess energy must be diverted from the molecules; otherwise organic molecules fragment and cannot be stabilized. The water matrix can divert this excess energy via phonon coupling. Without this energy transfer of water ice, the astrobiological evolution of extraterrestrial environments would stop right at the beginning. However, the actual effect of both processes and the role of water

on the formation of astrobiologically important molecules has never been investigated in laboratory experiments. Here, we unravel for the very first time how these astrobiologically relevant building blocks are actually formed in water rich ices (via ionizing radiation, charged particles, and photons). The formation of the sugar glycolaldehyde and its isomers acetic acid and methyl formate in water ice acts as a prototype example with fundamental astrobiological implications. The production routes are explored quantitatively as a function of temperature (10 K – 300 K) to simulate the chemical processing in cold clouds and hot molecular cores. We also account for the different chemical reactivities in various water ice phases (crystalline versus amorphous). By coupling these laboratory investigations and the production routes of glycolaldehyde, acetic acid, and methyl formate with sub-mm observations, we will then infer conditions in the cores and cold clouds where the chemistry in water-rich ices is occurring.

Untangling the synthetic routes to form basic sugars, which are the building blocks of RNA, in water rich extraterrestrial ices is particularly significant because they serve as an energy source to living organisms (glucose) and as a structural skeleton (cellulose)^[51]. Carbohydrates also play a role in vital amino acid producing chemical reactions. These species may have formed on early Earth via the polymerization of two formaldehyde (H₂CO) molecules. However, the validity of whether or not these conditions were likely on a primitive Earth has been seriously questioned, because under any conditions where monosaccharides will form, they would subsequently degrade or react on short time-scales.

Early in Earth's history, it experienced a period of heavy bombardment during which fragile carbon-based life could not have survived^[30]. Geological surveys have found 3.5Gy old cyanobacteria fossils and evidence of chemical processing dating to 3.8Gy. Thus, the evolution of pre-biotic molecules on Earth took less than 300 million years, suggesting that these biologically important molecules might have been already available. Astrobiologically important molecules such as glycolaldehyde, a monosaccharide sugar, could have been produced in extraterrestrial environments and then subsequently survived solar nebular processing or were introduced to the Earth during the period of heavy bombardment. Image: constraint of the constraint o

Fig 2.1.3a– A schematic view of an interstellar grain covered with polar (waterdominated) and/or apolar (highly volatile, H-deficient) ice layers. Four major processes act to form and equilibrate interstellar icy grain mantles. A more detailed explanation is given in the text.

An analysis of meteorites such as Murchison and Murray also indicates a large proportion of complex organic matter including amino acids, lipids and sugars to support this claim. In addition, several interesting organic molecules (such as methyl formate and acetic acid) have been tentatively identified in comets.

Hot molecular cores and star forming regions provide a rich laboratory for understanding complex molecular evolution. The transition from the cold molecular cloud to the hot core phase depends strongly on the molecular composition. A detailed understanding of the synthesis of three $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers [acetic acid (CH₃COOH), methyl formate (HCOOCH₃), and glycolalde-hyde (HCOCH₂H)] is of particular pertinence since they play a key role in astrobiology. Acetic acid, a precursor to the simplest amino acid glycine, was first detected in the hot core Sagittarius B2(N) (Sgr B2), and later also toward W51e2^[89]. The second isomer, methyl formate, is ubiquitous in the interstellar medium and has been observed not only in hot cores like Sgr B2 but also in molecular clouds such as OMC-1. The recent detection of glycolaldehyde in Sgr B2 is a significant astrobiological milestone since it represents the first member of monosaccharide sugars and denotes an important biomarker.

Despite the key role of these $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers in astrobiology, their formation is not understood. Chemical reaction network models of pure gas phase chemistry which focus on ion-molecule reactions with methanol and formaldehyde yield abundances 50-100 less than observed. Grain-surface reactions on sub-micrometer sized silicate- and carbonaceous-based nanoparticles at T ~ 10K in cold molecular clouds have been proposed as an alternative formation mechanism. The molecules can be liberated into the gas phase via sublimation in hot cores when the surrounded matter is heated above 100 K by the embedded protostar. Millar & Hatchell^[142] extended previous reaction networks to simulate these grain sublimation processes, however, the models could not adequately fit the observed abundances. This suggests that key production routes to form $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers involving interstellar grains are still missing.

Understanding Grain Chemistry

The crucial role of the grain mantles to produce molecular hydrogen (H₂) and simple hydrides such as water and methane has been recognized explicitly, but no consensus has been reached whether complex astrobiologically important molecules are actually formed on grain surfaces or inside icy grains^[120, 142]. In the cold molecular clouds, interstellar grains have temperatures of 10K. Thus, grain particles trap all molecules and atoms except H, H₂, and He with unit efficiency upon collision. This results in the formation of nm-thick icy layers which consist predominantly of water (H₂O), methanol (CH₃OH), carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO₂), and of minor components like ammonia (NH₃), formaldehyde (H₂CO), hydrogen cyanide (HCN), carbonyl sulfide (OCS), and methane (CH₄). These ice mantles are processed chemically by MeV cosmic-ray (CR) induced internal UV radiation which is present even in the deep interior of the dense clouds. Because current reaction models assume that this frozen grain mantle material is chemically inert, they have limited validity.

Despite the importance of high energy particle and photon induced chemical formation of molecules in extraterrestrial ices, these processes have never been comprehensively included into astrophysical reaction networks modeling the formation of $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers in cold clouds and hot cores. Studies (including the NASA decadal survey) investigating the effects of charged particle processing of interstellar ices to form heavy hydrocarbons in molecular clouds call for extensive laboratory investigations of the underlying elementary processes. The interstellar medium modeling communities are also calling for laboratory experiments. Novel laboratory experiments on the CR and UV triggered formation of $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers in extraterrestrial ices are clearly desired. Once the prebiotic synthetic routes to form these molecules have been exposed quantitatively in laboratory experiments, we can then predict where sugars and their isomers (or their precursors) can be formed, searched for, and ultimately be observed spectroscopically (via telescopes) or in

situ (via space missions).

Experimental Objectives

We will use ultra-high vacuum scattering lab experiments to investigate the charged particle versus photon induced formation of interstellar $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers in astrophysically important, water-rich ice mixtures. These experiments will generate quantitative data under controlled conditions and provide temperature, kinetic energy, and wavelength-dependent synthetic routes to form acetic acid, methyl formate, and glycolaldehyde in water-rich ices as present in cold molecular clouds, hot cores, and in cometary ices. This unique approach addresses for the first time specific mechanisms and generalized concepts on photon versus particle induced formation of complex molecules in astrophysical ices rather than attempting solely to reproduce infrared spectra of astronomical observations.

Production rates of $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers will be explored systematically as a function of ice temperature in molecular clouds and hot cores (10 to 100-300 K), ice composition, photon wavelength, nature of the charged particles (electrons, hydrogen, helium, oxygen, and carbon ions), and flux and kinetic energy of the irradiating particles. Since photons penetrate only the outer layers of the grain, whereas cosmic ray particles can penetrate deep inside, a depth-dependent molecular differentiation is expected. The laboratory experiments combined with kinetic models predict the existence of these isomers quantitatively in various extraterrestrial environments. Using JCMT, CSO, and SMA at Mauna Kea (§2.1.1), we can then attempt to observe these isomers in molecular clouds and star forming regions in the microwave region; the microwave transitions of all three isomers are well known. It will be possible to compare the T – dependent production rates and outputs of the kinetic models with results from astronomical observations.

These experiments may also be important for understanding the data from future space missions (*e.g.* Deep Impact Mission) and spectroscopic observations with telescopes (Stratospheric Observatory for Far Infrared Astronomy; Space Infrared Telescope Facility). This unique synergistic approach combines for the very first time sophisticated laboratory experiments, electronic structure theory, kinetic models, and actual astronomical observations to address generalized concepts in understanding the formation of astrobiologically important molecules in water rich ices in our solar system and in the interstellar medium.

Chemical Processing in the Clouds – Physical processes

An understanding of the chemical processing of ices by photons and charged particles, will enable us to predict the nature of the ice mixtures where $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers might be synthesized. Dictated by optical selection rules, a photon can be absorbed by a single molecule in the ice. This process can be followed by a selective bond rupture. If a hydrogen atom is released in the photodissociation process, it may have kinetic energies up to a few eV. The corresponding radical formed is internally excited and might react with a neighboring molecule. Since the internal energy can be coupled into the reaction coordinate, entrance barriers can be passed and endothermic reactions are feasible.

UV photons are absorbed within about 100Å of the surface, but CR particles (such as 10 MeV H^+) can penetrate deeper and deposit up to 1 MeV inside the icy mantle. This exceeds the chemical bond strength (1 eV) and the stability of the molecule. Upon absorption, a CR can interact

inelastically or elastically with either the electronic or nuclear part of molecules, respectively. Consequences of this interaction include the electronic excitation, ionization, and/or bond ruptures. The energetic species thus formed are not in thermal equilibrium with the surrounding 10K ice. Once particles are slowed down in successive collisions to kinetic energies of a few eV - energies in the order of chemical bond strengths – they can react with a molecule in the ice via one of three mechanisms to form new molecules: (*i*) hydrogen abstraction, (*ii*) insertion into a single bond, or (*iii*) addition to an unsaturated bond or to a non-bonding orbital.

The power of suprathermal reactants is based on the ability to impart their kinetic energy into the reaction coordinate. Reaction barriers can be overcome, and endothermic reactions are open resulting in rate constants up to 16 orders of magnitude larger than thermal reactions. Most importantly, calculations show that although the CR flux in dense molecular clouds is two orders of magnitude below the internal UV flux, each MeV particle generates about 100 suprathermal species in a 0.1 μ m thick icy layer. Hence the flux advantage of the UV field is eliminated by the ability of one CR particle to generate multiple suprathermal species.

2.1.4 Origin and Distribution of Planetary Water

Objective – Mineralogical, geochemical and isotopic studies of aqueously-altered meteorites will help to understand, firstly, the time and physico-chemical conditions of aqueous alteration in the asteroids, and secondly, how and when the water accreted into asteroids and planets from these diverse sources.

Connections – §2.1.1 2.1.2 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 3, 5; Objective 3.1 Researchers – Owen, Jewitt, Keil, Krot, Scott

Comets to Earth: Isotopes

The origin of the Earth's water is one of the key issues that we will address under this investigation. It is likely that the Earth formed too hot for much water to have been incorporated directly, or as chemically bound water in minerals, into the body of the planet. The presence of $\sim 10^{-6}$ M_{\oplus} of water on our planet instead indicates delivery from an external source or sources. The other terrestrial planets are likewise thought to have harbored substantial water inventories.

Mars might still do so in the form of permafrost ice. For a long time, the water-rich nuclei of comets have been suspected as major carriers of planetary water. Measurements of the D/H ratio in comets P/Halley, C/Hyakutake and C/Hale-Bopp have indicated a problem with the simplest version of this idea, however. The D/H ratio in these comets averages $D/H = 3 \times 10^{-4}$, which is twice the value for Standard Mean Ocean Water, $D/H_{SMOW} = 1.6 \times 10^{-4}$. The three measured comets are from dynamical classes thought to derive from the Oort Cloud, and to have originated in the middle solar system. The comets in the Kuiper Belt, (so-called short-period, Jupiter-family comets), remain unmeasured. The figure at the right shows the D/H ratios of Hale-Bopp, P/Halley and Hyakutake as a function of the (current) inverse semimajor axis, *a*.

Accordingly, the strongest conclusion that can be drawn from the available data is that the Earth's water does not consist only of melted comets from the middle solar system. There could be other contributions from cometary sources with D/H ratios quite different from the 3 measured

so far. It has been specifically suggested that the measured comets are not representative of the

isotopic compositions to be found in the outer solar system. It has also been suggested that Earth's water could have come from the outer asteroid-belt. Measurements of planetary noble gas abundances cannot be easily reconciled with "hot" sources from the outer belt, and a cometary carrier still seems likely. However, we lack the data to definitively understand the origin of the Earth's water.

Comets to Earth: Isotopes

There is a long tradition of assuming the Earth is made of matter that is identical to or at least closely resembles the chondritic meteorites. Starting from the observation that the value of Kr/Xe in the Earth's atmosphere is 20 times greater than the value in the meteorites, and that





Fig 2.1.4a– D/H ratio of Hale-Bopp (HB), Halley, and Hyakutake (Hyak) versus semi-major axis. The wavy line shows the SMOW value, and the dashed-dotted line, the in situ value for Halley. Depicted are 1σ standard deviations. Figure from [139].

Fig 2.1.4b–Mauna Kea spectrum of Hale-Bopp showing the HDO 101-000 line together with two methanol transitions. The CH₃OH 112-111 A transition originates in the lower sideband (LSB) (top frequency scale); all other lines belong to the upper sideband (USB). The double-peak structure of the lines is caused by the velocity distribution in the comet^[139].

the Xe isotope abundances in our atmosphere are also fundamentally different from those in meteoritic xenon, the term "planetary component" for noble gases in meteorites is a misnomer. If meteorites – and by extension asteroids – did not deliver the noble gases, they cannot have brought in the water, nitrogen and carbon either. If they had, we would have a very different situation for xenon in our atmosphere. Fractionation does not help.

This leads to the suggestion that comets may have played some role. Amorphous ice could trap noble gases in the proportion that we find them on Earth, but the isotopic pattern in atmospheric xenon cannot be duplicated. Furthermore, we now know that the water in Oort cloud comets has twice the value of D/H that we find in seawater on Earth. Hence we cannot make the

oceans out of melted Oort cloud comets alone.

Suppose comets indeed are a minor carrier of water to Earth, even though they may have brought the noble gases. Then what brought in the water? Presumably it was the rocks that formed the planet, which may have been significantly different in composition from the chondritic meteorites. Mars is an important test bed for this idea, because there is very little mixing between the surface and the interior, and the atmosphere is very thin. Hence external contributions of volatiles will be likely to stay on or near the surface, while internal volatiles should retain their original properties.

Records of Aqueous Activity on Meteorite Parent Bodies



Fig 2.1.4c–Backscattered electron images of the Tagish Lake carbonaceous chondrite (a) and QUE94411 carbonaceous chndrite. Both contained secondary minerals produced during aqueous alteration, including carbonates (crb), magnetite (mgt), FeNi-sulfides (sf), and phyllosilicates (phyl). Chondritic meteorites (chondrites) are fragments of mineralogically and chemically diverse asteroids that formed at 2-3 AU from the Sun prior to accretion of the planets in the inner solar system (Mercury, Venus, Earth, Mars). They are considered to be analogs for the building blocks for these planets. Asteroids, like planets, formed by aggregation of solids and gas from the protosolar disk. Remote sensing of asteroids and laboratory studies of chondrites show that asteroids at 2 AU largely consist of anhydrous silicates, metal and sulfides, whereas at distances \sim 3 AU most asteroids are largely composed of hydrated silicates like clay minerals, organic materials, carbonates, sulfates, magnetite, and other iron oxides (Figs. 2.1.4c, 2.1.4d). Experimental studies and studies of meteorites suggest that the hydrated minerals, carbonates, sulfates, magnetite, etc. were not produced in the protosolar disk, but resulted from aqueous activity on asteroidal bodies. The water on asteroids is thought to have multiple sources, including interstellar ice, hydrous silicates from asteroidal and cometary fragments that formed further away from the Sun, and minor amounts of ice condensing in the solar nebula (Fig. 2.1.4e). Mineralogical, geochemical and isotopic studies of aqueously-altered meteorites will help to understand, firstly, the time and physico-chemical conditions of aqueous alteration in the asteroids, and secondly, how and when the water accreted into asteroids and planets from these diverse sources. In order to address these questions, we propose to study secondary mineralization (e.g., phyllosilicates, magnetite, halite, carbonates, nepheline, sodalite, fayalite, andradite) that resulted from asteroidal aqueous alteration of various chondritic meteorites (H, L, LL, CI, CM, CO, CR, CH, CV).

We will conduct this work through detailed mineralogic, petrologic and isotopic studies using optical, scanning and transmission electron microscopy (SEM, TEM), electron probe microanalysis (EPMA), ion probe microanalysis (SIMS), Raman and IR-spectroscopy, thermal ionization and inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (TIMS, ICP-MS).

We will carefully characterize secondary mineralization in chondritic meteorites using optical microscopy, SEM, EPMA, and TEM. Using X-ray elemental mapping and backscattered electron imaging (Figs. 2.1.4c, 2.1.4d), we will identify phyllosilicates, magnetite, halite, carbonates, nepheline, sodalite, fayalite, andradite, and search for fluid inclusions in carbonates and salts. Chemical composition of the identified phases will be measured using EPMA. Based on the occurrences of the secondary phases, their chemical compositions and textural relationships with primary minerals of high-temperature chondritic components (e.g., chondrules and Ca, Al-rich inclusions), we will infer setting (nebular or asteroidal) and chemical changes resulting from aqueous alteration.

Physico-chemical conditions of aqueous alteration will be estimated using thermodynamic modeling^[113]. The identified fluid inclusions will be studied using Raman and IR spectroscopy, and SIMS to define composition (pH, D/H, oxygen isotopes) and redox conditions (Eh) of a fluid phase phase^[227]. In order to understand sources of water in aqueously-altered asteroids, we will study hydrogen isotopic compositions of their phyllosilicates^[?]. As a result of this complex mineralogical, petrological and isotopic studies of aqueously altered chondritic meteorites, we will be able to infer environment, temperature, pressure, water/rock ratio, and other physicochemical conditions (Eh, pH, fluid composition) of aqueous alteration. Our recent results show that aqueous activities on the chondrite asteroids started within 1-2 Myr after formation of Ca, Al-rich inclusions (\sim 4567±.6 Myr^[5]) and lasted for at least $\sim 15 \text{ Myr}^{[207, 55, 93, 94, 95, 87, 113, 115, 90, 20, 21, 175]}$.



Fig 2.1.4d–Combined X-ray elemental map in Mg (red), Ca (green) and Al K α (blue) of the Tagish Lake carbonaccous chondrite, which experienced extensive aqueous alteration that resulted in formation of abundant carbonates (crb), magnetite and phyllosilicates. These secondary phases replace chondrules (chd), Ca, Al-rich inclusions (CAls) and matrix (mx) materials.



Fig 2.1.4e–Distribution of the hydrogen isotopic composition in solar system bodies.

Physico-chemical conditions of aqueous alteration will be estimated using thermodynamic

modeling^[113]. In order to constrain timing of aqueous alteration of H, L, LL, CI, CM, CO, CP, CH, and CV chondrites, we will date some of the secondary minerals (carbonates, fayalite, magnetite, phyllosilicates) using SIMS and TIMS based on short-lived radionuclide systems such as ²⁶Al-²⁶Mg (t_{1/2} ~ 0.7 Myr), ⁵³Mn-⁵³Cr (t_{1/2} ~ 3.7 Myr), and ¹²⁹I-¹²⁹Xe (t_{1/2} ~ 16 Myr).

Dating of carbonate and fayalite formation will be done *in situ* using SIMS^[95]. Dating of magnetite and phyllosilicates formation will be done using TIMS on mineral separates^[175]. If we find that aqueous alteration of chondritic meteorites occurred within the first few Myr of the solar system, it would indicate that accretion of the planets in the inner solar system (Mercury, Venus, Earth, Mars) must have involved aqueously altered asteroidal bodies. This would provide important information on the sources of water in the inner solar system planets.

2.1.5 Water and Aqueous Alteration on Mars

Objective – Develop predictive models for the transport and state of water in the Martian crust, its alteration of crustal rocks, and the production and deposition of sediments.

Connections – §2.1.6, 2.1.7 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 2; Objective 2.1 Researchers – Taylor, Gaidos

Aqueous Processes on Mars

The Martian crust was constructed by igneous processes and subsequently modified by aqueous and aeolian processes. The products of this geologic activity contains the record of the early differentiation of Mars, the evolution of magma composition and production rates, the nature of interactions among the atmosphere, hydrosphere, and lithosphere, and, perhaps, a history of (microbial) life. The Martian crust preserves extremely ancient material but it also records very recent events. Combining data returned from spacecraft instruments with geochemical models it is possible, in principle, to reconstruct the history and importance of these processes, particularly those involving water, over 4.5 billion years of Mars history.

We propose to continue an extensive project (funded largely by other sources) that combines theoretical calculations and published data on terrestrial analogs to develop predictive models for the transport and state of water in the Martian crust, its alteration of crustal rocks, and the production and deposition of sediments. We will make predictions that can be tested by data from past, present, and future orbital and landed missions. Specifically, we intend to make detailed predictions about what assemblages of minerals will be diagnostic of a given aqueous process. This will be coupled with predictions of the effect of these processes on the chemical composition of the surface (including trace element concentrations). A good example of this approach is predictions based on terrestrial analogs of how the large hematite deposits on Mars form^[28, 97]. The hematite problem can be tackled by modeling as well, including modeling reaction rates to determine the likelihood of hematite formation by aqueous reactions. For geochemical modeling we will use Geochemist's Workbench^[14], which allows thermodynamic based geochemical reaction modeling. Finally, we will use these models to study possible aqueous activity on present-day Mars, its chemical signature, and its potential for hosting extant life. This research will have three foci, as described briefly below.

Products of Past Hydrothermal Alteration

Hydrothermal processes might have pervasively altered the ancient highlands of Mars^[165, 166]. The Noachian was marked by active hydrologic systems, vigorous magmatism that would have provided heat to drive hydrothermal systems, and a high impact rate that would also have provided heat for hydrothermal processes. Later magmatism and impacts would also have produced localized hydrothermal systems. These products might have ended up deep in the crust, as sedimentary rocks, or in a global soil/dust layer.

- Products produced by hydrothermal activity Hydrothermal systems produce some specific types of minerals, depending on physical-chemical conditions and the composition of the starting rock. This is testable by geochemical modeling. The suspected igneous rocks will serve as input into assessing the likely products that would be produced by hydrothermal processes.
- Changes in the nature of hydrothermal systems with time Because of changing atmospheric composition and pressure and possibly less water being available through time, the nature of hydrothermal alteration might change dramatically. This can be assessed by modeling rock alteration under varying CO₂ pressure and water/rock ratio.
- Mars volatile inventory trapped in hydrothermal deposits. Griffith & Shock^[75, 76] have drawn attention to the possibility that much of the H₂O and CO₂ on Mars might be sequestered in the crust. The mineral assemblages produced depend in part on the activities of these volatiles during alteration. More extensive modeling is called for to map out the compositional space of starting rocks and the conditions under which the hydrothermal alteration took place.
- Hydrothermal deposits effects on compositions / oxidation states of magmas Hydrothermal mineral assemblages are likely to be assimilated readily by ascending magmas. This process has been proposed for chemical and isotopic properties of Martian meteorites^[213, 137, 81]. This would alter magma compositions, water contents, and possibly oxidation state. This process can be modeled by assimilating the alteration products suspected to be made in hydrothermal systems on Mars. This also illustrates that igneous and alteration processes are intimately related.

Ancient Weathering and Sedimentation

There is clearly a gradation from low-temperature alteration at the surface to hydrothermal alteration. We separate them here largely for convenience and include all low-temperature, waterdriven processes operating within a few tens of meters of the surface. Weathering is the process in which rocks react with water and atmosphere to form new minerals. The new minerals may be eroded, transported, and deposited as part of sedimentary deposits.

• Assessing the weathering products of the major igneous rocks on Mars – The starting rock composition greatly affects what weathering products are made, so we also will work extensively on determining the full range of possible compositions of igneous rocks on Mars

to guide the choice of starting rock compositions^[74]. This is an important question because many remote-sensing instruments will analyze weathered rock. We might be able to determine the nature of the unweathered rock from characteristic weathering products. Terrestrial analog studies will be very useful in this aspect of our study^[163], as will be considerations of production of alteration products in the Martian regolith^[74, 136, 216]

- <u>The weathering products of hydrothermal deposits</u> Hydrothermal deposits can be weathered when exposed to the Martian atmosphere and surface or near-surface water. If hydrothermal deposits are as widespread as suspected, then their weathering products will be, too. Thus, it will be useful to determine the nature of the mineral assemblages for a suite of hydrothermal deposits produced under different conditions.
- <u>Martian sedimentary mineral production</u> When sediments were deposited on Mars, they would have reacted with water for however long it was still present. Diagenetic processes would have operated to produce lithified sedimentary rocks. These processes will likely be the most difficult to model, but it is important to do so because sedimentary rocks will be prime targets for exploration. Water-rock reaction rates are slow and the loss of water was probably relatively rapid, so evaporation might be the major process that produces cementing minerals in the sedimentary environment^[134].
- Fractionation during sedimentary transport An intriguing and important possibility is that heavy minerals might be deposited before less dense minerals, forming distinct patterns in sedimentary basins. This can be examined by knowing the mineral assemblages present after weathering or partial weathering and applying depositional models to them to see the extent to which fractionation is possible. Fractionation by sedimentary transport has been proposed to explain aspects of the Martian soil^[133].
- The effect microorganisms might have had on sedimentary mineral assemblages In principle, a vigorous microbial population could influence what minerals are produced during alteration. In many ways organisms act as catalysts for reactions, but unique, nonequilibrium phases are also produced. This work is speculative but still worth doing, especially if it helps set limits on the role of organisms in producing the observed characteristics of the Martian soil. Geochemists Workbench allows a certain limited amount of modeling, but most of this effort will concentrate on the extensive literature of terrestrial soils.

Water, Aqueous Chemistry, and Habitats on Present-Day Mars

The detection of copious ground ice^[57] and recently carved gully-like landforms^[126] raises the possibility that liquid water is appearing close to or at the surface of present-day Mars. Continued aqueous activity on Mars has implications both for the geochemical evolution of the surface as well as the potential for discovering life^[71]. Detailed and integrated modeling of liquid water formation, transport, and aqueous geochemistry is needed to understand these phenomena:

• Expulsion of groundwater by permafrost processes – Groundwater may be expelled from deep, freezing aquifers and rapidly erupted to the surface of Mars^[69]. A mechanical and geochemical model of groundwater expulsion^[69, 71] will be improved and applied to realistic Martian geologies.

- Melting of ground ice and ice fields on present-day Mars Melting ground ice or ice fields during periods of high obliquity is currently a favored mechanism for the formation of the gullies seen on the walls of many canyons and craters^[36]. However, the frost point of the Martian atmosphere (the temperature above which ice is unstable) has probably never reached the melting point of water, and melting must compete with surface sublimation and refreezing at depth to produce significant liquid water. We will further develop the model of Clow^[34] to examine these issues.
- <u>Martian hydrothermal systems at low ambient pressure</u> The presence of ground ice and evidence for recent geologic activity (*i.e.*, young crystallization ages for some Martian meteorites) suggests that hydrothermal systems may still be active on present Mars. However, the atmospheric pressure on Mars is near the triple point of water and liquid water boils at a very low temperature (or is unstable entirely): Water driven to the surface at sites of hydrothermal circulation is most likely to boil below ground and reach the surface as steam. Nevertheless, such fumarolic systems will produce geochemical signatures and be important targets of exobiological exploration: We will model a hydrothermal/fumarole system in a Martian regolith to determine its likely physical and chemical characteristics.

2.1.6 Water-Rock Chemistry and Habitats for Life

Objectives - (i) to understand the role of microbially mediated reactions in diverse seafloor environments that may exist on other planets, including hot springs along the mid-ocean ridge axis, warm springs on ridge flanks, and ultramafic-hosted springs in subduction zones, and (*ii*) to assess the interplay between these reactions and the transfer of water between mantle, crust, oceans.

Connections – §2.1.5, 2.1.7, 2.1.8 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goals 4, 5; Objectives 4.2, 5.1 Researchers – Cowen, Mottl, Gaidos

Background – Chemical reactions between water and silicate minerals, particularly at high temperature, produces fluids that are in thermodynamic disequilibrium which, if quenched at low temperature, provide a source of free energy for life. Microbial life also accelerates mineral dissolution reactions whose effect is to release important nutrients such as phosphorus. Also, rock-water interfaces provide surfaces that can be colonized by structured communities of microorganisms. Water-rock chemistry, some of it catalyzed by microorganisms, is involved in much of the geochemistry of the Earth's crust and oceans. It also plays an important role in the formation of hydrous minerals and the planetary water cycle. On the early Earth before the appearance of substantial continental crust, the chemical reaction of water with basaltic rocks was the dominant geochemical process, and it is still important in much of the seafloor of the present-day Earth. Such submarine settings, shielded from high levels of solar radiation and the thermal insults of impacts, were likely to have been important for early life. They may also be critical to the sustenance of subsurface ecosystems, if they exist, on Mars or Europa. The role of microorganisms in subaerial weathering reactions and the production of hydrous minerals ^[162] and their ability to exploit the chemistry of high-temperature water-rock reactions have been clearly established. However, the role of biology in the geochemistry of seafloor alteration is only beginning to be explored. Most alteration of seafloor crust takes place within the first few $\times 10^{6}$ yr ^[185].

The microbiota place a significant role in geochemical transformations within the oceanic crust both at mid-ocean ridges^[206] and in cooler, off-axis crust^[37]. Known biology (T < 115°) could persist as deep as 4 km in off-axis oceanic crust. We propose to investigate several environments dominated by water-basaltic rock chemistry, including some that are particularly accessible from Hawaii.

Hot springs along the mid-ocean ridge axis

Basaltic magma crystallizes along the mid-ocean ridge axis to form the oceanic crust. This magma also supplies heat to drive hydrothermal circulation of seawater through the crust, producing spectacular "black-smoker" springs at temperatures up to about 400°C. UH scientists who are Co-Is for this proposal have active field programs at several such sites on the seafloor, including the Endeavour main vent field on the Juan de Fuca Ridge and the Lau Basin behind the Tonga volcanic arc. The former is a typical basalt-hosted system with some evidence for sediment input, whereas the latter has systems in rocks ranging from basalt to rhyolite. The range in rock type has a large effect on the chemistry of the springs, particularly their metal and volatile content, which are doubtless important for the microbial communities in the different settings. These field programs will provide a range of opportunities for post-doctoral researchers within the proposed NAI.

One particularly unique opportunity to study the adaptation of microbial life to extreme hydrothermal environments and to freshly emplaced but rapidly evolving basalts is offered by a program headed by UH to detect and respond to mid-ocean ridge eruptive events. Ridge axis diking and eruptive events are episodic perturbations that trigger a sequence of interrelated and rapidly evolving physical, chemical, and biological processes associated with the formation of ocean crust. Dikes and lava flows develop rapidly and instantly alter the local hydrothermal flow regime. Volcanic activity produces hydrothermal discharge with a distinct geochemical signature and triggers specific geochemical and microbial responses in the adjacent crust and overlying water-column. Significant change in a variety of processes can be expected to take place over limited time spans. In effect, diking-eruptive events offer short-term natural "experiments" unachievable in the laboratory. Observing and quantifying co-variation among related processes provides opportunistic time-zero points for observations of water-basalt reactions and the development and role of microbial communities in low water/rock environments.

Diking and eruptive events dramatically alter the intensity of hydrothermal discharge from the seafloor, epitomized by the generation of so-called event plumes (Fig. 2.1.6a)^[9], which involve the near instantaneous release of enormous volumes of hydrothermal fluids. Event plumes appear to form only during the short-lived period of intense seismic activity and the event-associated chronic discharge can attenuate quickly. Furthermore, the chemical and biological characteristics within hydrothermal plumes change rapidly, with the steepest rate of change occurring over seconds to days following their discharge and subsequent mixing in the deep sea. Because of these rapid changes, early on-site investigation of event plumes and associated chronic venting is essential to derive the wealth of information that they can provide, including:

• Chemical, biological, and physical constraints on subseafloor chemistry, biology and hydrology; in effect opening a window to the subsurface. It is important to take advantage of this information before aging processes degrade the initial signals.

- A unique opportunity to study and isolate subseafloor extremophiles, perhaps discharged from otherwise inaccessible regions of the crust.
- Knowledge of the heat and chemical fluxes also provide insight into the potential production and physiological diversity of subseafloor microbial communities.

Diking-eruptive events provide unique opportunities to detect and characterize subseafloor microbial communities that are ejected from the ocean crust^[88]. Models of the response of hydrothermal systems to a magmatic event indi-



Fig 2.1.6a–Active mid-ocean ridge showing formation of event plume at location of magma dike extrusion. Continuous "chronic" style venting also indicated ^[37].

cate that the flux of heat and volatiles increases enormously at the time of an intrusion and then decays slowly with time. In addition, the output of subsurface bacterial biomass undoubtedly also changes. Presumably, the hydrological (*e.g.*, hydrothermal circulation) changes induced in the oceanic crust by diking-eruptive events tap pre-existing microbial crustal habitats as well as create new ones. Massive bacterial output from the associated fissures and vents created during diking/eruptive activity has accompanied the early stages of all three eruptive events studied to date^[80, 88, 205]. The so-called snow blower vents associated with some of the events which discharged copious amounts of microbially-derived sulfur-based particulate matter were particularly dramatic demonstrations of potential subsurface microbial activity and biomass. Both familiar and new species and genera of hyperthermophilic anaerobic Archaea were also detected and iso-lated at each event studied.

Volatile output has been very high in the early phases of most diking events observed. Ratios of He, H_2S , H_2 and CO_2 to heat were all relatively high in the venting fluids during the early period of an event, recovering to lower, more steady-state levels over weeks to several years. The subsurface microorganisms are subjected to these changing, intense chemical and thermal conditions. The most intensely affected parts of the hydrothermal system are probably sterilized and would subsequently have to be recolonized. These processes are likely analogous on a small scale to sterilizing events during early Solar System bombardment of the terrestrial planets.

The unpredictability of these research opportunities accentuates the value of a sensitive and reliable event detection tool. Directed rapid response to volcanic events depends on remote real-time detection of seismic events. In 1993, the T-phase Monitoring System was developed by NOAA-PMEL to access the U.S. Navy's Sound Surveillance System (SOSUS) and allows real-time monitoring of acoustic T-waves generated by seafloor seismic activity^[61].

The T-phase Monitoring System depends on U.S. Navy hydrophone arrays located off the coast of Oregon, Washington, and British Columbia and covers the northeast Pacific ridge system from the southern limit of the Gorda Ridge (GR) to the northern limit of Explorer Ridge (Fig. 2.1.6b).

Since the real-time T-Phase Monitoring System was brought on-line in June, 1993, three major eruptive episodes have been documented on the northeast Pacific spreading centers (1993 CoAxial, 1996 North GR, and 1998 Axial Volcano). Another likely magmatic event, the 2001 Middle Valley event, apparently did not penetrate the thick sediment cap overlying that ridge valley. In total, at least 6 eruptive events have occurred along the Juan de Fuca/Gorda Ridges over 15 years, or 4 remotely detected events over 6 years. Given this recent record, there is a very high probability that at least one major eruptive event will be detected along the Juan de Fuca/Gorda Ridges during the lifetime of this proposed NASA program; UH is the lead institution on the response team which is funded by NSF to maintain readiness for rapid response to SOSUS detected events through 2007.



Fig 2.1.6b–Map of Juan de Fuca and Gorda Ridges (and Explorer Ridge to north). SOSUS system covers the entire MOR shown.

The close involvement and leadership of the University of Hawaii in this Event Response program will insure excellent opportunities for participation by Institute postdoctoral associates who are interested in pursing research into the identification/isolation/functionality of mesophiles, thermophiles, hyperthermophiles, halophiles and other "extremophilic" microorganisms, as well as into water(fresh) basalt interactions. Rapid and follow-up field response efforts (including submersible) will provide abundant water, fluid, and rock sampling opportunities over and at the new eruption sites.

Warm springs along mid-ocean ridge flanks

The possibility of a significant biosphere extending throughout the immense volume of aging crusts under the global system of mid- ocean ridge flanks and ocean basins is controversial. Since most ridge flank and ocean basin crust is buried under a thick, impermeable layer of sediment, the fluids circulating within the underlying oceanic crust are usually inaccessible for direct studies.

However, CORK (Circulation Obviation Retrofit Kit) observatories^[45] (Fig. 2.1.6c) affixed to over-pressured Ocean Drilling Program (ODP) boreholes^[46] on the flanks of the Juan de Fuca Ridge, offer unprecedented new opportunities to study biogeochemical properties and microbial diversity in circulating crustal fluids with very low water/rock ratios over a range of temperatures (\sim 1.5 to > 100°C). Basement waters collected from one such hole (ODP Hole 1026B) are chemically similar to fluid venting from nearby rocky outcrops^[153, 219, 220]; the chemical characteristics and temperature (65°C) of the fluids escaping from Hole 1026B are conducive to microbial growth, supporting a diverse community of bacteria and Archaea^[37].
Small subunit rRNA genes cloned from microorganisms collected on BioColumn filters (Fig. 2.1.6c) revealed a diverse assemblage of phylogenetic groups (including both Archaea and Bacteria) that are often most closely affiliated with cultured thermophiles, many that are known for their metabolic capacity to reduce sulfate or nitrate^[37]. Though speculative, the data suggest that microbial processes with these electron acceptors (nitrate and sulfate) may play an important role in this region of the oceanic crust. However, stoichiometric inconsistencies in the crustal fluid chemistry remain unexplained. Critical questions remain regarding the age and flow rate of the crustal fluid^[59], and the potential presence of novel metabolic pathways that may sustain microbial life in low water/rock, slow recharge environments.



Fig 2.1.6c– Circulation Obviation Retrofit Kit (CORK) structure on top of ODP borehole 1026B. Cylinder and box to right are sampling device "plumbed" into the fluid access port of the CORK.

To what extent does H_2 production as well as organic compound synthesis via abiotic reactions between seawater and basalt^[198] fuel this deep subsurface biosphere? The opportunities are great for Institute postdoctoral researchers to uncover new insights into "low water/rock" microbial communities and to discover new organisms and novel metabolic pathways.

Ultramafic-hosted springs in subduction zones

Ultramafic rocks make up the mantle of most rocky bodies in the Solar System. When ultramafic rocks come in contact with liquid water they are altered to serpentinite over a wide range of temperatures, from freezing to about 500°C. On Earth, new crust is primarily mafic basalts, however plate tectonics still provides opportunities for the reaction of water with ultramafic rocks: 1) along the mid-ocean ridge axis, especially where the basaltic crust is thin such as at fracture zones in slow-spread crust; 2) in subduction zones, where dehydration reactions in the subducting slab release water that ascends into and serpentinizes the mantle wedge of the overriding plate; 3) most controversially, in the outer rise just seaward of the trench, where the plate flexes upward as it begins to bend before plunging into the mantle^[173]. On planets around other stars with somewhat different compositions or where mantle melting is less efficient, considerable more ultramafic rock may come in contact with water.

Recent work in the Mariana forearc by a Co-I^[154], including manned submersible dives and deep drilling by the Ocean Drilling Program, indicates that slab dehydration and the resulting serpentinization produce unusual habitats for extremophilic microbes, including both Bacteria and Archaea, that may be a model for some extraterrestrial environments. The Mariana subduction complex is formed between the northwestward subducting Pacific plate and the overriding Philippine plate. Volatiles released from the downgoing Pacific plate hydrate the overlying mantle wedge of the Philippine plate and convert depleted harzburgite to low-density serpentinite. The resulting serpentinite mud, containing variably serpentinized harzburgite clasts, ascends buoyantly

along fractures and extrudes at the seafloor, where it forms large (30 km diameter, 2 km high) mud volcanoes along the outer Mariana forearc, in a band that extends from 50 to 120 km behind the trench $axis^{[63]}$. These mud volcanoes are built from flows of poorly consolidated sedimentary serpentinite fed through a central conduit. Cold ($\sim 2^{\circ}$ C) spring waters fresher than seawater have been sampled on several of these mud volcanoes.



Fig 2.1.6d–Composition of pore water squeezed from serpentinite mud at ODP Site 1200, summit of South Chamorro Seamount, an active serpentinite mud volcano in the Mariana forearc at $13^{\circ}47.0$ N, $146^{\circ}0.2E^{[154]}$. Holes A and E were drilled at a cold (2°C) spring and Holes F and D are 20 m and 80 m to the north, respectively. Sulfate reduction at 1 to 3 and 13 mbsf, mainly by Archaea as indicated by the concentration of phospholipid-derived diphytanyl diethers (DE), produces alkalinity, bisulfide, and ammonia, all at pH 12.5. The carbon source is methane, which is present at 2 mmol/kg in the fluid ascending from the top of the downgoing plate, which is about 27 km below the seafloor at this site.

The chemistry of these springs is highly unusual: they are among the least saline waters ever recovered from the deep sea and have the highest pH, 12.5, which results from ongoing serpentinization. Relative to seawater, these springs have higher to much higher sulfate, alkalinity, pH, Na/Cl, K, Rb, B, light hydrocarbons, ammonia, δ^{18} O, and δ D; and lower to much lower chloride, Mg, Ca, Sr, Li, Si, phosphate, and Sr isotopic ratio. Ba, Mn, Fe, and bisulfide are low^[152]. Within the upper 20 m below seafloor in the vicinity of these springs, a microbial community operating at pH 12.5, are made up overwhelmingly of Archaea, is oxidizing methane from the ascending fluid to carbonate ion and organic carbon, while reducing sulfate to bisulfide and probably dissolved nitrogen to ammonia (Fig. 2.1.6d). There is essentially no sedimentary organic carbon in this setting. The microbial community that feeds the macrobiota at the summit of S. Chamorro Seamount

is therefore not only extremophile, but subsists on a source of chemical energy delivered from as deep as 27 km below the seafloor. Additional cruises to the Mariana forearc during the period of this grant will permit Institute scientists, including post-doctoral researchers, to characterize these unusual microbial communities and to assess the likelihood that similar communities might have evolved in extraterrestrial habitats. We will culte these organisms in the laboratory at high pH in a serpentinite matrix.

Microbial "colonization" of lava-seawater-generated plumes

Direct entry of lava into the ocean on the shoreline of Kilauea Volcano, Hawaii, creates a surface hydrothermal plume enriched in dissolved F, Cl, Fe, Al, Ti, Mn, Si, V, certain rare earth elements, dissolved gases such as H_2 and even sulfate^[190, 191, 182, 183]. The plumes are acidic and contain high levels of suspended silicate glass particles produced by the explosive disintegration of lava as it is quenched from temperatures near 1400 K to that of boiling water. Surface waters are also influenced by input of aerosols generated in the resulting steam plume^[192]. These plumes are a unique biological habitat because of the high concentrations of biologically important elements, particularly P and Fe, which were measured at 2 and 5 orders of magnitude, respectively, above average seawater concentrations^[183], extremely high concentrations of potentially toxic metals (Al, Co, Cu, Pb, Cd, V), the high density of suspended glass particles available for colonization (up to 65 mg $L^{-1[191]}$), and they are within the photic zone (unlike deep-sea hydrothermal vents). Strong thermal and chemical gradients are produced by entrainment of ambient water into the plume^[191]. These could represent analogs to aquatic microbial "oases" on the early Proterozoic Earth when rising oxygen levels and the insolubility of iron in surface waters deprived photosynthetic organisms of critical nutrients^[111]. They also may be representative of processes occuring on a wider scale during the emplacement of large igneous provinces^[222] during the Phanerozoic.

Although large zooplankton blooms have been observed, the biology of these plumes has remained unexplored. We propose to survey the microbiology associated with the plume water column and that attached to the glass particulates, using the ambient seawater as the basis of comparison. We are especially interested in tracing the dynamics of both populations as the plume waters are a dynamic entity, being mixed out over a distance of about 1 km. We will carry out spectrophotometric analyses of the plume waters to identify potential photosynthetic pigments. Filtered particulates and water samples will be analyzed separately with microscopy, including low-vacuum scanning electron microscopy for the former. DNA will be extracted and amplified using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and analyzed both at the community level , *e.g.*, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), and at the individual sequence level. We predict that because of the high levels of H_2 and ferrous iron in the plume, gnallgas and iron-oxidizing bacteria will be well-represented in these communities.

2.1.7 Extreme Aquatic Environments on Earth and their Analogy to Potential Habitats in the Solar System

Objective –In this project we will focus on a comparative study of microbial biodiversity, biomass and metabolic activity in a variety of "extreme" aquatic habitats.

Connections – §2.1.5, 2.1.6

Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 5; Objective 5.3 Researchers – Gaidos, Karl, Thorsteinsson

Background – Life, especially microbial life, has successfully radiated into nearly all the aquatic habitat space on Earth. It is usually assumed that life as we know it absolutely requires liquid water and that the fundamental constraint for growth is the activity of water or the availability of free water. Besides water, life also requires a source of carbon and nutrients, and an environment that is conducive to the propagation of genetic information, *i.e.*, the error-free replication of DNA. Many aquatic environments on Earth are challenging or "extreme" from the point of view of these other requirements. By studying these we can better understand what may limit the origin and persistence of life in aquatic habitats elsewhere in the universe.

The scope of potential habitats is expanded further when one considers indications of possible aquatic environments elsewhere in the Solar System. There is significant geomorphological evidence for past (or even present) flowing water on Mars, and geophysical evidence for an interior ocean beneath the crust of Europa (and possibly Callisto). Ground ice is abundant on present-day Mars^[57] and the outflow channels and valley networks carved in ancient terrains show some of that water was liquid, at least transiently, in the past^[23]. Apparently much more recent gullies carved in the walls of canyons and craters raise the exciting possibility that surface or shallow groundwaters occur at the present epoch^{[126],[69],[36]}. The geomorphic evidence for a subsurface ocean on Europa^[170] has been strengthened by the detection of an eddy current-induced magnetic field around the satellite^[226].

However, these extraterrestrial aquatic environments may be far more extreme than most encountered on Earth: Liquid water is not, and may never have been stable on Mars, and any longlived bodies of water were probably covered with thick ice crusts that isolated the surface from sunlight and the atmosphere ^[71]. During episodes of high martian obliquity, summer surface temperatures on poleward facing slopes on Mars can exceed the melting point of water ice, but mean surface pressures and temperatures will limit the amount of liquid that can be generated. Martian meteorites with young crystallization ages^[135] and low crater counts on some martian terrains^[79] suggest that magma is still reaching relatively shallow depths on Mars. The near-ubiquitous presence of ground ice^[57] supports speculation that hydrothermal systems may still be active on present Mars and are potential targets for exobiological exploration. However, the atmospheric pressure on Mars is near the triple point of water and liquid water boils at a very low temperature (or is unstable entirely): Water driven to the surface at sites of high planetary heat flow is most likely to boil and reach the surface as a vapor. Europa's ocean is isolated from sunlight by an ice crust between 10 and 100 km thick and the amount of free energy for chemotrophic organisms will be meager ^[66, 31]. Tide-driven shear and viscous dissipation can warm the shallow crust of Europa and create liquid water within reach of sunlight^[67], but the melt fraction will be $low^{[168]}$ and any aquatic habitats will probably consist of brine channels within an ice matrix.

The limits to life with respect to temperature have been intensely explored since the pioneering work of Brock^[22]. Hyperthermophilic prokaryotic archaea with measurable growth rates at 115° C have been cultured from deep-sea hydrothermal systems and there has been tantalizing evidence of biological activity at still higher temperatures. Accelerated hydrolysis of tri-phosphates above 160° C may constitute an ultimate temperature limit to life based on known biochemistry. What are the limits to life with respect to the activity of water, *e.g.*, can life exist under conditions where the stable phase of water in the environment is vapor? Hyperthermophiles growing above

100° are found in environments where the pressure is well above ambient and the boiling point well above the maximum growth temperature. Certain microorganisms florish in superheated hot springs 1-2°C above the boiling point but their ability to survive in superheated steam conditions is unknown. Any life in these truly extreme conditions must adapt to the limited activity of water. These truly extreme conditions create life that must adapt. By studying analogs of such environments on Earth and their potential biota we obtain basic information on the strategies of, and limitations to, biochemical and physiological adaptation.

In this project we will focus on a comparative study of microbial biodiversity, biomass and metabolic activity in a variety of "extreme" aquatic habitats including: (1) the open sea near Hawaii, (2) Lake Kauhako, Molokai and (3) Lake Waiau, Hawaii, (4) subglacial habitats in Iceland and Antarctica, and (5) fumaroles in Hawaii and South America. Each study area has unique physical and chemical characteristics and each is expected to select for a different assemblage of microorganisms. By studying the similarities as well as the differences we hope to provide basic information on the strategies of biochemical and physiological adaptation and on gene evolution.

- Scientists in the UH-NAI program will have access to numerous open ocean habitats ranging from the nutrient stressed surface waters of Station ALOHA (22°45'N, 158°W) to the deep abyss. These study areas are visited approximately monthly as part of the ongoing Hawaii Ocean Timeseries (HOT) program that uses the university's research vessel as a floating laboratory. Samples collected at sea can either be processed on site or returned to the university for more extensive or sophisticated analyses.
- Lake Kauhako (Fig. 2.1.7a), Molokai is a deep (248 m) meromictic lake that occupies the crater of an extinct volcano (21°11.5'N, 158°58'W). This lake has the highest relative depth (ratio of depth to surface area) of any lake in the world. The upper 4.5m of the lake is well stratified but below 4.5m the lake is nearly uniform in temperature and salinity (26.25°C, 32 per mil). The lake is anoxic below about 2 m with very high concentrations of hydrogen sulfide appearing below about 6m^[48].



Fig 2.1.7a–Lake Kauhako on Molokai. Upper panel shows a vertical profile along A to B on the bottom map. The shaded portion in the top figure is the lake itself with depth interval in meters. Bottom panel: contour elevation map in meters.

In many respects this lake has conditions that are analogous to the permanently anoxic basin, the Black Sea^[158] and thus serves as a convenient and relatively accessible habitat for comparative studies of aquatic microbiology. Kauhako Crater was designated a "special Ecological Area" in 1994.

3. Lake Waiau, Hawaii, is located at an elevation of 3980 m near the summit of Mauna Kea (19°48′N, 155°29′W). The lake lies in a shallow crater and is approximately 90m in diameter and 3 m deep, although its dimensions vary with precipitation patterns. Weather at this site is extreme with especially high winds; the typically isothermal lake temperature ranges annually from 0-13°C, with wintertime ice cover. Lake Waiau ultraviolet radiation levels are about 30% higher than at sea level for comparable latitude and is thus of interest to studies of organismal adaptation to the high radiation environments of the early Earth and on other planets. Like Lake Kauhako, Lake Waiau is located in a restricted conservation area which minimizes human impact and interference. For the open Pacific Ocean, Lake Kauhaku, and Lake Waiau we will make comparative observations and measurements of key indices of microbial biomass (by total ATP, lipopolysaccharide, chlorophyll and epifluorescence microscopy^[106] and habitat chemical characteristics) temperature/salinity, dissolved oxygen and CO₂ gas concentrations, inorganic and organic nutrient concentrations, particulate matter carbon/nitrogen and phosphorus content^[105] at each site.

Metabolic activity will be assessed for the total microbial assemblage by measurement of respiration (in vitro oxygen consumption) as well as for specialized physiological functions such as nitrogen fixation (by the acetylene reduction method) and other selected enzyme activities (phosphatase, peptidase). We will also endeavor to isolate representative microorganisms from each site, with a focus on prokaryotes.

4. The existence of a large, deep freshwater lake beneath the ice of central East Antarctica was reported in 1996^[103]. The lake was named Lake Vostok because of its proximity to Vostok Station (near 77°S, 105°E). During the same year an inventory of 77 such Antarctic subglacial lakes was published^[196] proving them to be a relatively common occurrence. Lake Vostok is located beneath approximately 3800m of ice; below approximately 3500 m the ice appears to be refrozen from Lake Vostok, accreted to the bottom of the glacial ice column (*i.e.*, so-called accretion ice). Although microorganisms have been detected in the accreted ice portion of the 3623 m long Vostok ice core (drilling was terminated at a depth of approximately 120 m from the ice-lake water interface^[107, 179]) no samples have yet been recovered from any Antarctic subglacial lake.

Besides the liquid water in the lake itself, both the glacial ice column and the accreted ice may also provide unique habitats for the growth of microorganisms. For example, bacteria, yeasts, fungi and microalgae at depths ranging from 1500 to 2750 m have been found^[2] in Vostok glacial ice. Some of the microbes were claimed to be viable. Price (2000) has also reported viable cells to depths of 3600 m in the Vostok core. He hypothesized that the microorganisms inhabit a microenvironment consisting of interconnected liquid veins along three-grain boundaries in ice wherein psychrophilic, halophilic bacteria can move and obtain energy and carbon from ions and compounds in solution. We plan to test this hypothesis using ice column mesocosms in the laboratory. We will also test the hypothesis concerning the role of brine channels in sea ice as a unique habitat for microbial growth using a laboratory based mesocosm approach similar in design to the one recently described by Mock^[147].

5. Iceland is located on the Mid-Atlantic Ridge and at the Arctic Circle, and consequently hosts numerous active volcanoes and glaciers. We are investigating Icelandic subglacial

volcanism as unique terrestrial environments and analogs to potential habitats on Mars and the galilean satellites of Jupiter. Some martian landforms have already been identified as possibly of glaciovolcanic origin^[26]. Subglacial systems where volcanic heat drives hydrothermal circulation are more like to support a flourishing subsurface community because (1) liquid water is produced from the melting of the overlying ice by high geothermal heat; (2) free energy is provided by the reducing hydrothermal fluids produced by hightemperature water-rock chemistry mixing with oxidizing gases such as O₂ or CO₂ released by melting of ice; and (3) the extreme thermal gradients between the ice and hot rock or water will create a wide range of habitats. We expect that, because of differences in temperature, geology, and ice flow, subglacial hydrothermal environments will manifest significant physiochemical and biological diversity similar to that seen in the hot springs within the Yellowstone caldera.

Grimsvötn is one of two active volcanoes under the Vatnajökull ice sheet. Intense hydrothermal circulation within the 100 km^2 caldera drives an average heat flow of 50 W m⁻², far exceeding the 2 W m⁻² typical of the Yellowstone caldera and in vent fields on midocean ridges. Glacial melt in a 300 km² drainage basin feeds a geothermally sustained lake covering 20 km². Continuous geothermal activity and eruptions cause the lake to episodically – and catastrophically – drain, triggering jökulhlaups, the largest floods on present-day Earth. The lake was previously sampled for geochemical analyses in 1991^[3]. We carried out a preliminary biological investigation of the Grimsvötn subglacial caldera lake in June 2002 expedition^[70]. Self-sterilizing hot-water drilling was used to penetrate the 300 m ice shelf and sample the lake (Fig. 3.1.7b). We sampled the lake water, the tephra at the bottom of the lake, and the ice and snow over the lake. Chemical analyses included pH, alkalanity, and total dissolved solids. Cell counts were made on replicate samples. Lake water samples were incubated with ¹⁴C-labeled bicarbonate and acetylene to assay for carbon fixation and nitrogen fixation, respectively. DNA was extracted and amplified using universal bacterial primers and the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). An analysis of the whole community was done using the denaturing-gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) technique.

There were significant cell counts in both lake waters and especially high counts in the tephra sediments. We measured significant carbon uptake and nitrogen fixation by lake samples. The DGGE analysis showed that (at the molecular level) the lake community was distinct from the organisms trapped in the overlying snow and ice. We have preliminarily concluded that an endemic, autotrophic, and nitrogen-fixing community of microorganisms exists in the lake, the prod-



uct of the unique environment selecting on Fig 3.1.7b– Hot-water drilling apparatus in an assemblage of "innoculating" microbes operation on the lake ice shelf within the that are released into the lake from melting Grimsvötn volcanic caldera, Iceland.

The discovery of high cell counts in the lake tephra is consistent with findings in many settings that microorganisms preferentially colonize particle surfaces relative to the water column. At Grimsvötn and similar environments in Iceland, volcanic tephra and hyaloclastic breccia is emplaced as extremely hot (900-1400 K) and thus sterile debris during subglacial eruptions. This material is, of course, immediately quenched by melting and vaporization of the surrounding ice, but temperatures are likely to remain at the boiling point (230°C under 300 m of ice) and well above plausible limits for life for a brief period of time that depends on the water to rock ratio and the vigor of subsequent hydrothermal circulation. Eventual cooling will allow organisms released from the surrounding ice to colonize the mineral surfaces on the tephra. Our objective is to understand the mechanisms and sequence of events associated with the establishment and maintenance of a microbial community in an initially sterile, abiotic subglacial environment. The processes of colonization and succession on subaerial^[209] and submarine^[155] basaltic lavas, particularly involving plants and macrofauna has been extensively studied including on Hawaii. The subglacial process is arguably simpler and better defined because potential colonists must come from the overlying ice and can be surveyed, and plants and macrofauna are absent. The process may be crucial to the continuity of life on planets (such as Mars) with inhospitable surfaces. We are interested in addressing the following question: Is there a single colonization event or continued succession in the microbial community over time? In the absence of sunlight and phototrophy, is the colonization process related to the suite of chemotrophic metabolisms available to, and employed by, microorganisms? Is the process identical at every subglacial site or is it a function of local conditions? Is it deterministic or depends on some stochastic element? What are the important potential biomarkers of colonization that could be used to identify past biological activity at similar sites on other Solar System bodies?

Our plans for future field work include a return to Grimsvötn in the summer of 2004 for additional drilling and sampling close to the caldera rim where normal faulting associated with the collapse of the caldera is expected to permit more intense hydrothermal circulation. We will also investigate the Skáfta "cauldrons", two sites of subglacial geothermal heating whose surface expression are 2 km-wide depression in the Vatnajökull ice sheet. These occupy separate drainage basins adjacent to that of Grimsvötn. Additional cauldrons have been identified on the Mýrdalsjökull ice cap, which occupies the extremely active Katla caldera^[16]. Samples will be examined using both epifluorescence microscopy and environmental scanning electron microcopy. DNA will be extracted and amplified for both community-level analysis and the construction of clone libraries for sequencing. Fluorescent probes will be designed to target organisms with DNA sequences of interest and image them in the tephra particle environment. We will remove pristine samples of ice and fresh tephra for use in laboratory microcosm experiments: The tephra is reheated to temperatures sufficient to sterilize and volatilize any organic carbon and then added to the ice. Sampling of these incubations will allow time-dependent phenomenae to be observed.

6. On Earth, high-altitude fumaroles provide natural environments in which temperatures within the known range of biological tolerance exceed the boiling point. For example, water boils at 92°C in Yellowstone (2225 m elevation) and at the Geysers del Tatio in Chile (4321 m elevatio) the boiling point is 85°C. At Sol de Manana, Bolivia (up to 5000 m eleva-

tion) water boils at a "mere" 83°C, well within the range of non-photosynthetic life. Organisms surviving in such environments would have to evolve two adaptations; (1) preventing its cytoplasmic fluid from boiling, and (2) preventing dehydration due to the difference in the vapor pressure between liquid water inside and outside the organism. Microorganisms with cell walls maintain their volume by creating an internal (turgor) pressure. This is done by maintaining a difference in osmolality (equivalent solute concentration) between the internal cell and its environment. Gram-negative bacteria can maintain turgor pressures up to several bars. The corresponding boiling point elevation is approximately 60°C. Cellular cytoplasm is also a briny fluid and the presence of anti-boil compounds could elevate the boiling point. Finally, boiling requires the nucleation of bubbles. The scale of most bacteria is 1 μ m, raising the potential of suppression of boiling by suppression of nucleation. Dehydration could be prevented by suppressing the vapor pressure of the cytoplasm (by antiboil compounds), or by expending energy to actively pump water into the organism against the osmotic gradient. In fumarolic environments where steam temperatures are outside the tolerable range of life, microorganisms could adapt endolithic lifestyles and use the insulating properties of the fumarole rock walls to protect them from heat and retain water.

We have developed a program to search for biological activity, and organisms, in low-temperature fumaroles associated with the Kilauea Volcano in Hawaii (1200 m elevation). We will expand our program to identify high-altitude fumaroles in South America, including the Geysers del Tatio (4321 m) and Sol de Manana sites. Past and present fumarolic activity has been identified as high as 6000 m in the Andes, where the boiling point is about 80°C. Fumarole wall samples will be retrieved for optical and electron microscopy, isotopic analysis, DNA extraction for molecular identification of organisms. We will also carry out colonization experiments, leaving sterilized silicate surfaces in place for a period of 1-2 years (Fig. 3.1.7c).



Fig 3.1.7c– Colonization experiments tested in fumaroles at Kilauea Volcano, Hawaii. Basalt sample were thin-sliced, attached to glass slides using hightemperature epoxy, and roughly polished. This provides a natural substrate for potential organisms.

2.1.8 An Integrated Model of the Planetary Water Cycle

Objective – Develop and refine an integrated model of planetary water, including mantle degassing, crustal hydration, dewatering at subduction zones, and escape to space. Use this model to explore the sensitivity of planetary water evolution to planetary mass, composition, and initial inventory of water.

Connections: §2.1.4, §2.1.9

Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goals 3, 5; Objective 3.1 Researchers – Gaidos

Background – Earth's most visible inventories of water are its oceans, fresh-water bodies, and continental ice sheets, however an additional 40% is present as hydrous minerals in sediments and crustal rocks, and several oceans is contained in the hydrated mantle^[200]. Mantle convection and plate tectonics mediates the exchange of water between surface and interior reservoirs. Mantle water partitions into the silicate melts created by the divergence of lithospheric plates and is volcanically outgassed at mid-ocean ridges. Water enters crustal rocks and sediments as hydrated minerals during continental and seafloor weathering and hydrothermal alteration of the oceanic crust. Much of this water is re-released during high pressure metamorphism and arc volcanism at subduction zones, but some fraction is returned to the mantle. The difference in these fluxes controls the evolution of the surface and mantle inventories of water over Earth history.

Although the current escape rate of water to space (as H) by thermal and non-thermal mechanisms is $\sim 10^{-6}$ oceans per billion years^[225] and is negligible compared to the geological fluxes, more significant amounts of hydrogen (and equivalent water) may have been lost during the Archean (prior to 2.5 billion years ago) when molecular oxygen did not limit the mixing ratio of molecular hydrogen^[108] or biogenic methane^[84] in the trophosphere. Greater amounts may also have escaped to space via hydrodynamic space powered by giant impacts or higher solar ultraviolet radition early in Earth's history^[92]. Conversely it has been proposed that additional water was brought to Earth subsequent to accretion by carbonaceous chondritic or cometary bodies^[29]. These processes would obviously have effected the size of Earth's surface and interior inventories of water.

A minimum reservoir of surface water is probably required for planetary habitability, *e.g.*, to promote the precipitation of atmospheric CO₂ as carbonate minerals and its sequestration as crustal carbonate rocks so as to avoid a runaway greenhouse. In addition, surface water entering the crust can lubricate faults, weakening the brittle lithosphere and possibly enabling plate tectonics itself to function^[168, 151]. The abundance of water in the mantle influences its rheology and solidus and thus exerts a powerful control on mantle dynamics and degree of mantle melting^[82]. In turn, this affects the exchange of water between the surface and interior. Thus the partitioning of planetary water between mantle and surface reservoirs may be crucial to long-term habitability, especially if the initial surface inventory is removed early on and replenished by degassing of the mantle. In addition, hydrous melting is involved in the production of buoyant felsic crust that serves as the source material for continents. Continental growth is important factor in rates of weathering and atmospheric CO₂ levels, sequestration of organic carbon and stabilization of atmospheric O₂^[13]. High oxygen levels and stable continental platforms may be prerequisites for the appearance of complex terrestrial life, and, perhaps, intelligence.

The inventories and cycling of water in Earth-size planets around other stars may be quite different than our own. The initial abundance of water may depend sensitively on the redox chemistry of the planet-forming nebula and water content of the planetary source material^[68], the presence of giant planets which facilitate (or impede) transfer of water from the outer to the inner regions of a planetary system^[125], and variation in the efficiency of loss processes such as impacts^[141] or ultraviolet radiation-driven hydrodynamic escape^[217]. The fluxes of water between the surface and interior can differ because of differences in the composition and melting properties of the planet's mantle and the abundance of heat-generating long-lived radioactive isotopes.

We are developing a model of the dynamics of water in and on a solid planet. Our objective is to understand the implications of differences in planetary mass, composition, environment and initial inventory on the long-term evolution of planetary water. Such models will be useful in predicting the potential diversity of Earth-mass companions to stars that might be directly detected by future space-based observatories such as those envisioned by the Terrestrial Planet Finder project^[11]. We have developed an initial parametric model of an ideal, perfectly uniform mantle. Similar parameterized convection models include those of^[131, 208, 18]. The thermal evolution of the mantle is set by the balance between the heat generated by the decay of long-lived radioisotopes, heat rejected by mantle convection, and mantle cooling. The convection involves a temperature-and water content-dependent viscosity^[131] and the usual parametric relationship between heat flow and the mantle Raleigh number is assumed. The total spreading rate of the lithosphere is then calculated as a function of heat flow^[131].

The evolution of the surface and mantle water reservoirs (W_s and W_m) is specified by the difference between the outgassing flux and the regassing and escape fluxes;

$$\frac{dW_s}{dt} = F_{out} - F_{recycl} - F_{esc} \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{dW_m}{dt} = -F_{out} + F_{reg} \tag{2}$$

The rate of outgassing is

$$F_{out} = C_{mw} \rho_m SR \int_0^{d_m} X dz, \tag{3}$$

where the concentration of water in the mantle C_{mw} is W_m/V_m , ρ_m is the average mantle density, SR is the spreading rate, d_m is the depth of melting, and X is the melt fraction. We assume that water partitions into the melt fraction X up to a specified solubility limit. We use an empirical melting parameterization to calculate the melt fraction and depth of melting^[132].

The rate of recycling of water back into the mantle is the rate of subduction of water in lithospheric slabs corrected by a factor R_{reg} that accounts for the devolatilization and escape of water from unstable minerals;

$$F_{recycl} = (1 - R_{reg})C_{cw}\rho_c d_c SR,\tag{4}$$

where C_{cw} is the concentration of water in crustal minerals, ρ_c is the density of the crust, and d_c is the thickness of the hydrous crust. The amount of water in the crust will depend on the depth at which hydrothermal circulation penetrates, and on the mineralogy of the crust^[99].

Fig. 2.1.8a shows the results of initial simulations with three different initial total inventories of water (measured in present-day Earth oceans). In each simulation, the initial surface reservoir is zero and the initial mantle temperature is set so that the mantle is in thermal equilibrium with the initial rate of heat production by long-lived radioactive isotopes. Using these assumptions, we find that the surface reservoir asymptotically increases with time. This result is consistent with the absence of any indication of a dramatic change in continental freeboard in the geologic record. The model (Fig. 2.1.8a) also correctly produces the current mantle potential temperature of the Earth but the estimated global spreading rate must be corrected by a factor of 1.7. Currently the model simulates only planets with contiguous oceanic crust; we will add the formation of continental crust to a later version. We will continue to improve the model, constrain the model

parameters using the terrestrial case, and then use the model to explore the effect of varying the abundance of planetary mass, abundance of heat-producing long-lived radioisotopes, mantle composition, initial water inventory, and rate of hydrogen escape on the evolution of the planetary water cycle.

Fig 2.1.8a– Planetary surface water reservoir versus time for an Earth-like planet simulated using an empirical model of mantle convection coupled with a geologic water cycle model. Only the initial total water inventory is varied. See text for details.



2.1.9 Signatures of Water-Bearing Exoplanets

Objective – Model the water-rich comae of super-comets and planets experiencing atmospheric escape and determine their detectability. Evaluate the feasibility of the time-series spectroscopic determination of the abundance, distribution, and state of water on Earth-like planets around other stars using observations of earthshine reflected by the Moon.

Connections – §2.1.1, 2.1.8 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 1; Objective 1.1, 1.2 Researchers – Gaidos, Meech

Background – Nebular water will be removed with the rest of the primordial disk gas from a young solar system either by a T-Tauri wind or by incorporation into giant planets. However, volatiles, including water, will be retained for much longer periods of time in icy bodies or waterrich planets, depending on their masses and orbits. This water may be subsequently lost to space by direct devolatilization (in the case of an icy body) or by the ultraviolet radiation-driven escape of water-rich atmospheres. This process is still ongoing in our solar system, although it is now important only for comets. In the early Solar System, (dissociated) water would be escaping from the runaway greenhouse atmosphere of Venus^[27] as well as from satellite-sized icy planetesimals scattered closer to the Sun by the giant planets. Are the extended, hydrogen/water-rich atmospheres/coma of equivalent objects around other stars detectable? Transient, doppler-shifted absorption lines in the spectrum of β Pictoris, surrounded by a circumstellar disk, have been proposed to be the result of comet-like "falling, evaporating bodies" crossing the stellar disk^[15]. We propose to model the comae of "super-comets" and planets with hydrodynamically escaping atmospheres and determine if it is possible to detect them either in absorption or emission.

Space-based observatories have been proposed to directly detect and characterize Earth-sized planets around nearby stars^[121, 11]. The ultimate goal of these projects is to ascertain whether a extrasolar planet has life by identifying "biosignatures" in a planet's spectrum, *e.g.*, atmospheric O_2 , O_3 , CH₄, or biogenic pigments such as chlorophyll. Time-series photometry and spectroscopy of

an Earth-like planet may also reveal important physiochemical details about the surface and its habitability. These include the presence of oceans, clouds, ice caps, and deserts^[60]. The thermodynamic state of water on a planet and its variability is fundamental to its climate and seasonality. Earth-like planets need not resemble the Earth as it is today: Large continental glaciations, episodes of intense warming (and cloudiness) and so-called "snowball Earth" events^[85] would have dramatically altered the albedo and spectrum of the past Earth.

In the absence of known Earth-like extrasolar planets (and a space observatory to observe them), a suitable test of an observational strategy is to observe the Earth itself from a distance. Sagan^[189] observed the Earth with the *Galileo* spacecraft and detected the chlorophyll "red edge" of terrestrial vegetation at \sim 750 Å. A more cost-effective technique is to measure the intensity and spectrum of earthshine reflected by the dark side of the Moon. Two groups have derived the terrestrial albedo as a function of wavelength and report the detection of Rayleigh scattering at blue wavelengths and absorption features of ozone, molecular oxygen, and water^[224, 6]. They also report the tentative detection of the chlorophyll red edge. The Earth exhibits significant albedo variations as a consequence of exposure of the Antarctic ice sheet to austral summer sunlight and changes in cloud and vegetation patterns^[73]. But with limited temporal and spectral resolution, limited signal-to-noise, and no spatial resolution, how can clouds and ice sheets be distinguished? How can water-ice and CO₂-ice clouds be distinguished, particularly in the absence of independent temperature data? Can seasons be inferred solely by detecting changes in cloud cover patterns or the waxing and waning of ice sheets? These signatures may be subtle and difficult to deconvolve. While the absorption bands of water vapor may be obvious (at least from space), the spectrum of ocean water is blue and resembles that produced by Rayleigh scattering and an atmospheric aerosol component.

To answer these questions we are carrying out a long-term monitoring of the spectrum of earthshine with the UH 2.2 meter telescope and the HARIS spectrograph. The first observations are to be carried out during late March of 2003. The earthshine spectrum, modulo a constant, is obtained by dividing the spectrum of the dark side of the Moon by that of the illuminated portion. Care will be taken to remove from each spectrum the temporally interleaved spectra of the sky (which changes with time) and correcting for detector effects, including CCD fringing.

2.2 Extending the State of the Field – Relevance to Past, Current, Future NASA OSS Programs

We have chosen water, and its relationship to life, as both a unifying paradigm and interconnecting theme. Our consortium will advance the state of the field by placing the research of individual investigators into a framework in which the results in any given field will advance, or serve as the foundation of, research in other fields: Observations of the abundance and chemistry of water in star- and planet-forming regions provides the boundary counditions for experiments on space ices, which in turn are critically important to correct interpretation of observations of comets and the interstellar medium. Modeling of Martian hydrothermal systems is necessary for selection of terrestrial environments as appropriate analogs, exploration of which will help the search for potential habitats for and signatures of life on Mars. Modeling of the planetary water cycle requires information about water in planet-forming material provided by the study of meteorites and comets, and in turn informs searches for the signatures from water-bearing exoplanets.

In addition, the bulk of the funding requested in this proposal will support postdoctoral fellows

who will be given access to facilities, the academic freedom, and the independence necessary to pioneer innovative and interdisplinary rsearch that includes, and builds upon, the research described in this proposal. In funding a corps of respected junior colleagues, allowing them to create a unique and independent environment (the "Water Hole") and connecting them to multiple investigators and research facilities, we plan to develop a unique assembly of scientists bonded by a common interdisciplinary research them rather than sometimes-anochronistic disciplinary ties.

Water underpins much of the current research of the Astrobiology Institute and our efforts would support these, as well as other NASA efforts, including the Mars Exploration Program and the Search for Origins. One of the products of this research will be an improved understanding of processes that control the frequency and nature of extrasolar planets with aquatic (*i.e.*, habit-able) environments, information that is critical to the design of space observatories such as those envisioned by the Terrestrial Planet Finder project. Finally, much of this research will be carried out in Hawaii, a location where a variety of aquatic environments and their conjugate ecosystems, some unique can be studied. It is also a place where the theme of water has an obvious resonance and deep roots. As inhabitants of the most isolated archipelago on Earth, we will contribute a sense of importance to scienctific ties that span great divides of distance and discipline, and, as dwellers in an ocean, an appreciation both scientific and cultural to that great medium from which we all sprang.

This work is well-aligned with NASA OSS programs, closely following the Astrobiology Roadmap (as noted in each section). In addition, the work is closely related to many upcoming and proposed NASA missions, such as Deep Impact, Pluto-Kuiper Express, and most especially the Terrestrial Planet Finder. Our goal, in effect, is to establish the parameters of a "Watery Drake Equation", to better assess the properties which make a world habitable.

2.3 Technical Approach

2.3.1 Infrared Spectroscopy and Sub-mm Interferometry: Young Stars, Circumstellar Disks, and Molecular Clouds

Objective – Identify process and support instrument design for detection and measurements of ice and water biomarkers.

Connections – §2.1.1 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 3; Objective 3.1 Researchers – Reipurth, Williams, Ceccarelli

Background – We will determine the water ice distribution in molecular clouds by taking infrared spectra of field stars shining through the molecular clouds being investigated. We will obtain high-quality spectra (S/N of 30 or better in the continuum) of a variety of sources located behind the clouds and cloud cores of interest. For the study of water ice distributions in clouds and to explore differences between clouds we will use several telescope/instrument configurations (SPEX on the 3.5 m IRTF, UIST on the 3.9 m UKIRT) to achieve a resolving power of about 1000 in the K plus L bands. About 200 stars will be targetted, requiring about 20 nights, which over a five year period is about 2 nights per semester. For a study of the denser cloud cores we will observe about 20 - 30 stars using larger telescopes (the 8 m Subaru with IRCS, and the 8m

Gemini with NIRI) totalling approximately 10 nights, which is on average one night per semester if spread over 5 years.

For the study of hot water emission towards young stars with massive circumstellar disks we will use high-resolution infrared spectroscopy in the K-band with a resolving power of about 20,000. Since many of our targets are rather bright (K of 8 - 10), we can use medium sized telescopes (*e.g.*, IRTF with CSHELL, UKIRT with CGS4 or its successor), and only for the faintest objects do we need to go to very large telescopes (*e.g.*, Subaru with IRCS in its echelle configuration). Given that this is a largely unexplored research field, it is difficult to estimate the amount of observing time required, but we envisage using a total of around 6 to 7 nights on a 3-4 m class telescope and a few nights on larger telescopes for this study.

We will explore water masers in circumstellar disks by using the Very Large Array (VLA) in New Mexico. This is a general facility which we have used repeatedly in the past. We will employ the A-configuration at 4.86, 8.46, 22.255, and 107.1 GHz. The A-configuration is available approximately every 15 months, and we intend to submit our proposals for each of these deadlines for the coming years.

Through the UH access to telescopes on Mauna Kea, it is possible to dedicate large quantities of time to survey for sub-millimeter line emission from water related species in protoplanetary disks around young stars in nearby star forming environments using the Caltech Submillimeter Observatory (CSO) and James Clerk Maxwell Telescope (JCMT). The resolution of these data will be $\sim 10''$ which is sufficient only to allow abundance measurements to be made. Followup observations of disks with detectable lines will then be made with the SMA to map the different species at a few arcsecond resolution (few hundred AU). In addition to the line observations, the thermal dust emission provides information on the grain mass opacity and thereby the composition of the (icy) mantles. Millimeter interferometric observations of the LkCa 15 disk show interesting morphological differences at this scale^[180]. Our proposed observations are at shorter wavelengths than this work and will target warmer gas closer to the protostar where abundances may be higher and line emission stronger. Progress in learning about protostellar disk chemistry will require large amounts of telescope time due to the multitude of species and relative weakness of emission. UH is in a unique position of being able to bring three sub-millimeter telescopes to bear on this problem, including the only one able to image at arcsecond resolution, and this survey can be expected, therefore, to make a significant contribution to our knowledge of the initial chemical conditions of the solar nebula.

Atmospheric transmission (Fig. 2.3.1a) versus frequency for a range of precipitable water vapor (pwv) levels. The sky offers several "windows" which allow astronomical observations of the line and continuum radiation from the molecules and dust in star forming cores. There are very few telescopes in the world that operate at sub-millimeter wavelengths ($\nu > 300$ GHz) and three are situated on Mauna Kea, including the only one (SMA) that will produce sub-arcsecond resolution images.



Fig 2.3.1a–Atmospheric transmission in the sub-mm.

Much of the opacity in the atmosphere at these wavelengths is due to water but the extremely dry conditions at the summit of Mauna Kea, $pwv \sim 0.5 - 1$ mm, allow for observations at frequencies as high as 900 GHz. Other sites with sub-millimeter telescopes in Europe and Arizona have much higher water vapor levels, $pwv \sim 2 - 4$ mm, and are consequently rarely able to observe at frequencies greater than 400 GHz.

2.3.2 Extraterrestrial Ice Laboratory Experiments

Connections – §2.1.3 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 3; Objective 3.1 Researchers – Kaise, Bar-Nun, Ehrenfreund

The Experimental Setup

The experiments on the interaction of charged particles and photons with extraterrestrial ice analog bodies are carried out in vacuum chambers which mimic the interstellar or solar system environments. All experiments will be carried out at the University of Hawaii in an existing oil free ultra high vacuum (UHV) vessel which has the following characteristics:

- Contamination-free operation at extreme ultrahigh vacuum conditions (pressures of about 10^{-11} torr),
- Reproducible preparation of thin frost layers (< 500 nm),
- Target substrates which allow a rapid heat dissipation from the irradiated ices to the cold head thus minimizing surface heating and reaction mechanism changes,
- Temperature monitoring of heated ice surfaces and substrates,
- Preparation of clean charged particle beams and operation of monochromatic photon sources,
- Quantitative on line and in situ analyses of the solid state and the gas phase employing low background detection schemes.

This machine consists of an irradiation unit and a stainless steel chamber which can be pumped down to $3x10^{-11}$ torr by a magnetically suspended turbopump (Fig. 2.3.2a). A rotatable, two stage closed cycle helium refrigerator is attached to the lid of the machine and holds a polished silver mono crystal. This crystal can be cooled to 9.5 K, serves as a substrate for the ice targets and conducts the heat generated from the impinging photons or particles to the cold head. To allow a selection of any target temperature from 9.5 K to the sublimation point of the samples, a temperature sensor and a programmable heater are attached to the crystal. To assist a quick change of the irradiation source and maintain the UHV conditions in the main chamber, the irradiation unit is placed in a removable side chamber which can be separated from the machine through a gate valve. Three irradiation modules are necessary to simulate the CR and UV effects on interstellar ice mixture: the ion module (shown in Fig. 2.3.2a), the electron module, and a tunable photon source. Continuous ion beams are generated by an ion gun via electron impact ionization of a gas precursor, ion extraction, acceleration up to 5 keV, and mass separation of contaminants in a Wien filter. The current of the charged particles is monitored by a Faraday cup. Since the gas load inside the main chamber has to be kept to a minimum during the irradiation to avoid any condensation of contaminants on the ice surface, the ion source is triply differentially pumped by magnetically suspended turbomolecular pumps backed by oil free scroll pumps. This pumping scheme reduces the pressure from 10^{-4} mbar via 10^{-6} mbar, 10^{-8} mbar, and 10^{-10} mbar to $3x10^{-11}$ mbar in the main chamber. Secondly, electrons with kinetic energies up to 5 keV are generated by an electron gun. Due to the modular design of the irradiation unit, the ion source can be simply replaced by the electron gun, which is interfaced then via two differentially pumped regions to the main chamber. Thirdly, photolysis experiments are performed employing a differentially pumped ultraviolet source which is also interfaced together with the differentially pumped monochromator region through two differentially pumped chambers to the main recipient. The advantage of the tunable photon source is the wavelength selectivity. Since experiments are performed at distinct wavelengths, a complete picture of the underlying photochemical processes can be obtained. The main chamber has spare ports, and simultaneous photon/particle irradiation can be also conducted.

To guarantee an identification of the reaction products in the ices and those subliming into the gas phase on line and in situ, two detection schemes are incorporated: (i) a Fourier transform infrared spectrometer (FTIR), and (ii) a quadrupole mass spectrometer (QMS). The chemical modification of the ice targets are monitored during the irradiation experiments to extract time-dependent concentration profiles and hence production rates of newly formed molecules in the solid state. Since no QMS can distinguish multiple $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers from the raw data alone, the mass spectrometer must be calibrated first for the fragmentation patterns of distinct isomers of interest; hereafter, these raw data are processed via matrix interval arithmetic to extract quantitative information on the isomers formed.

Fig 2.3.2a–Schematic top view of the simulation chamber, ion irradiation unit, quadrupole mass spectrometer (QMS), Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer, and the gas condensation unit.

Ice Mixtures–Mechanisms for Formation of $C_2H_4O_2$ Isomers in Interstellar Ices

We elucidate now the mechanisms by which glycolaldehyde, acetic acid, and methyl formate might be formed inside interstellar ices via charged particle bombardment and photolysis. Synthetic routes are derived combining concepts of suprathermal chemistry^[102, 187] and photochemistry^[212] together with a classical retrosynthetic approach^[127]. This will ultimately identify those molecules as potential precursors to the $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers and guide the selection of ice mixtures in our simulation experiments. Note that due to the complexity of the interstellar environments no single experiment can mimic all effects simultaneously, and an understanding of elementary processes

must be based on experiments involving binary systems first before extending them to more complex ice mixtures. As evident from the structures of the $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers, the CO_2 -unit can be found in acetic acid and methyl formate, whereas the CO-moiety is present in all isomers (Fig. 2.3.2b). Since CO and CO_2 are common in astrophysical ices, we investigate first if binary ice mixtures CO/CH_3OH (mixture 1) and CO_2/CH_4 (mixture 2) synthesize any $C_2H_4O_2$ structure.

Considering a CH₃OH molecule, a photon or particle can split the CH₃-OH (1.1), CH₃O-H (1.2), or H-CH₂OH bond (1.3) to yield [CH₃ ... OH], [CH₃O ... H], and/or [H ... CH₂OH] radical pairs which could react with a CO molecule to acetic acid, methyl formate, and glyco-laldehyde (Fig. 2.3.2b). Similarly, a CH₃-H bond in a CH₄ molecule can be broken to form a [CH₃...H] pair; the radicals/atoms might add to a CO₂ neighboring molecule in the ice matrix to give acetic acid (2.1) or methyl formate (2.2). All routes to C₂H₄O₂ investigated so far require only one bond rupture in a single molecule; both reacting radicals/atoms originate from the same precursor. However, reactants could emanate from two different molecules, and two bond ruptures prior to the reaction are required. Hence, ice samples with formaldehyde (H₂CO) are studied, as the formyl group (HCO) is present in methyl formate (3.1) and glycolaldehyde (3.2).

After binary mixtures have been investigated comprehensively, ternary mixtures with a radical plus an atom precursor, which requires two bond ruptures, will be also studied. These involve mixtures of CO with CH_4/H_2O , CH_4/CH_3OH , H_2O/CH_3OH , and of CO_2 with CH_4/H_2O , CH_4/CH_3OH , and CH_3OH/H_2O . To get information on the reaction mechanism, isotopic substitutions will be performed. For example irradiation of $CH_3OH/CO/H_2O$ could give CH_3 (from CH_3OH) and OH radicals (from H_2O) which might react with CO to acetic acid. Since CH_3OH can be cleaved to CH_3 plus OH as well, both CH_3OH and H_2O can form OH. The dominating pathway is unraveled using CH_3OD which produces only OD. CH_3COOH and CH_3COOD have different infrared spectra and can be discriminated experimentally. Note that the radical species formed can recombine either in a radical pair cage inside the solid ice even at temperatures as low as 10 K or - if they are separated inside the ice matrix - after annealing of the ice target in the hot core phase to allow the radicals to diffuse. Since the production rates of the $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers are expected to depend on the initial concentration of the ice components, experiments have to be performed at various concentrations of the ice constituents.

Besides simple bond rupture processes followed by atom/radical additions and recombination reactions, we have to investigate also to what extent insertion processes of suprathermal particles can lead to the $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers. Note that in the following considerations, the spin states of the reacting particles are omitted for clarity. Further, the reader should keep in mind that the reaction of a suprathermal particle with a thermal molecule leads to highly internally excited molecules. In the gas phase, the latter fragments, but inside ices, the surrounding matrix might absorb the excess energy of the newly formed molecule via phonon interaction. Acetaldehyde (CH₃CHO) and formic acid (HCOOH) are identified as the key reactants in this scheme.

Here, suprathermal oxygen atoms, which can be formed as knock on species via interaction of the primary implant with water molecules (CH_3CHO/H_2O ; mixture 4) as the dominant constituent of extraterrestrial ices, can insert into the carbon-hydrogen bond of the methyl group of the acetaldehyde molecule to form glycolaldehyde (4.1); an insertion into the carbon-carbon and formylic carbon-hydrogen bond leads to methyl formate (4.2.) and acetic acid (4.3.), respectively.

Fig 2.3.2b–Formation of $C_2H_4O_2$ isomers via simple bond ruptures followed by addition of atomic hydrogen and/or a radial and recombination of radicals (left) and via insertion of suprathermal oxygen atoms and carbene radicals (right).

Alternatively, insertion of carbene radicals (CH₂), which can be generated via interaction of charged particles with methane molecules (CH₄/HCOOH; mixture 5), can undergo three distinct insertion reactions into the carbon-hydrogen (5.1.), oxygen-hydrogen (5.2.), and carbon-oxygen bonds (5.3.) to form acetic acid, methyl formate, and glycolaldehyde, respectively. These considerations make it clear that charged particle irradiation of binary ice mixtures of H₂O/CH₃CHO and CH₄/HCOOH could yield all three C₂H₄O₂ isomers.

Note that the single insertion process of a carbine radical can be substituted by an insertion of a carbon atom or methylidene radical (CH) followed by two or one hydrogenation steps, respectively. We like to stress, that after binary mixtures have been exposed to high energy radiation in the laboratory, it is crucial to prepare ternary mixtures of these ices into a water-rich matrix. Water is the dominant component of the interstellar and comatary ice component, and the production rates depend strongly on the nature of the ice matrix.

2.3.3 Comet & Centaur Observations

We will obtain JHK ($1.2 \le \lambda \le 2.4 \mu m$) spectra of a sample of ~50 bright Centaurs and Kuiper belt objects using the Keck, Subaru and Gemini 8-m and 10-m class telescopes. These spectra will be used to determine the surface abundance of water ice from the 1.5 μm and 2.0 μm spectral features, and to search for expected correlations in the water ice abundance with object distance and size. The spectral properties of amorphous and crystalline water ice are measurably different (see reference by John Davies). We will use this fact to place a limit on the abundance of amorphous water ice or to detect it. As noted, this places an upper bound on the temperature experienced by a given body. We will also search for indications of organic and other surface molecules, like those already found in Centaur 5145 Pholus.

The presence of organics is most easily ascertained from the ultra-red optical reflection spectra, of which 5145 Pholus remains the prime example. We will obtain calibrated optical reflection spectra of 100 Centaurs, KBOs and cometary nuclei to examine the incidence of surface organics. We are interested to know whether the organics so prevalent in the outer solar system can survive passage to the hot inner regions. Recent observations, for instance, suggest that they cannot, based on the relative lack of ultrared objects amongst the comets and dead-comets^[?].

While detailed compositional studies of the organics are not possible from low resolution spectra alone, we will, with the aid of laboratory experiments, be able to make useful statements about the degree of hydrogenation of the organics. The ability to take comparable spectral datasets for astronomically remote objects and for laboratory samples designed to model those objects constitutes a powerful aspect of our collaboration. Presently, the literature contains irradiated ice spectra from the laboratory that are difficult to compare with real astronomical data. In some cases this is because the spectral resolutions are mis-matched, in others it is because the relevant spectral range has not been sampled or because astrophysically relevant ice mixtures have not been employed. We will have complete control over all these aspects, and will ensure that the laboratory spectra are fully comparable with those obtained at the telescope.

2.3.4 Comet Isotopic Measurements

Comet Observations

In this proposal, we will use the observational facilities atop Mauna Kea to obtain measurements of cometary D/H in comets having a wider range of dynamical characteristics and origins than the 3 already sampled. The James Clerk Maxwell Telescope (JCMT) has been used to study the $1_{01} - 1_{00}$ line of HDO at 464.92452 GHz in comet Hale-Bopp. This high frequency line is challenging because of telluric absorption: Mauna Kea is probably the only place on Earth where it can be studied. In addition, the new Submillimeter Array Telescope (SMA), will have sensitivity and higher angular resolution at the HDO line. The key is to find comets that are bright enough to permit useful signal-to-noise ratio spectra to be obtained. In practice this means comets must be observed when near the sun and at small solar elongation angles. The optically opaque Gore-Tex screen of the JCMT makes such observations routine.

Here the main emphasis, aside from seeing if there are real variations in D/H among these comets will be to test the pristine nature of the comets. How extensive was the mixing of interstellar material with material in the solar nebula? Can we assume that comets in other systems will resemble ours (little mixing) or will the comets of a given system be dependent on the structure and composition of the local circumstellar nebula (extensive mixing)? The answer will determine to what extent we can generalize the transport of water in our system to other systems. The question can be addressed by investigating D/H and ¹⁵N/¹⁴N in more compounds in more comets, and comparing the results with values measured in interstellar clouds.

For Kuiper belt comets, conceivably the D/H in their water could match that in seawater, but they are too faint to investigate from Earth. However, these are the ones that missions can go to. Owen is Co-I on the Rosina mass spectrometer that will be carried on the Rosetta Spacecraft. This instrument will not only measure D/H in the comet's water, it is capable of measuring the noble gas abundances and isotope ratios, including xenon, in the comet, thereby testing the hypothesis that comets might have brought these particular volatiles to Earth. If they did, they obviously would have brought SOME water as well as organic compounds and other sources of nitrogen. Rosina will also measure the nitrogen isotopes in the comet, providing another test of cometary delivery of volatiles to Earth. We now know that the nitrogen in Hale-Bopp's HCN has an isotope ratio close to the telluric value, but HCN is a minor constituent of comets, so we need to evaluate the total cometary nitrogen, and this Rosina can do.

Mars Observations

As a starting proposition, one might expect that Mars had the same sources of volatiles as the Earth. Support for this assumption comes from a study of noble gases in the Martian atmosphere, which shows that Ar/Kr/Xe and the Xe isotopes are virtually identical on Mars and Earth. We can test the water on Mars by remote observations from Earth and by studies of Martian meteorites (SNCs). We find that water in the Mars atmosphere shows the effect of atmospheric escape: D/H is 5.5 times the value in seawater. Water in minerals in the SNCs shows a range of values of D/H extending to the value measured in atmospheric water, showing that some of this water must have become incorporated in the minerals. But the lowest value of D/H in these minerals is not the value in our oceans, it is the twice higher value found in comets.

Finally, the xenon in the rock that comes from the greatest sub-surface depth shows xenon with solar isotope ratios, rather than the atmospheric values that mimic those on Earth. Thus the stage is set to use Mars to test ideas about the origin of volatiles on Earth. To pursue this investigation, a postdoc supported by the present grant could collaborate to investigate the Mars rocks further to unravel the evolution of the Martian atmosphere and to evaluate the water content of the Martian interior. For example, it will be interesting to compare the total water on Mars with the total on Earth, to see if there is a model for water delivery that is compatible with these results.

2.3.5 Instruments for the Identification of Biomarkers

Objective – Identification of processes and instruments relevant to ice and water bio-markers measurements.

Connections – §2.1.6, 2.1.7 Astrobiology Roadmap Links – Goal 7; Objective 7.2 Researchers – Anderson, Gaidos

Background – Detection and identification of biomarkers and bio-molecules in extraterrestrial aquatic environments remains a key challenge for future exploration of planetary bodies^[143], *e.g.*, the posited sub ice oceans of Europa^[202, 112], the icy polar caps of Earth, Mars, Callisto, and the icy surface of Europa. Our approach will use knowledge of these types of water and ice locales as the basis for testing both vehicles and instruments required to find bio-habitats, as well as the specific measurements that will most rapidly assess the presence of biomarkers in that environment. Our proposal specifically seeks funding to support continued operational testing of a unique Cryobot vehicle for in-situ analysis of ice and water environments, in conjunction with sample handling and biomarker detection studies using simple definitive instruments tested in both the laboratory and in analog sites.

The Cryobot is a tethered vehicle capable of penetrating ice to kilometers of depth using a combination of passive heating and active hot water jetting that has been developed by partners at both the University of Hawaii and the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (Fig. 2.3.5a, b). It has the advantage of being small in size, mass, and power, while providing the capabilities of a hot water drill, while considerably simplifying ice contamination issues from both dangerous drilling fluids

and surface biology. The onboard avionics allow the Cryobot to steer, cut side channels to store debris, and transmit real time data to the surface via a tether that spools from the back of the vehicle, allowing it to continue descending following refreeze of the bore hole. The tether supports gigabit communication speeds, enabling realtime high resolution video, mass spectroscopy, and sample handling.



Fig 2.3.5–*a*) Funding from this proposal will aid in linking technology development, such as the ice drilling Cryobot vehicle shown above with astrobiology instruments appropriate for watery and icy environments. The Cryobot is a fully independent robotic vehicle, including: 1) a nose that heats and jets hot water, 2) an instrument and avionics bay containing an advanced computer and control system, including directional control and fault tolerance, as well as on-board analytical capability, and 3) a fiber optic tether capable of transmitting video and gigabits of instrument data in real time. *b*) The Cryobot has been tested in extreme environments, including the northern polar island of Svalbard, Norway, in winter. Additional funding will be used to bridge the existing design with our ongoing science efforts in Iceland and in the laboratory. The system does not use environmentally harmful chemical like many ice drilling methods, protecting the biosignatures that the science effort seeks to measure.

The vehicle has been tested in ice sheets during the harsh winter in Svalbard, Norway, and is ready for integration with instruments, as well as testing of sampling and sterilization technology. It can also be used in the deep ocean to study hydrothermal vents, and other astrobiologically significant targets. Though not selected, the vehicle was one of the most highly rated Scout proposals for exploring Mars, and is under consideration for the ice penetrating studies of other icy bodies in the solar system. Further development of this system by terrestrial analog studies is supports the long term astrobiology infrastructure of searching for life associated with water. Our proposal seeks money to support laboratory tests of the existing vehicle, as well as funds to allow us to use the vehicle in ice and lakes in collaboration with our other projects in Iceland, Antarctica, Kauhako Lake crater on Molokai, and Lake Waiau near the summit of Mauna Kea.

Identification of processes and instruments relevant to ice and water bio-marker measurements is ongoing, and is one of the weakest links in the existing astrobiology infrastructure. While numerous astrobiology detection concepts have been suggested^[7, 160, 161, 86, 56], no definitive flight ready astrobiology instrument exists today. To that end our NAI proposal will focus on the provenance and association of life with water to the design and selection of appropriate instruments for plane-tary use. We will both partially support new instrument designs as well as survey the astrobiology

instrument field, as a wide range of possible instruments are planned or are in partial stages of completion throughout the planetary science community. This effort will focus on identifying the most relevant instruments for the ice and water environment, as well as the basic technology hurdles to their broader acceptance within the ASTEP or ASTID programs. Successful interpretation of complex natural environments will require detailed laboratory study of the physical processes that produce a measurable astrobiology signature in water and ice, which we will carry out at the University of Hawaii in our existing labs, as well as in partnership with the National Ice Core Laboratory (NICL), in Denver Colorado. Our proposal effort will focus on processes and related measurement techniques by using samples obtained from terrestrial analogs, including the dry deserts of Antarctica, the relatively wet environments of the desert southwest, and the unique water environments in Hawaii. Hence, the research effort we are proposing has specific strengths in that it builds on:

- The Astronomy and Laboratory portions of this proposal, including the sources, sinks, and history of astrobiologically relevant water.
- The rich history of design, construction, and field use of instruments in the harshest environments by the University of Hawaii, including a range of spectrometers and wet chemistry systems. For example, the University has recently deployed mass spectral systems to 4000 m in hydrothermal vents, and demonstrated stand-off Raman instruments.
- Integrates previous work for identifying biomolecules and markers, both at the University^[12], and in the literature.
- Integrates new measurements using instruments currently being proposed by the University of Hawaii for astrobiology by testing them at terrestrial analog sites, as well as supports a inclusive effort to identify the physical processes underlying biologic processes that will produce the definitive instruments of the future.

Definition of Biomarkers

There are two broad classes of environmental signatures that can be interpreted as evidence for life: geochemical fractionation and direct bio-molecule identification. One task of this proposal will support the ongoing development of astrobiology instruments for the direct detection of biomolecules in water or ice enivronmnets. A second will be a feasibility analysis to use the basis for new ASTID, ASTEP, PIDDP, and MIDP proposals. We will demonstrate the practicality of using of a rotating field mass spectrometer (RFMS) currently in our possession at the University of Hawaii to search for biosignatures such as stratified geochemistry both using the Cryobot and samples from hydrothermal vents, Antarctic ice cores, and field-testing in Iceland. What makes the RFMS truly unique is its rotating field approach, which allows us to measure molecules with weights from 1-100,000 daltons, far more than comparable systems, with a length of \sim 6 cm and no precision parts (Fig. 2.3.5c). Because RFMS uses a semi-soft-ionization technique, this range is sufficient to measure elemental abundance, ions, and large organic molecules. We will calibrate the instrument by measuring the inorganic, organic, and isotopic chemistries of a variety of liquid samples containing biosignatures. These instruments are currently operational, and demonstrated at high-pressures and extreme temperatures (Fig. 2.3.5d).

In addition to supporting lab testing of the instrument, we propose to use funds from this proposal to enable us to test this instrument on currently proposed NSF and future ASTEP ice projects. These bridging funds will allow us to bring along the existing instrument on these additional field proposals to constrain real world sensitivity to biosignatures. The proposed effort will not only return useful science data on the range of environments conducive to life, but provide real world in situ testing of advanced instrumentation that could be used to study oceans, ice sheets, and hydrothermal vents on Europa, or the icy poles of Mars. These technologies enable the science goals of MEPAG, ASTEP, and the Europa Focus Groups, and represent a convergence of science objectives, enabling technologies, and field deployment experience. This technology will enable NASA to directly search for biomarkers, measure the



Fig 2.3.5c–The core of the RFMS instrument shown here is small and tolerant of the spaceflight environment. Funds from this proposal will be used to test the sensitivity of the existing instruments using lab standard biomolecules from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), and bridge the existing technology with ongoing science efforts.

metabolic potential of biota should they be present, and characterize the geologic and climatalogic environment whether or not biosignatures are present.



Cellular Membranes (Lipids)

Fig 2.3.5d–The RFMS instrument, shown here in a very large pressure chamber, has been used in high pressure aqueous environments similar to those that may be analogs for life on Mars or on Europa. While the instrument casing shown here is not suitable for ultimate space-flight, we are interested in lab testing, as well as ultimate modification for Cryobot use.

Biosignatures in organic lipids include specific biomarker compounds and other features (stereochemistry, non-random distributions) of the lipid fingerprint that cannot be explained by abiogenetic synthesis^[149]. Both lipid distributions and the occurrence of complex molecular structures requiring biosynthesis (biomarkers) are important when screening for organic biosignatures. In screening for biomarkers it may be possible to recognize whether any of the three extant domains, Bacteria, Archaea and Eucarya, were present by including hopanes, head-to-head isoprenoids and steranes, respectively, in the search protocol used to interrogate the mass spectra. Distributions of non-biomarker compounds can amount to a biosignature, *e.g.*, a normal alkane distribution that shows predominance of the even (or odd) carbon numbered compounds, reflecting biosynthetic pathways that homologate by two-carbon increments.



Fig 2.3.5e–New designs for incorporating pyrolysis and gas chromatography into a RFMS system are currently under consideration. We will use funds from this proposal to use the ATCC samples as a test suite for designs like the one shown here, to determine their sensitivity to bio-molecules.

In general, lipids are found as complex mixtures. We can recognize biosignatures in these mixtures when their composition is out of balance with what could be formed from abiotic synthesis alone. Characteristics of a biosignature may include (1) excesses of some structural isomers or homologues over others outside the realm of possible random (abiotic) synthesis, (2) repeating structural sub-units in a molecule, for example, the C_5 isopentene sub-units in isoprenoids, and (3) enantiomeric or other stereochemical excesses that do not reflect relative thermal stability.

The most abundant large lipids produced either by abiogenetic processes or by enzymatic synthesis are the normal alkanes. A large component of these are biosynthetically produced as functionalized compounds, such as fatty acids. Fischer-Tropsch synthesis, an abiotic process, also produces these straight hydrocarbon chains, again mostly with functionality. The smooth distribution (by gas chromatography or gas chromatography-mass spectrometry) of fatty acids or n-alkanes in a Fischer-Tropsch product typifies what would be expected from abiotic synthesis^[129]. This distribution of homologs is controlled by conditions of the synthesis, such as temperature, pressure, and catalyses. In contrast, biogenic distributions typically show predominance of the even carbon numbered homologues unless they are obscured by thermal alteration or diagenesis. For example, diagenetic effects of clay can result in decarboxylation and produce an n-alkane distribution with an odd C-number predominance. But the biosignature, though altered, remains legible because it differs from the smooth distribution characteristic of an abiogenic origin. Simple methyl-branched alkanes whose methyl group shows a positional preference along the carbon chain may be a key biosignature, because of the link between these lipids and primitive organisms^[110].

Many biomarkers carry taxon specificity in which they show input from various kingdoms, families and even individual species. Examples of taxon specific biomarkers^[149] from the three

domains, Bacteria, Archaea, Eucarya, are hopanes, head-to-head linked isoprenoids and steranes, respectively. Squalene is a widely used isoprenoid intermediate in the biosynthesis of many polycyclic biomarkers, but the cyclization varies in different domains^[172]. Bacteria cyclize squalene to make hopanes while in Eucaryas squalene lies on the pathway that eventually leads to sterols. Archaea have a unique way of joining isoprenoids to form a head-to-head linkage.

Analysis of samples from water or ice environments composed of living or recently living organisms in complex mixtures, *e.g.*, from natural ecosystems, presents a challenge. The challenge is to recognize key biomarkers and biosignatures against a large background of organic debris that is un-interpretable as a biosignature. A primary task is to determine the biomarker detection limits of the RFMS instrument and to recognize any biomarkers or biosignatures by in situ analysis. This ability will be demonstrated by lab tests under various conditions that simulate the kinds of primitive extraterrestrial ecosystems that might exist now or in the past. We further propose to optimize our RFMS system for biosignature detection by integrating a laboratory gas chromatograph and pyrolyzer system, allowing us to determine sensitivity for measurements of key biomarker information such as lipid compounds and isotopic biosignatures, amongst a wide range of other biomarkers (Fig. 2.3.5e).

Other Approaches: Amino Acids & ATP

Amino acids are the building blocks of proteins and enzymes required for life in terrestrial organisms. A capability to engage in direct detection of amines, amino acids, and poly-aromatic hydrocarbons would provide a useful tool for distinguishing between biotic and abiotic organic compounds. For example, homochirality of amino acids provides an unambiguous indicator of a potential biogenesis^[8]; D-amino acids would suggest a non-terrestrial origin, while the detection of non-racemic amino acids would favor a biotic origin. ATP is used as an intermediate energy-storage molecule by Il life on Earth. A number of ideas exist for the in-situ identification of ATP, including UV fluorescence, and the labeling of phosphates for uptake and respiration of organisms. These labeled phosphates can then be identified via mass spectroscopy or tunable diode laser spectroscopy (TDLS). While we currently do not have active programs supporting in-situ analysis of these types of biosignatures, we will provide a comparative analysis of the strengths of these types of instruments of use in ice or water as part of our study. Specifically, we propose to study: 1) microchip capillary electrophoresis systems capable of identifying both any amino acids and enantiomeric composition of a compound, following the work of^[96], and 2) ATP detection using UV florescence, mass spectroscopy, or TDLS.

2.4 Outline of Work Plan

The proposed research framework will support a group of postdoctoral scholars who will carry out independent, interdisciplinary research spanning two or more of the investigators' (or affiliated investigators') research specialties. The funding for an NAI does not equate to a substantial amount of money per Co-I, and is not intended to fund major new instrumentation initiatives, but is rather a seed to foster collaborations among existing groups. We are proposing an innovative model to maximize the collaborative science output. By supporting a group of postdoctoral scholars we intend both to influence young scientists at a formative phase of their careers, and to provide them with a circle of expert faculty advisors and collaborators from diverse but intercon-

nected research backgrounds.

2.4.1 Management Approach

Since interaction between scientists working in different areas is the key to the success of our astrobiology institute, we will employ a management style that heavily promotes interaction. The PI will take overall responsibility for ensuring the vigor and success of the effort. She will hold bi-weekly meetings with the co-investigators to discuss research direction and progress, financial/management issues and to ensure an active E/PO effort with broad participation.

The co-Is are widely scattered over the University of Hawaii campus and beyond, meaning that face-to-face contacts must be engineered in order to provide a microcosm of the distributed researchers' network which is intrinsic to NASA's astrobiology institutes. We will use 2000 sq. ft. of office space provided to this project by the University President to provide a focal point and venue for regular meetings. These will include weekly meetings at which current research results of the Oo-I's and astrobiology postdocs will be presented and discussed. In addition, the UH-NAI will offer an astrobiology seminar series in which broad university and community involvement will be sought. A sophisticated software tool will be implemented to facilitate scientific interaction between members of the group, building on the capabilities of the NAI Science Organizer. The outside collaborators will be involved in this through the Visiting Scholars Program and frequent communications.

2.4.2 Timelines & Deliverables

With a collaborative framework of this magnitude, there will undoubtedly be a wealth of new ideas, and research directions initiated. However, we do have a set of well-defined deliverables which involve our collaborative efforts.

	§	Time	Investigators	Task
2	2.1.1	5.0 yr	Reipurth, Williams	IR spectra of \sim 230 background stars, 20
				young stars
2	2.1.1	5.0 yr	Reipurth, Williams	Water maser maps toward 10 stars
2	2.1.1	1.0 yr	Williams	Submm interferometry, 20 disks (chemistry),
		-		2 mapped in detail

1. The Origin of Water and the Formation of Stars and Planetary Systems -

2. Obs. and experimental investigation of interstellar and cometary water ice chemistry –

§	Time	Investigators	Task
2.3.2	5.0 yr	Kaiser	120 ice irradiation experiments
2.1.2	0.5 yr	Kaiser, Bar-Nun, Ehren.	Ne/Ar/Kr/Xe ratios trapped in amorphous ice
			in the presence of excess CO, N_2
2.1.2	1.0 yr	Kaiser, Bar-Nun, Ehren.	N_2 /CO in cometary ices
2.1.2	1.0 yr	Kaiser, Bar-Nun, Ehren.	Gas trapping in CHON particles
2.1.2	4.0 yr	Kaiser, Bar-Nun, Ehren.	Mini-enzymes formation in aqueous media

Note: Typically, one experiment takes 2 weeks (ultra high vacuum generation, preparing ice mixtures, carrying out the irradiation). Including maintenance time (1 mo/yr), 24 irradiation

experiments can be conducted per year. Each mixture has to be investigated at different temperatures, irradiation sources, and particle/photon energies. Realistically, we investigate then 10 distinct ice mixtures each at 10 different parameter sets (T, energy, flux).

- §TimeInvestigatorsTask2.1.41.0 moKeil, Krot, ScottX-ray mapping of 2-5 thin sections of 6 chon-
- 3. Origin and Distribution of Planetary Water –

4. Water and Aqueous Alteration on Mars -

§	Time	Investigators	Task
2.1.5	1.0 yr	Taylor, Gaidos	Develop model of melting ice fields and hy- drothermal systems on Mars

tron microprobe studies

drites, backscattered electron studies and elec-

5. Water-rock Chemistry and Habitats for Life –

§	Time	Investigators	Task
2.1.6	3.0 yr	Cowen, Mottl, Gaidos	Assay biological activity carry out survey of mi-
			crobial community in lava-seawater plumes
2.1.6	5.0 yr	Cowen, Mottl	Microbial diversity & physiology in low wa-
			ter/rock oceanic crusts
2.1.6	2.0 yr	Mottl	Geochem char of unusual low T,
			high pH/alkalinity fluids emanating from mud
			volcanoes at Maiana forearc
2.1.6	3.0 yr	Mottl, Cowen	Char microbial communities of low T high
	-		pH/alkalinity fluids at Maiana forearc

6. Extreme Aquatic Environments & Their Analogy to Potential Habitats in the Solar System

§	Time	Investigators	Task
2.1.7	5 yr	Thorsteinsson, Gaidos	Survey biological activity and community com-
			position in Iceland subglacial environments
2.1.7	5 yr	Gaidos	Survey biological activity and community com-
			position in high-altitude fumaroles

7. An Integrated Model of the Planetary Water Cycle -

§	Time	Investigators	Task
2.1.8	2 yr	Hammer, Keil, Gaidos	Develop an integrated model of the geologic
			water cycle and explore the parameter space
			based on plausible models of planet formation
			and composition

8. Signatures of Water-Bearing Exoplanets –

§	Time	Investigators	Task
2.1.9	5 yr	Meech, Gaidos	Conduct long-term monitoring of earthshine
			spectrum with particular attention to signatures
			of water and model its diurnal, season, and in-
			terannual variations. Develop model of wa-
			ter loss from planets and giant comets around
			young stars and assess its detectability

2.4.3 Role of Co-Investigators and Collaborators

All of the project Co-Investigators are taking an enthusiastic and active role in the proposed UH-NAI, regardless of financial support. The core team of Co-Is are those who have been involved in the discussion and planning of the UH-NAI, some since the last Cooperative Agreement Notice. The core team represents 1-2 lead scientists in each of the major water-related disciplines of our research theme. Collaborators , in general, are providing invaluable (non-funded) contributions in more specialized areas of science. This group also includes our international colleagues. All of the Co-Is will be involved in the weekly meetings discussed above, and the local collaborators will be encouraged to join. In addition, we plan an active visiting program with our international collaborators (3.2.2)

- **Meech** As PI of the program, Meech will be responsible for the overall management of the group. In addition, she will actively conduct research in the areas of cometary studies outlined above. In addition, because of her experiences with running large outreach programs, she will contribute to the E/PO component of the NAI.
- Anderson Anderson will supervise a series of lab based life detection experiments in laboratory ice using technologies like the unique ice penetrating probe, the cryobot, and instruments such as the rotating field mass spectrometer. In addition, these experiments will be extended to ice cores at the National Ice Core Laboratory, which houses cores from around the world. The instruments will also be tested in the glacial lake on the summit of Mauna Kea.
- **Binsted** Binsted will be responsible for designing, implementing, testing and evaluating a software tool to aid interdisciplinary scientific collaboration. She will also conduct research in scientific visualization and collaborative systems. Because the resulting network of astrobiological concepts, hypotheses and results may well be useful in introducing non-experts to the field, Binsted will also participate in the E/PO component of the NAI.
- **Cowen** Cowen will actively conduct field research in microbial geochemistry of hydrothermal systems at mid-ocean ridges and in ridge flank crusts. He will also lead response expeditions to study seafloor eruptions for geochemical and microbial indicators of subsurface communities. He will participate in outreach activities, especially in science teacher enhancement projects (*e.g.* teacher at sea).
- **Gaidos** Gaidos will lead expeditions to subglacial volcanoes in Iceland and high-altitude fumarolic environments in South America to assess the presence and adaptation of microbial communities in these environments and to explore the possibility that life could exist

outside the range of stable liquid water. He will also participate in research on extreme aquatic lake environments in Hawaii. He will develop models of liquid water production and transport on the surface of Mars and will be responsible for developing models of the planetary water cycle and the detectability of extrasolar cometary and planetary comae. He will lead a program of observations of the earthshine spectrum from Mauna Kea.

- Jewitt Jewitt will be in charge of studying Kuiper Belt objects and comets and determining their physical properties, and icy compositions. Jewitt is also involved in the Pan Starrs telescope project, and is chair of its Science Working Group. His role will be to help determine the mass spectrum of all NEAs, and to enable further compositional study.
- Kaiser Kaiser will perform all of the ultra-vacuum lab experiments in his capacity as the lead of the Reaction Dynamics group. In addition Kaiser will take an active lead in the development of a graduate program of astrobiology courses.
- **Karl** Karl will supervise and participate in field and laboratory studies related to comparative aquatic ecosystem analysis and in the evaluation of life detection systems, especially ATP analysis. He will also supervise a postdoc who will conduct laboratory studies of Antarctic ice cores and experimental studies using ice mesocosms.
- Keil Keil collaborates with NAI colleagues Sasha Krot and Ed Scott to conduct research into the aqueous and weathering history of asteroidal meteorites. Keil will synthesize the information to derive an understanding of the aqueous evolution and activities on small, asteroidal-sized planetesimals.
- **Kudritzki** Kudritzki will help provide the astronomical infrastructure for the proposal by ensuring the future development of Mauna Kea and Haleakala. In addition, he will assist with the management of the NAI. He is keen to take an active role in all of the science of the NAI, including regular science meetings, infusing astrophysical perspectives.
- Mottl Mottl will conduct field research in the geochemistry of microbial habitats, including cold springs on serpentinite mud volcanoes in the Mariana forearc and hot springs in the Lau (back-arc) Basin, where he has NSF-funded programs. He will participate in the studies of Hawaiian lakes and coastal areas where lava is flowing into the sea, as described in the proposal. He will provide chemical analyses and will collaborate with microbiologists in characterizing unusual microbial habitats. He will participate in outreach activites, especially in science teacher enhancement projects, including taking teachers to sea.
- **Owen** Owen will investigate the D/H composition of comets in order to establish how much isotopic equilibration took place in the solar nebula between H₂O and H₂. In addition he will investigate the ability of water ice to trap noble gases to determine how much cometary water was contributed to Earth.
- **Reipurth** Reipurth will carry out the research on water observations in the interstellar medium. In addition, he will develop and run the Astrobiology winter school, and will be significantly involved in the outreach component of the UH-NAI.

• **Taylor** – Taylor will have overall responsibility for studies relating to aqueous processes on Mars. In addition, Taylor is the lead on the E/PO program discussed herein. [†]Jeff Taylor will spend at least one month of his time on this his Hawaii Space Grant activities. His participation University of Hawaii as part of the state's matching Grant.

Personnel	Location & Role	Expertise
Akiva Bar-Nun	Tel-Aviv University	• Comet Impacts; Chem of Emergence of Life
Cecilia Ceccarelli	Obs. Grenoble	• Astrochemistry, Water in Circumstellar Disks
Pascale Ehrenfreund	Leiden Observatory	Astrochemistry; Interstellar Ices & Organics
Julia Hammer	University of Hawaii	• Volatile/Mineral Interactions at Mod. Pressures
James Heasley	University of Hawaii	Faulkes Telescope Outreach
Mary Kadooka	University of Hawaii	• Educational Outreach; Physics Resource Agent
Alexander Krot	University of Hawaii	Meteoritics
Gary McMurtry	University of Hawaii	Methods for in-situ Biomolecule Identification
Dina Prialnik	Tel Aviv University	Comet Thermal models; Ice Physics
Ed Scott	University of Hawaii	Meteoritics & Cosmochemistry; Petrology
Thor. Thorsteinsson	Nat. Energy Auth.	• Glaciology
Jonathan Williams	University of Hawaii	• ISM; Submm Interferometry

Table 1: UH NAI Proposal Collaborators

References

- [1] Abe, Y., Ohtani, E., Okuchi, T., Righter, K., & Drake, M. 2000, "Water in the early Earth", in *Origin of the Earth and Moon*, eds. R. M. Canup and K. Righter, Tucson, U. Arizona Press.
- [2] Abyzov, S. S., Mitskevich, I. N., & Poglazova, M. N. 1998, "Microflora of the deep glacier horizons of central Antarctica" *Microbiology* 67, 451-458.
- [3] Ágústdóttir, A. M., & Brantley, S. L. 1994, "Volatile fluxes integrated over four decades at Grimsvötn volcano, Iceland", J. Geophys. Res. 99, 580-581.
- [4] Allamandola, L. J., & Sandford, S. A. 1988, "Laboratory simulation of dust spectra", in *Dust in the Universe*, Cambridge University Press, 229-263.
- [5] Amelin, Y., Krot, A. N., Hutcheon, I. D., & Ulyanov, A. A. 2002, "Pb isotopic ages of chondrules and Ca,Al-rich inclusions", *Science* 297, 1678-1683.
- [6] Arnold, L., Cillet, S., Lardiére, O., Riaud, P., & Schneider, J. 2002, "A test for the search for life on extrasolar planets. Looking for the terrestrial vegetation signature in the Earthshine spectrum", *Astron. Astrophys.* **392**, 231-237.
- [7] Bada 2001, "State of the art instruments for detecting extraterrestrial life" PNAS 98, 797-800.
- [8] Bada & McDonald 1996, "Detecting amino acids on Mars", *Analytical Chemistry* 68, A668-A673.
- [9] Baker, E. T., Massoth, G. J., & Feely, R. A. 1987, "Cataclysmic hydrothermal venting on the Juan de Fuca Ridge", *Nature* 329, 149-151.
- [10] Balsiger, H., Altwegg, K., & Geiss, J. 1995, "D/H and O-18/O-16 ratio in the hydronium ion and in neutral water from in situ ion measurements in comet Halley", J. Geophys. Res. 100, 5827-5834.
- [11] Beichmann, C. 1999, "Terrestrial Planet Finder: the search for life-bearing planets around other stars", *Proc. SPIE* 3350, 719-723.
- [12] Bell, R. E., & Karl, D. M. 1999, "Evolutionary processes a focus of decade-long ecosystem study of Antarctic's Lake Vostok", *Eos, Transactions, American Geophysical Union* 80, no. 48, 573 & 579
- [13] Berner, R. A. 2001, "Modeling atmospheric O₂ over Phanerozoic time", *Geochim. Cos-mochim. Acta* 65, 685–694.
- [14] Bethke, C. M. 2002, in *The Geochemist's Workbench, Release 4.0*. University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, IL.
- [15] Beust, H., Lagrange, A.-M., Crawford, I. A., Spyromilio, J., & Vidal-Madjar, A. 1998, "The beta Pictoris circumstellar disk. XXV. The Ca(II) absorption lines and the falling evaporating bodies model revisted using UHRF observations", *Astron. Astrophys.* 338, 1015–1030.

- [16] Björnsson, H., Pálsson, F., & Gudmundsson, M. T. 200X, "Surface and bedrock topography of the Mýrdalsjökull ice cap, Iceland: The Kalta caldera, eruption sites and routes of jökulhlaups", *Jökull* 49, 29-46.
- [17] Bockelee-Morvan, D., Gautier, D., Lis, D. C., Young, K., Keene, J., Phillips, T., Owen, T., Crovisier, J., Goldsmith, P. F., Bergin, E. A., Despois, D. & Wootten, A. 1998, "Deuterated Water in Comet C/1996 B2 (Hyakutake) and Its Implications for the Origin of Comets", *Icarus* 133, 147-162.
- [18] Bounama, C., Franck, S., & von Bloh, W. 2001, "The fate of Earth's ocean", *Hydrol. Earth Sys. Sci.* **5**, 569-575.
- [19] Brasier, M. D., Green, O. R., Jephcoat, A. P., Kleppe, A. K., Van Kranendock, M. J., Lindsay, J. F., Steele, A., & Grassineau, N. V. 2002, "Questioning the evidence for Earth's oldest fossils", *Nature* **416**, 76-81.
- [20] Brearley, A. J., & Hutcheon, I. D. 2000, "Carbonates in the CM1 chondrite ALH84034: Mineral chemistry, zoning and Mn-Cr systematics" (abstract), *Lunar Planet. Sci.* **31**, #1407.
- [21] Brearley, A. J., Hutcheon, I. D., & Browning, L. 2001, "Compositional zoning and Mn-Cr systematics in carbonates from the Y791198 CM2 carbonaceous chondrite" (abstract), *Lunar Planet. Sci.* 32, #1458.
- [22] Brock, T. D. 1967, "Life at high temperatures", *Science* 158, 1012-1019.
- [23] Carr, M. H. 1996, in Water on Mars, Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford.
- [24] Ceccarelli, C., Caux, E., Loinard, L., Castets, A., Tielens, A. G. G. M., Molinari, S., Liseau, R., Saraceno, P., Smith, H., & White, G. 1999, "Water Line Emission in Low-Mass Protostars", *A&A* 342, L21-L24.
- [25] Ceccarelli, C., Baudry, A., Caux, E., Tielens, X., Bontemps, S. et al. 2001, "HIFI Survey of Water Lines from Protostars", in *The Promise of the Herschel Space Observatory*, eds. G. L. Pilbratt et al., 219
- [26] Chapman, M. G., & Tanaka, K. L. 2002, "Related magma-ice interactions: Possible origins of chasmata, chaos, and surface materials in Xanthe, Margaritifer, and Meridiani Terrae, Mars", *Icarus* 155, 324-339.
- [27] Chassefiére, E. 1996, "Hydrodynamic escape of hydrogen from a hot water-rich atmosphere: The case of Venus.", *J. Geophys. Res.* **101**, 26039–26056.
- [28] Christensen, P. *et al.* 2000, "Detection of crystalline hematite mineralization on Mars by the Thermal Emission Spectrometer: Evidence for near-surface water", *J. Geophys. Res.* bf 105, 9623-9642.
- [29] Chyba, C. F. 1987, "The cometary contribution to the oceans of primitive Earth", *Nature* **330**, 632-635.

- [30] Chyba, C. F. 1993, "The violent environment of the origin of life: Progress and uncertainties", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* **57**, 3351.
- [31] Chyba, C. F. 2000, "Energy for microbial life in Europa", *Nature* 403, 381-382.
- [32] Claussen, M., Marvel, K., Wootten, A., & Wilking, B. 1998, "Distribution and Motion of the Water Masers near IRAS 05413-0104", *ApJ* 507, L79.
- [33] Clifford, S. M., T. J. Parker 2001, "The evolution of the martian hydrosphere: Implications for the fate of a primordial ocean and the current state of the northern plains", *Icarus 154*, 40–79.
- [34] Clow, G. D. 1987, "Generation of liquid water on Mars through the melting of a dusty snowpack", *Icarus* **72**, 95-127.
- [35] Corliss, J. B., Baross, J. A., & Hoffman, S. E. 1981, "An hypothesis concerning the relationship between submarine hot springs and the origin of life on Earth", *Oceanololica Acta* No. sp 59-69.
- [36] Costard, F., Forget, F., Mangold, N., & Peulvast, J. P. 2001, "Formation of recent martian debris flows by melting of near–surface ground ice at high obliquity", *Science* 295, 110-113.
- [37] Cowen, J. P., Giovannoni, S. J., Kenig, F., Johnson, H. P., Butterfield, D., Rappé, M. S., Hutnak, M., & Lam, P. 2003, "Fluids from aging ocean crust that support microbial life", *Science* 299, 120-123.
- [38] Cruikshank, D. P. 1997, "Organic matter in the outer solar system: from meteorites to the Kuiper belt, from stardust to planetesimals", in *ASP Conf. Ser* 122, ed. Y. J. Pendleton & A. G. G. M. Tielens, 315-334.
- [39] Cruikshank, D. P., Roush, T. L., Bartholomew, M. J., Geballe, T. R., Pendleton, Y. J., White, S. M., Bell, J. F., Davies, J. K., Owen, T. C., de Bergh, C., *et al.* 1998, "The Composition of Centaur 5145 Pholus", *Icarus* 135, 389-407.
- [40] Cumming, A., Marcy, G. W., & Butler, R. P. 1999, "The Lick planet search: Detectability and mass thresholds", Astrophys. J. 526, 890-915.
- [41] Cyr, K. ., Sharp, C. M., & Lunine, J. I. 1999, "Effects of the redistribution of water in the solar nebula on nebular chemistry", *Icarus* **104**, 19003-19014.
- [42] Darwin, C. 1859, in On the origin of species by means of natural selection, or the preservation of favoured races in the struggle for life, ed. John Murray, London.
- [43] Davies, J. et al. 1997, "The Detection of Water Ice in Comet Hale-Bopp", Icarus 127, 238-245.
- [44] Davies, J. K., Roush, T. L., Cruikshank, D. P., Bartholomew, M. J., Geballe, T. Owen, T., & de Bergh, C. 1997, "The Detection of Water Ice in Comet Hale-Bopp", *Icarus* 127, 238-245.

- [45] Davis, E. E., Becker, K., Pettigrew, T., Carson, B., MacDonald, B. R. 1992, "CORK: a hydrological seal and downhole observatory for deep-ocean boreholes", *Proc. ODP, Init. Repts.* 139, 43-53.
- [46] Davis, E. E., & Becker, K. 1999, "Tidal pumping of fluids within and from the oceanic crust: new observations and opportunities for sampling the crustal hydrosphere", *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.* 172, 141-149.
- [47] Des Marais, D. J., Harwit, M. O., Jucks, K. W., Kasting, J. F., Lin, D. N. C., Lunine, J. I., Schneider, J., Seager, S., Traub, W. A., & Woolf, N. J. 2002, "Remote Sensing of Planetary Properties and Biosignatures on Extrasolar Terrestrial Planets", *Astrobiology* 153, 153-182.
- [48] Donachie, S., Kinzie, R. A., Bidigare, R., Sadler, D., & Karl, D. M. 1999, "Lake Kauhako, Molokai: biological and chemical aspects of a morpho-ectogenic meromictic lake", *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* 19, 93-103.
- [49] Duncan, M. F., Quinn, T., & Tremaine, S. 1988, "The origin of short-period comets", Astrophys. J. 328, L69-L73.
- [50] Dutrey, A., Guilloteau, S., & Guelin, M. 1997, "Chemistry of Protosolar-like Nebulae: The Molecular content of the DM Tau and GG Tau Disks", A& A 317, L55-L58.
- [51] Dyson, F. 1999, in Origins of Life, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- [52] Eberhardt, P., Reber, M., Krankowsky, D., & Hodges, R. R. 1995, "The D/H and ¹⁸O/¹⁶O ratios in water from comet P/Halley", *Astron. Astrophys.* **302**, 301-316.
- [53] Ehrenfreund, P., D'Hendecorut, L., Dartois, E., Jourdain de Muizon, M., Breitfellner, M., Puget, J. L., & Habing, H. J. 1997, "ISO Observations of Interstellar Ices and Implications for Comets", *Icarus* 130, 1-15.
- [54] Endress M., & Bischoff, A. 1993, "Mineralogy, degree of brecciation, and aqueous alteration of CI chondrites Orgueil, Ivuna, and Alais" (abstract), *Meteoritics* 28, 345-346.
- [55] Endress M., Zinner E., & Bischoff, A. 1996, "Early aqueous activity on primitive meteorite parent bodies", *Nature* 379, 701-703.
- [56] Farmer, J. 1998, "Thermophiles, early biosphere evolution, and the origin of life on Earth; implications for the exobiological exploration of Mars", *J. Geophys. Res. E, Planets* **103**, no. 12, 28457-28461.
- [57] Feldman, W. C., Boynton, W. V., Tokar, R. L., Prettyman, T. H., Gasnault, O., Squyres, S. W., Elphic, R. C., Lawrence, D. J., Lawson, S. L., Maruice, S., McKinney, G. W., Moore, K. R., & Reedy, R. C. 2002, "Global distribution of neutrons from Mars: Results from Mars Odyssey", *Science* 297, 75–82.
- [58] Fernández, J. A., & Ip, W.-H. 1981, "Dynamical evolution of a cometary swarm in the outer planetary region", *Icarus* **47**, 470-479.

- [59] Fisher, A. T., Davis, E. E., Hutnak, M., Spiess, V., Zuhlsdorff, L., Cherkauoi, A., Christiansen, L., Edwards, K., Macdonald, R., Villinger, H., Mottl, M. J., Wheat, C. G., & Becker, K. 2003, "Hydrothermal recharge and discharge across 50 km guided by seamounts on a young ridge flank", *Nature* **421**, 618-621.
- [60] Ford, E. B., Seager, S., Turner, E. L. 2001, "Characterization of extrasolar terrestrial planets from diurnal photometric variability", *Nature* **412**, 885-887.
- [61] Fox, C. G., & Hammond, S. R. 1993/94, "The VENTS Program T-phase project and NOAAs role in ocean environmental research", *Mar. Tech. Soc. J.* 27, 70-74.
- [62] Franck, S., Block, A., von Bloh, W., Bounama, C., Schellhuber, H.-J., & Svirezhev, Y. 2000, "Habitable zone for Earth-like planets in the solar system", *Planet. Space Sci.* 48, 1099-1105.
- [63] Fryer, P., Lockwood, J. P., Becker, N., Phipps, S., & Todd, C. S. 2000, "Significance of serpentine mud volcanism in convergent margins", *Geol. Soc. Amer. Spec.* 349, 35-51.
- [64] Furuya, R., Kitamura, Y., Wootten, A., Claussen, M., Kawabe, R. 2001, "Water Maser Survey toward Low-Mass Young Stellar Objects in the Northern Sky: Observational Constraints on Maser Excitation Condition", *ApJ* 559, L143-L146.
- [65] Furuya, R., Kitamura, Y., Wootten, A., Claussen, M., Kawabe, R. 2003, "Water Maser Survey toward Low-Mass Young Stellar Objects in the Northern Sky with the Nobeyama 45 Meter Telescope and the Very Large Array", *ApJS* 144, 71-134
- [66] Gaidos, E. J., Nealson, K. H., & Kirschvink, J. L. 1999, "Life in ice-covered oceans", *Science* 284, 1631-1633.
- [67] Gaidos, E., & Nimmo, F. 2000, "Tectonics and water on Europa", Nature 405, 637.
- [68] Gaidos, E. J. 2000, "A cosmochemical determinism in the formation of Earth-like planets", *Icarus* **145**, 637-640.
- [69] Gaidos, E. J. 2001, "Cryovolcanism and the recent flow of liquid water on Mars", *Icarus* **153**, 218-223.
- [70] Gaidos, E., Lanoil, B., Thorsteinsson, T., Graham, A., Skidmore, M., DeCarlo, E., & Popp, B. 2002, "Discovery of an active microbial community in a subglacial volcanic crater lake, Iceland", *EOS Trans. AGU* 3(47) Fall Meeting Suppl., Abstract B11B-0738.
- [71] Gaidos, E., & Marion, G. 2003, "Geological and geochemical legacy of a cold early Mars", *J. Geophys. Res.*, in press.
- [72] Glaven, D. P., & Bada, J. L. 1998, "Isolation of Amino Acids from Natural Samples Using Sublimation" Anal. Chem. 70, 3119-3122.
- [73] Goode, P. R., Qiu, J., Yurchyshyn, V., Hickey, J., Chu, M.-C., Kolbe, E., Brown, C. T., Koonin, S. E. 2001, "Earthshine observations of the Earth's reflectance", *Geophys. Res. Lett* 28, 1671-1674.
- [74] Gooding, J. L., Arvidson, R. E., & Zolotov, M. Y. 1992, "Physical and chemical weathering", in *Mars* ed. H. H. Kieffer, B. M. Jakosky, C. W. Snyder, and M. S. Matthews, Univ. of Arizona Press, 626-651.
- [75] Griffith, L. L., & Shock, E. L. 1995, "A geochemical model for the formation of hydrothermal carbonates on Mars", *Nature* 377, 406-408.
- [76] Griffith, L. L., & Shock, E. L. 1997, "Hydrothermal hydration of Martian crust: Illustration via geochemical model calculations", *J. Geophys. Res.* **102**, 9135-9143.
- [77] Grimm, R. E., & McSween, H. Y., Jr. 1989, "Water and the thermal evolution of carbonaceous chondrite parent bodies", *Icarus* 82, 244-280.
- [78] Hart, M. H. 1979, "Habitable zones about main sequence stars", *Icarus 37*, 351-357.
- [79] Hartmann, W. K., Malin, M., McEwen, A., Carr, M., Soderblom, L., Thomas, P., Danielson, E., James, P., & Veverka, J. 1999, "Evidence for recent volcanism on Mars from crater counts", *Nature* 397, 586-589.
- [80] Haymon, R. M., Fornari, D. J., Von Damn, K., Lilley, D. L., Perfit, M. R., Edmond, J. E., Shanks, W. C., III, Lutz, R. A., Grebmeier, J. M., Carbotte, S., Wright, D., McLaughlin, E., Smith, M., Beedle, N., & Olson, E. 1993, "Volcanic eruption of the mid-ocean ridge along the East Pacific Rise crest at 9°45-52'N: Direct submersible observations of seafloor phenomena associated with an eruption event in April 1991", *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.* **119**, 85-101.
- [81] Herd, C. D. K., Borg, L. E., Jones, J. H., & Papike, J. J. 2002, "Oxygen fugacity and geochemical variations in the martian basalts: Implications for martian basalt petrogenesis and the oxidation state of the upper mantle", *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 66, 2025-2036.
- [82] Hirth, G., & Kohlstedt, D. L. 1996, "Water in the oceanic upper mantle: implications for rheology, melt extraction and the evolution of the lithosphere", *Earth Planet. Sci.* 144, 93–108.
- [83] Hoeffs 1997, in Stable Isotope Geochemistry, Springer, Germany.
- [84] Hoehler, T. M., Bebout, B. M., & Des Marais, D. J. 2001, "The role of microbial mats in the production of reduced gases on the early Earth", *Nature* **412**, 324–327.
- [85] Hoffmann, P. F., Kaufman, A. J., Halverson, G. P., & Schrag, D. P. 1999, "A Neoproterozoic snowball Earth", *Science* 281, 1342-1346.
- [86] Hofmann, B. A., Farmer, J. D. 1999, "Filamentous fabrics in subsurface minerals; widespread terrestrial occurrence and biomarker potential for Mars exploration", *Geo. Soc.* of Amer., 1999 annual meeting Abstracts **31**, 378.
- [87] Hohenberg, C. M., Meshik, A. P., Pravdivtseva, O. V., & Krot, A. N. 2001, "I-Xe dating: Dark inclusions from Allende CV3" (abstract), *Meteorit. Planet. Sci.* 36, A83.
- [88] Holden, J. F., Summit, M., & Baross, J. A. 1998, "Thermophilic and hyperthermophilic microorganisms in 3-30°C hydrothermal fluids following a deep-sea volcanic eruption", *FEMS Microbial. Ecol.* 25, 33-41.

- [89] Hollis, J. M., Lovas, F. J., & Jewell, P. R. 2000, "Interstellar Glycolaldehyde: The First Sugar", ApJ 540, L107.
- [90] Hua, X., Huss G. R., & Sharp, T. G. 2002, "⁵³Mn-⁵³Cr dating of fayalite formation in the Kaba CV3 carbonaceous chondrite" (abstract), *Lunar Planet. Sci.* **33**, #1660.
- [91] Huang, S. 1959, "The problem of life in the universe and mode of star formation", *Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac.* 71, 421-424.
- [92] Hunten, D. M., Donahue, T. M., Walker, J. C. G., & Kasting, J. F. 1989, "Escape of atmospheres and loss of water", in *Origin and evolution of planetary and satellite atmospheres*, Tucson, University of Arizona Press.
- [93] Hutcheon, I. D., Phinney, D. L., & Hutchison, R. 1997, "Radiogenic chromium-53 in CI carbonates: New evidence of early aqueous activity" (abstract), *Meteorit. Planet. Sci.* **32**, A63.
- [94] Hutcheon, I. D., Krot, A. N., Keil, K., Phinney, D. L., & Scott, E. R. D. 1998, "⁵³Mn-⁵³Cr dating of fayalite formation in the CV3 chondrite Mokoia: Evidence for asteroidal alteration", *Science* 282, 1865-1867.
- [95] Hutcheon, I. D., Weisberg, M. K., Phinney, D. L., Zolensky, M. E., Prinz, M., & Ivanov, A. V. 1999,, "Radiogenic ⁵³Cr in Kaidun carbonates; evidence for very early aqueous activity" (abstract), *Lunar Planet. Sci.* 30, #1722.
- [96] Hutt, L. D., Glavin, D. P., Bada, J. L., & Mathies, R. A. 1999, "Microfabricated capillary electrophoresis amino acid chirality analyzer for extraterrestrial exploration", *Analytical Chem.* 71, 4000-4006.
- [97] Hynek, B. M., Arvidson, R. E., & Phillips, R. J. 2002, "Geologic setting and origin of Terra Meridiani hematite deposit on Mars", J. Geophys. Res. 107, doi:10.1029/2002JE001891.
- [98] Imai, H., Iwata, T., & Miyoshi, M. 1999, "Rotation-Infall Motion around the Protostar IRAS 16293-2422 Traced by Water Maser Emission", *PASJ* 51, 473-477.
- [99] Ito, E., Harris, D. M., & A. T. Anderson, Jr. 1983, "Alteration of oceanic crust and geologic cycling of chlorine and water", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 47, 1613-1624.
- [100] Jewitt, D. 2002, "From Kuiper Belt Object to Cometary Nucleus: The Missing Ultra-Red Matter", Astron. Journal 123, 1039-1049.
- [101] Jewitt, D., & Luu, J. 2000, "Physical Nature of the Kuiper Belt", in *Protostars and Planets IV*, ed. V. Mannings, A. Boss & S. Russell, University of Arizona Press, Tucson, 1201-1229.
- [102] Kaiser, R. I. 2002, "An Experimental Investigation on the Formation of Carbon-Bearing Molecules in the Interstellar Medium via Neutral-Neutral Reactions", *Chem. Rev.* **102**, 1309.
- [103] Kapitsa, A. P., Ridley, J. K., Robin, G. D. Q., Siegert, M. J., & Zotikov, I. A. 1996, "A large deep freshwater lake beneath the ice of central East Antarctica", *Nature* 381, 684-686.

- [104] Karato, S.-I., & Jung, H. 1998, "Water, partial melting and the origin of the seismic low velocity and high attenuation zone in the upper mantle", *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.* **157**, 193-207.
- [105] Karl, D. M. & Lukas, R. 1996, "The Hawaii Ocean Time-series (HOT) program: Background, rationale and field implementation", *Deep Sea Research* **43**, 129-156.
- [106] Karl, D. M. & F. C. Dobbs 1998, "Molecular approaches to microbial biomass estimation in the sea", in, K. Cooksey (ed.) *Molecular Approaches to the Study of the Ocean*, Chapman & Hall, London, 29-89.
- [107] Karl, D. M., Bird, D. F., Bjorkman, K., Houlihan, T., Shackleford, R., & Tupas, L. 1999, "Microorganisms in the accreted ice of Lake Vostok, Antarctica", *Science* **286**, 2144-2147.
- [108] Kasting, J. F., Whitmire, D. P., & Reynolds, R. T. 1993, "Habitable zones around main sequence stars", *Icarus 101*, 108-128.
- [109] Keller, R. M. 2003, "ScienceOrganizer: An Intelligent Information Repository Supporting Distributed Collaborative Science", In preparation. Summary available at http://sciencedesk.arc.nasa.gov/organizer/
- [110] Kenig, F., Sinninghe Damsté, J. S., Kock-van Dalen, A. C., Rijpstra, W. I. C., Huc, A. Y., & de Leeuw, J. W. 1995, "Occurrence and Origin of Monomethylalkanes, Dimethylalkanes and Trimethylalkanes in Modern and Holocene Cyanobacterial Mats from Abu-Dhabi, United Arab Emirates", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 59, 2999-3015.
- [111] Kirschvink, J. L., Gaidos, E. J., Bertani, L. E., Beukes, N. J., Gutzmer, J., Maepa, L. N., & Steinberger, R. E. 2000, "Paleoproterozoic Snowball Earth: Extreme Climatic and Geochemical Global Change and its Biological Consequences", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97, 1400-1405.
- [112] Kivelson, M. G., Khurana, K. K., Russell, C. T., Volwerk, M., Walker, R. J., & Zimmer, C. 2000, "Galileo Magnetometer Measurements: A Stronger Case for a Subsurface Ocean at Europa", *Science* 289, 1340-1343.
- [113] Krot, A. N., Brearley, A. J., Petaev, M. I., Kallemeyn, G. W., Sears, D. W. G., Benoit, P. H., Hutcheon, I. D., Zolensky, M. E., & Keil, K. 2000, "Evidence for in situ growth of fayalite and hedenbergite in MacAlpine Hills 88107, ungrouped carbonaceous chondrite related to CM-CO clan", *Meteorit. Planet. Sci.* 35, 1365-1387.
- [114] Krot, A. N., Fegley, B., Jr., Lodders, K., & Palme, H. 2000, "Meteoritical and astrophysical constraints on the oxidation state of the solar nebula", in *Protostars & Protoplanets IV*, eds. V. Mannings, A. P. Boss, S. S. Russell, U. Arizona Press, Tucson, 1019-1047.
- [115] Krot, A. N., Hohenberg, C. M., Meshik, A. P., Pravdivtseva, O. V., Hiyagon, H., Petaev, M. I., Weisberg, M. K., Meibom, A., & Keil, K. 2002, "Two-stage alteration of the Allende dark inclusions" (abstract), *Meteorit. Planet. Sci.* 37, A82.
- [116] Langer, W. D. et al. 2000, "Chemical Evolution of Protostellar Matter", in Protostars and Planets IV, 29-57.

- [117] Laufer, D., Kochavi, E., & Bar-Nun, A. 1987, "Structure and Dynamics of Amorphous Water Ice", *Phys Rev B* 36, 9219.
- [118] Laufer, D., Notesco, G., Owen, T., & Bar-Nun, A. 1999, "From the Interstellar Medium to Earth's Oceans via Comets-An Isotopic Study of HDO/H₂O", *Icarus* 140, 446-450.
- [119] L/ecuyer, C., Gillet, P., & Robert, F. 1998, "The hydrogen isotope composition of seawater and the global water cycle", *Chem. Geol.* **145**, 249-261.
- [120] Lee, H. H., Bettens, R. P. A., & Herbst, E. 1996, "Fractional abundances in dense interstellar clouds: A compendium of recent model results", *Astronomy & Astrophysics Supp. Ser.* 119, 111.
- [121] Leger, A., Mariotti, J. M., Mennesson, B., Olivier, M., Puget, J. L., Rouan, D., & Schneider, J. 1996, "Could we search for primitive life on extrasolar planets in the near future?", *Icarus 123*, 249-255.
- [122] Lepland, A., Arrhenius, G., & Cornell, D. 2002, "Apatite in early Archean Isua supracrustal rocks, southern West Greenland: its origin, association with graphite and potential as a biomarker", *Precamb. Res.* **118**, 221-241.
- [123] Lissauer, J. J., & Stewart, G. R. 1993, "Growth of planets from planetesimals ", in *Protostars and Planets III*, ed. E. H. Levy & J. I. Lunine, Univ. AZ Press, Tucson, 1061-1088.
- [124] Lunine, J. I., Engel, S., Rizk, B., & Horanyi, M. 1991, "Sublimation and reformation of icy grains in the primitive solar nebula", *Icarus* **94**, 333-344.
- [125] Lunine, J. I. 2001, "The occurrence of Jovian planets and the habitability of planetary systems", Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 908–814.
- [126] Malin, M. C., & Edgett, K. S. 2000, "Evidence for recent groundwater seepage and surface runoff on Mars", *Science* 288, 2330-2335.
- [127] March, J. 1998, in Advanced Organic Chemistry, Wiley, New York.
- [128] Maret, S., Ceccarelli, C., Caux, E., Tielens, A.G.G.M., & Castets, A. 2003, "Water Emission in NGC 1333-IRAS4. The Physical Structure of the Envelope" A&A 395, 573-585.
- [129] McCollom, T. M., Ritter, G., & Simoneit, B. R. T. 1998, "Lipid synthesis under hydrothermal conditions by Fischer-Tropsch-type reactions", in *Origins of Life and Evolution of the Biosphere* 28, 1-14.
- [130] McCollom, T. M. 1999, "Methanogenesis as a potential source of chemical energy for primary biomass production by autotrophic organisms in hydrothermal systems on Europa", J. *Geophys. Res. Planets* 104, 30729.
- [131] McGovern, P. J., & Schubert, G. 1989, "Thermal evolution of the Earth: effects of volatile exchange between atmosphere and interior", *Earth Planet. Sci.* **96**, 27-37.

- [132] McKenzie, D., & Bickle, M. J. 1988, "The volume and composition of melt generated by extension of the lithosphere", *J. Petrol.* **29**, 625–679.
- [133] McLennan, S. M. 2000, "Chemical composition of Martian soil and rocks: Complex mixing and sedimentary transport", *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 27, 1335-1338.
- [134] yesMcLennan, S. M. 2003, "Sedimentary silica on Mars. Geology", in press.
- [135] McSween, H. Y. 1994, "What we have learned about Mars from SNC meteorites", *Meteoritics* **29**, 757-779.
- [136] McSween, H. Y., & Keil, K. 2000, "Mixing relationships in the Martian regolith and the composition of globally homogeneous dust", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 64, 2155-2166.
- [137] McSween, H. Y., Jr., Grove, T. L., Lentz, R. C. F., Dann, J. C., Holzheld, A. H., Riciputi, L. R., & Ryan, J. G. 2001, "Geochemical evidence for magmatic water within Mars from pyroxenes in the Shergotty meteorite", *Nature* **409**, 487-489.
- [138] Meech, K. J. 1999, "Chemical & physical aging of comets", in *IAU Colloq* 173, eds. J. Svoreň, E. M. Pittich & H. Rickman, Stará Lesná, 195-210.
- [139] Meier, R., Owen, T. C., Matthews, H. E., Jewitt, D. C., Bockelee-Morvan, D. Biver, N. Crovisier, J., & Gautier, D. 1998, "A Determination of the HDO/H₂O Ratio in Comet C/1995 O1 (Hale-Bopp)", *Science* 279, 842
- [140] Melnick, G. J. et al. 2000, "The Submillimeter Wave Astronomy Satellite: Science Objectives and Instrument Description", ApJ 539, L77-L85.
- [141] Melosh, H. J., & Vickery, A. M. 1989, "Impact erosion o fthe primordial atmosphere of Mars", *Nature* 338, 487–489.
- [142] Millar, T. J., & Hatchell, J. 1998, "Chemical models of hot molecular cores", in *Faraday Discussions* 109, 15.
- [143] Miller, & Urey, 1959, "Organic compound synthesis on the primitive earth", *Science* **130**, 245-251.
- [144] Nimmo, F., & McKenzie, D. 1998, "Volcanism and tectonics on Venus", *Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci.* 26, 23–51.
- [145] Minh, Y. C., & van Dishoeck, E. F. 1998, "Faraday Discussions 109: Chemistry and Physics of Molecules and Grains in Space", in *Astronomical Society of the Pacific*, San Francisco.
- [146] Minh, Y. C., & van Dishoeck, E. F. 2000, "Astrochemistry From Molecular Clouds to Planetary Systems", in *Astronomical Society of the Pacific*, San Francisco.
- [147] Mock, T. *et al.* 2002, "Micro-optodes in sea ice: a new approach to investigate oxygen dynamics during sea ice formation", *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* **29**, 297-306.

- [148] Mojzsis, S. J., Arrhenius, G., McKeegan, K. D., Harrison, T. M., Nutman, A. P., & Friend, C. R. L. 1996, "Evidence for life on Earth by 3800 million years ago", *Nature* bf 384, 55-59.
- [149] Moldowan, M., & Jacobson, S. R. 2000, "Chemical signals for early evolution of major taxa: Biosignatures and taxon-specific biomarkers", *Int. Geo. Rev.* **42**, 805-812.
- [150] Morbidelli, A., Chambers, J., Lunine, J. I., Petit, J. M., Robert, F., Valsecchi, G. B., & Cyr, K. E. 2000, "Source regions and timescales for the delivery of water to the Earth", *Meteor. Planet. Sci.* 35, 1309-1320.
- [151] Moresi, I.-N., & Solomatov, V. S. 1998, "Mantle convection with a brittle lithosphere: Thoughts on the global tectonic style of the Earth and Venus", *Geophys. J. Int.* 133, 669–682.
- [152] Mottl, M. J. 1992, "Pore waters from serpentinite seamounts in the Mariana and Izu-Bonin forearcs, Leg 125: evidence for volatiles from the subducting slab", *ODP*, Sci. Results 125, 373-385.
- [153] Mottl, M. J., Wheat, G., Baker, E., Becker, N., Davis, E., Feely, R., Grehan, A., Kadko, D., Lilley, M., Massoth, G., Moyer, C., & Sansone, F. 1998, "Warm springs discovered on 3.5 Ma oceanic crust, eastern flank of the Juan de Fuca Ridge", *Geology* 26, 51-54.
- [154] Mottl, M. J., Komor, S. C., Fryer, P., & Moyer, C. L. 2003, "Deep-slab fluids fuel extremophilic Archaea on a Mariana forearc serpentinite mud volcano: ODP Leg 195", *Geology*, in press.
- [155] Mullineaux, L. S., Mills, S. W., & Goldman, E. 1998, "Recruitment variation during a pilot colonization study of hydrothermal vents (9°50'N, East Pacific Rise)", *Deep Sea Res.* 45, 441-464.
- [156] Mumma, M. J., Weissman, P. R., & Stern, S. A. 1993, "Comets and the origin of the solar system – Reading the Rosetta stone", in *Protostars and Planets III*, eds. E. H. Levy, J. I. Lunine, Univ AZ Press, Tucson, 1177-1252.
- [157] Murakawa, K., Tamura, M., & Nagata, T. 2000, "1-4 Micron Spectrophotometry of Dust in the Taurus Dark Cloud: Water Ice Distribution in Heiles Cloud 2", *ApJS* 128, 603-613.
- [158] Murray, J. W., Top, Z., & Ozsoy, E. 1991, "Hydrographic properties and ventilation of the Black Sea", *Deep Sea Research* 38, S663-S689.
- [159] Najita, J. R., Edwards, S., Basri, G., & Carr, J. 2000, "Spectroscopy of Inner Protoplanetary Disks and the Star-Disk Interface", in *Protostars and Planets IV*, eds. V. Mannings, A. P. Boss, S. S. Russell, Univ of Arizona Press, 457-483.
- [160] Nealson, K. H., & Conrad, P. G. 1999, "Life; past, present and future", Special millennium issue, Philosophical Transactions - Royal Society of London. Biological Sciences 354, 1923-1939.
- [161] Nealson, K. H., Conrad, P. G. 2000, "A thermodynamic and kinetic approach to the recognition of biosignatures on the early Earth and elsewhere", *Geo. Soc. of Amer., 2000 Abstracts with Programs* 32, 4-5.

- [162] Nesbitt, H. W. 1997, "Bacterial and inorganic weathering processs and weathering of crystalline rocks", in *Biological-Mineralogical Interactions*, eds. J. M. McIntosh, L. A. Groat, Mineral. Assoc. Canada.
- [163] yesNesbitt, H. W., & Wilson, R. E. 1992, "Recent chemical weathering of basalts", Am. J. Sci. 292, 740-777.
- [164] Neufeld, D. A. *et al.* 2000, "Observations of Interstellar Water Vapor in Outflow Regions", *ApJ* 539, L107-L110.
- [165] Newsom, H. E., & Hagerty, J. J. 1997, "Chemical components of the martian soil: Melt degassing, hydrothermal alteration, and chondritic debris", J. Geophys. Res. 102, 19345-19355.
- [166] Newsom, H. E., Hagerty, J. J., & Goff, F. 1999, "Mixed hydrothermal fluids and the origin of the martian soil", J. Geophys. Res. 104, 8717-8728.
- [167] Nguyen, T. K., Ruffle, D. P., Herbst, E., & Williams, D. A. 2002, "The water ice distribution in Taurus determined by gas-grain chemistry", *MNRAS* **329**, 301-308.
- [168] Nimmo, F., McKenzie, D. 1998, "Volcanism and tectonics on Venus", Annu. Rev. Earth. Planet. Sci. 26, 23-51.
- [169] Okuchi, T. 1997, "Hydrogen partitioning into molten iron at high pressure: Implications for Earth's core", *Science* **278**, 1781-1784.
- [170] Pappalardo, R. T. *et al.* 1999, "Does Europa have a subsurface ocean? Evaluation of the geological evidence", *J. Geophys. Res.* **104**, 24,015-24,055.
- [171] Patel, N., Greenhill, L., Ho, P., & Moran, J. 2001, "Water Masers and the Structure of Outflow within 1 AU of a Young Stellar Object", AAS 199, 134.15.
- [172] Peters, K. E., & Moldowan, J. M. 1993, in *The Biomarker Guide. Interpreting Molecular Fossils in Petroleum and Ancient Sediments*, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs.
- [173] Phipps Morgan, J., Ruepke, L., Ranero, C., & Hort, M. 2002, "Some geophysical and geochemical consequences of slab serpentinization at subduction zones", abstrack, EOS 83, F1254.
- [174] Porcelli, D., & Pepin, R. O. 2000, "Rare gas constraints on early Earth history", in *Origin of the Earth and Moon*, eds. R. M. Canup and K. Righter, Tucson, U. Arizona Press.
- [175] Pravdivtseva O. V., Hohenberg C. M., & Meshik A. M. 2003, "The I-Xe age of Orgueil magnetite: new results" (abstract), *Lunar Planet. Sci.* **34**, submitted.
- [176] Prialnik, D., Bar-Nun, A., & Podolak, M. 1987, "Radiogenic heating of comets by Al-26 and implications for their time of formation", *Astrophys. J.* **319**, 993-1002.
- [177] Prialnik, D. 1999, "Modelling Gas and Dust Release from Comet Hale-Bopp", *Earth, Moon, Planets* **77**, 223-230.

- [178] Price, P. B. 2000, "A habitat for psychrophiles in deep Antarctic ice", in *Proceedings of the U.S. National Academy of Sciences* **97**, 1247-1251.
- [179] Priscu, J. C. *et al.* 1999, "Geomicrobiology of subglacial ice above Lake Vostok", *Science* **286**, 2141-2144.
- [180] Qi, C. 2001, "Aperture synthesis studies of the chemical composition of protoplanetary disks and comets", PhD thesis (CalTech).
- [181] Reipurth, B., Rodríguez, L. F., Anglada, G., & Bally, J. 2002, "Radio Continuum Maps of Deeply Embedded Protostars: Thermal Jets, Multiplicity, and Variability", AJ 124, 1045-1053.
- [182] Resing, J. A., & Sansone, F. J. 1999, "The chemistry of lava-seawater interactions: the generation of acidity", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 63, 2183–2198.
- [183] Resing, J. A., & Sansone, F. J. 1999, "The chemistry of lava-seawater interactions II: the elemental signature", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 66, 1925-1941.
- [184] Reynolds, R. T., Squyres, S. W., Colburn, D. S., & McKay, C. P. 1983, "On the habitability of Europa", *Icarus* 56, 246-254.
- [185] Richardson, S. H., Hart, S. R., & Staudigel, H. 1980, "Vein minerals of old oceanic crust", *J. Geophys. Res.* 85, 7195-7200, 1980.
- [186] Robert, F. 2002, "Water and organic matter D/H ratios in the solar system: a record of an early irradiation of the nebula", *Planet. Space Sci.* **50**, 1227-1234.
- [187] Roessler, K. 1992, "Non-equilibrium chemistry in space", Nuc. Instr. Meth. B65, 55.
- [188] Rothschild, & Mancinelli 2001, "Title of Paper" Nature 409, 1092-1102.
- [189] Sagan, C., Thompson, W. R., Carlson, R., Gurnett, D., & Hord, C. 1993, "A search for life on Earth from the Galileo spacecraft", *Nature* 365, 715.
- [190] Sansone, F. J., Resing, J. A., Tribble, G. W., Sedwick, P. N., Kelly, K. M., & Hon, K. 1991, "Lava-seawater interactions at shallow-water submarine lava flows", *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 18, 1731-1734.
- [191] Sansone, F. J., & Resing, J. A. 1995, "Hydrography and geochemistry of sea surface hydrothermal plumes resulting from Hawaiian coastal volcanism", J. Geophys. Res. 100, 13555-13569.
- [192] Sansone, F. J., Benitez-Nelson, C. R., Resing, J. A., DeCarlo, E. H., Vink, S. M., Heath, J. A., & Huebert, B. J. 2002, "Geochemistry of atmospheric aerosols generated from lava-seawater interactions", *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 29, 10.1029/2001GL013882.
- [193] Schmitt B., Espinasse, S., Grim, R. J. A., Greenberg, J. M., & Klinger, J. 1989, "Laboratory Studies of Cometary Ice Analogues", *ESA-SP* 302, 65.
- [194] Schopf, J. W., & Packer, B. M. 1987, "Early Archean (3.3 billion to 3.5 billion-year-old) microfossils from Warrawoona Group, Australia", *Science* 237, 70-73.

- [195] Segura, T. L., Toon, O. B., Colaprete, A., & Zahnle, K. 2002, "Environmental effects of large impacts on Mars", *Science* 298, 1977-1980.
- [196] Siegert, M. et al. 1996, "An inventory of Antarctic subglacial lakes", Antarctic Science 8, 281-286.
- [197] Siegert et al. xxxx, "Title of Paper", Nature 414, 603-609.
- [198] Shock, E. 1992, "Chemical Environments of submarine hydrothermal systems", in *Origins* of Life and Evol. of the Biosphere **22**, 67
- [199] Shu, F., Shang, H., Gounelle, M., Glassgold, A., & Lee, T. 2001, "The Origin of Chondrules and Refractory Inclusions in Chondritic Meteorites", *ApJ* 548, 1029-1050.
- [200] Smyth, J. R. 1994, "A crystallographic model for hydrous wadsleyite (β -Mg₂SiO₄): An ocean in the Earth's interior?", *Am. Min.* **79**, 1021-1024.
- [201] Stern, S. A. 1988, "Collisions in the Oort Cloud", *Icarus* 73, 499-507.
- [202] Stevenson, D. 2000, "Europa's Ocean-the Case Strengthens", Science 289, 1305-1307.
- [203] Strazzula, G. 1998, "Chemistry of ice induced by bombardment with energetic charged particles", in *Solar System Ices*, eds. B. Schmitt, *et al.*, Kluwer, Netherlands, 281-301.
- [204] Strazzula, G., & Johnson, R. E. 1991, "Irradiation effects on comets and cometary debris", in *Comets in the Post-Halley Era*, eds. R. L. Newburn, M. Neugebauer, & J. Rahe, Kluwer, Dordrecth, 243-276.
- [205] Summit, M., & Baross, J. A. 1998, "Thermophilic subseafloor microorganisms from the 1996 North Gorda Ridge eruption", *Deep-Sea Res. II* **45**, 2751-2766.
- [206] Summit, M., & Baross, J. A. 2002, "A novel microbial habitat in the mid-ocean ridge subseafloor", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98, 2158-2163.
- [207] Swindle, T. D., Caffee, M. W., Hohenberg, C. M., & Lindstrom, M. M. 1983, "I-Xe studies of individual Allende chondrules", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 47, 2157-2177.
- [208] Tajika, E., & Matsui, T. 1992, "Evolution of terrestrial proto-CO₂ atmosphere coupled with thermal history of Earth", *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.* **113**, 251-266.
- [209] Thornton, I. W. B., Cook S., Edwards, J. S., Harrison, R. D., Schipper, C., Shanahan, M., Singadan, R., & Yamuna, R. 2001, "Colonization of an island volcano, Long Island, Papua New Guinea, and an emergent island, Motmot, in its caldera lake. VII. Overview and discussion", J. Biogeograph. 28, 1389-1408.
- [210] Torrelles, J., Patel, N., Gómez, J., & Anglada, G. 2002, "Interferometric Maser Observations from Outflows/Disks in Star-Forming Regions", *RevMex AA Serie de Conf.* 13, 108-113.
- [211] Torrelles, J., Gómez, J., Rodríguez, L., Curiel, S., Anglada, S., & Ho, P. 1998, "Radio Continuum-H2O Maser Systems in NGC 2071: H₂O Masers Tracing a Jet (IRS 1) and a Rotating Proto-planetary Disk of Radius 20 AU (IRS 3)", *ApJ* 505, 756-765.

- [212] Turro, N. J. 1991, "Modern Molecular Photochemistry", in *University Science Books*, Mill Valley.
- [213] Wadhwa, M. 2001, "Redox state of Mars' upper mantle and crust from Eu anomalies in shergottite pyroxenes", *Science* 291 1527-1530.
- [214] Walker, J. C. G., Hays, P. B., & Kasting, J. F. 1981, "A negative feedback mechanism for the long-term stabilization of Earth's surface temperature", *J. Geophys. Res.* 86, 9776-9782.
- [215] Wallace 1907, in Is Mars Habitable? A Critical Examination of Professor Percival Lowell's Book 'Mars and its Canals', with an Alternative Explanation, Macmillan, London.
- [216] Wanke, H., Bruckner, J., Dreibus, G., Rieder, R., & Ryabchikov, I. 2001, "Chemical composition of rocks and soils at the Pathfinder site", *Space Sci. Rev.* 96, 317-330.
- [217] Watson, A. J., Donahue, T. M., & Walker, J. C. G. 1981, "The dynamics of a rapidly escaping atmosphere: Applications to the evolution of Earth and Venus", *Icarus* 48, 150–166.
- [218] Weidenschilling, S. J. 1997, "The Origin of Comets in the Solar Nebula: A Unified Model", *Icarus* **127**, 290-306.
- [219] Wheat, C. G., Elderfield, H., Mottl, M. J., & Monnin, C. 2000, "Formation waters along a 3.5 Ma-old oceanic ridge: implications for the structure of seawater circulation in the crust", *J. Geophys. Res.* 105, 13437-13447.
- [220] Wheat, C. G., & Mottl, M. J. 2000, "Composition of pore and spring waters from Baby Bare: global implications of geochemical fluxes from a ridge flank hydrothermal system", *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 64, 629-642.
- [221] Whittet, D. C. B. *et al.* 1988, "Infrared spectroscopy of dust in the Taurus dark clouds Ice and silicates", *MNRAS* 233, 321-326.
- [222] Wignall, P. B. 2001, "Large igneous provinces and mass extinctions", *Earth Sci. Rev.* **53**, 1–33.
- [223] Wilde, S. A., Valley, J. W., Peck, W. H., & Graham, C. M. 2001, "Evidence from detridal zircons for the existence of continental crust and oceans on the Earth 4.4 Gyr ago", *Nature* 409, 175-178.
- [224] Woolf, N. J., Smith, P. S., Traub, W. A., & Jucks, K. W. 2002, "The spectrum of Earthshine: A Pale Blue Dot observed from the ground", *Astrophys. J.* 574, 430-433.
- [225] Yung, Y. L., Wen, J.-S., Moses, J. I., Landry, B. M., Allen, M., & Hsu, K.-J. "Hydrogen and deuterium loss from the terrestrial atmosphere: A quanti.-tive assessment of nonthermal escape fluxes", J. Geophys. Res. 94, 14,971–14,989.
- [226] Zimmer, C., Khurana, K. K., & Kivelson, M. G. 2000, "Subsurface oceans on Europa and Callisto: Constraints from Galileo magnetometer observations", *Icarus* 147, 329-347.

[227] Zolensky, M. E., Bodnar, R. J., Gibson, E. K., Jr., Nyquist, L. E., Reese, Y., Shih, C.-Y., & Wiesmann, H. 1999, "Asteroidal water within fluid inclusion-bearing halite in an H5 chondrite, Monahans (1998)", *Science* 285, 1377-1379.

3 Plan for Strengthening the Astrobiology Community

3.1 Education and Public Outreach

3.1.1 Introduction

Our group has a strong record of education and public outreach, and we intend to capitalize on that experience by providing innovative laboratory-based learning opportunities for teachers and by engaging the public in our research. We will leverage our efforts funded under this proposal with other programs in our state, particularly with the Hawaii Space Grant Consortium, Space Science Network Northwest (OSS Broker/Facilitator), and the Pacific Regional Planetary Imaging Facility. We will also use our extensive network of teachers throughout the state and our active involvement in the Hawaii Science Teachers Association, the American Association of Physics Teachers and other professional organizations to help disseminate the products we create. For the first time, due to the Hawaii Teachers Standards Board, teachers need to be re-certified by 2005 and this requires professional development. This provides the perfect opportunity for our proposed programs to assist in Hawaii teacher re-certification. Our outreach programs will be funded by several sources.

- 1. We will be supporting outreach at a level of \sim \$50K / year (5% of the total) from the UH-NAI budget (\$10K for workshops, and \$40K for staffing (1 summer month of graduate student, 2 months for a web programmer, and 2 months of an Education specialist);
- 2. The University of Hawaii is committing \$50K/year to UH-NAI outreach (see 3.4.1);
- 3. The Pacific Resources for Education and Learning group is commiting ~ 4 K per year for teacher travel from Micronesia (2 trips per year).

3.1.2 Astrobiology Laboratory Institute for Instructors (Alii)

The multidisciplinary nature of astrobiology lends itself to broad scientific training of teachers. It can revitalize a teacher's approach to whatever science subjects they teach, including biology, chemistry, physics, earth science, and astronomy. Because the typical secondary science teacher reaches about 150 students a year, a focus on teacher training leverages our resources effectively. We will develop a one week summer program to have grade 7-12 teachers learn about astrobiology and how to incorporate activities into their courses. activities into their courses. Exemplary activities such as those in SETI's Voyages Through Time modules will be used. Pacific Island teachers will be recruited with support from the Pacific Resources for Education and Learning (see 3.4.2). (PREL is one of 10 educational laboratories that serve geographic regions across the nation to improve education, and is supported by the U.S. Dept. of Ed.)

This program, Astrobiology Laboratory Institute for Instructors, or acronym, Alii, means royalty in Hawaiian (actually spelled Ali'i and pronounced "ah-lee-ee"), a fitting name for important people like teachers. Experience in doing teacher workshops (TOPS-Towards Other Planetary Systems; and Exploring Planets in the Classroom) has taught us the most effective teaching strategies. Begun in 1993 with NASA funding, with a student component funded by a private donor, the TOPS program has trained over 120 secondary science and mathematics teachers from Hawaii, Micronesia, and other Pacific Islands. The TOPS team and the Hawaii Space Grant Consortium (sponsor of Exploring Planets in the Classroom) are committed to helping implement our teacher-training program. Our plans focus on integrating laboratory experiences with delivery of content materials in alignment with state and national science standards.

3.1.3 Summer Workshop and Research Experience

The focal point of our teacher-training program will be a semester-long professional development program to do cutting-edge research in astrobiology. We will collaborate with the school district to support this program by allowing teachers to take a semester sabbatical leave to minimize our cost. Teachers from the Alii summer workshops with their basic astrobiology background will be recruited for a rich research experience. Each semester several teachers will conduct research in a focus area of this proposal (protostar formation, comets and the interstellar medium, use of spacecraft data for Mars, meteorite studies, extreme aquatic habitats,

This research component will be patterned after the Research Experiences for Undergraduates and Research Experiences for Teachers program that has been run at the Institute for Astronomy (NSF). Besides doing research, the teachers will explore hands-on astrobiology activities, attend talks by our Astrobiology Institute, and develop skills mentoring students for astrobiology science projects. These teachers will make presentations on their research at local and national science teachers conferences. (For those who have only lived in Hawaii, this could be their first experience since the school district does not subsidize teachers.

For six hours each day, teachers will work on well-defined projects aligned with the NAI Roadmap objectives and under the supervision of NAI-affiliated scientists. For example, teachers could experience the 13,000 ft altitude of Mauna Kea while participating in observing. This corresponds to the Roadmap Goal 3, "Understanding how life emerges from cosmic and planetary precursors". Or teachers could utilize the educational Faulkes Telescope Facility (see 3.1.5). Co-I Cowen will continue his "Teacher-at-Sea" program, where a teacher is involved in a research project by being assimilated into the planning and staging of the research cruise, participates in the cruise as a scientist in training, and writes a report or paper on his/her experiences. The teacher helps his/her class or school set up an active web page and arrange for ship-to-shore email communications to integrate others into the research project. Also, the teacher will carry out experiments at sea based on questions posed by the students prior to or during the cruise. For the UH-NAI program, Cowen plans to mentor the teacher during studies of geochemical and microbial indicators of subsurface communities. This project aligns with NAI Roadmap Goal 5, objective 5.3, "Biochemical adaptation to extreme environments". The real challenge is getting the teacher/school to build on their opportunity; the goal is to have a sustained program by which the school reaches out to their new contacts and instill in the school personnel sufficient boldness to ask familiar and potential educational partners for help. With the contributed funding from the University of Hawaii (see 3.4.1) we will have a person to help coordinate the followup.

With each year, the number of astrobiology teachers will multiply and promote astrobiology education in Hawaii's schools. This model replicates our existing cadre of TOPS teachers who conduct workshops, give presentations at national conventions and continue to implement astronomy activities in their classrooms.

3.1.4 Astrobiology in a Course for Pre-Service Teachers

Using the summer workshop and research experience as a base, we will also enhance an existing course for pre-service teachers. Geology & Geophysics 168 is designed both to fulfill a science requirement for elementary teachers and to introduce planetary science to future science teachers. It is a combined lecture/laboratory course, with emphasis on learning from hands-on, inquiry-based classroom activities. We will greatly increase the astrobiology content in the course through collaboration with others in our branch of the NAI. The course content may include some of the following topics: the processes operating on the surface of Mars, extremophiles, searching for and recognizing fossilized microorganisms, Mars site selection for sample return, debate about life in Martian meteorite ALH8400. The class will also include some exposure to research, such as mini-internships in which students help in research laboratories for a few hours a week for part of the semester. This course will also be offered to experienced science teachers to introduced them to astrobiology. We hope to establish a a wide network of teachers who will promote astrobiology topics in their course curriculum.

3.1.5 The Faulkes Telescope Facility

The Faulkes Telescope is a joint project between the Faulkes Telscope Corporation and the University of Hawaii Institute for Astronomy. The telescope, located on Haleakala, Maui, to be completed in late 2003, will be the largest professional grade telescope in the world dedicated to education and public outreach. The 2.2 m diameter telescope will be used for astronomy education with students in Hawaii and the U.K. being mentored by teachers and professional astronomers. Research projects with astronomers searching for extra-solar planets and Kuiper Belt Objects will give our students first-hand experience on cutting-edge research relating to the water theme of our NAI proposal.

Under the auspices of a broad Hawaii NAI outreach program, we will have a teacher training program for use of this telescope. TOPS 2003 summer workshop is piloting an experimental program in preparation for this proposed Faulkes Telescope NAI workshop. TOPS teachers will learn how to conduct telescope observations, *e.g.*, target selection, filters to be used, exposure time dependent upon magnitude, and how images are used for analysis of data. At the end of three weeks, they will be expected to write a research report. With proper training the teachers will be able to mentor students for science fair projects. This will serve as a model to be used for the NAI workshop. Teachers will also be mentored by project scientists, their post-docs and graduate students. A survey completed, whereby IFA astronomers and HIGP scientists indicated interest in mentoring teachers, will be used. Hawaii's team, NASA OSS Space Science Network Northwest, conducted this survey. This exemplifies how Hawaii's NAI education and public outreach effort will be integrated with other entities to play a a major role in promoting science and mathematics education.

3.1.6 Engaging the Public

Discoveries in Astrobiology: a Science Magazine on the Internet

We will manage and edit a web magazine modeled after PSRD, whose central theme is "planetary scientists sharing ideas and discoveries". (PSRD can be found at www.psrd.hawaii.edu, and is

managed by G. Jeffrey Taylor and Linda M. V. Martel.) The audience for PSRD is the public, teachers, high school and college students, and government decision makers. Discoveries in Astrobiology (DNA) would be similar: "astrobiologists sharing ideas and discoveries." We do not intend this online magazine to duplicate the excellent Astrobiology Magazine produced by the Astrobiology Institute. Instead, our site would focus on reporting recently published peer-reviewed articles by the scientists associated with our branch to be responsible for translating articles for the public. The magazine would also contain summary articles about various central topics in astrobiology, profiles of scientists involved, and virtual tours of our laboratories. We envision having a board of editors composed of scientists involved in NAI to review articles for content and clarity, including ease of navigation and quality of graphics. We would be responsible for html coding and production of graphics not supplied by our scientific colleagues.

Taylor and Martel began PSRD because they feel strongly that scientific research is not finished until the results are communicated to the general public, which pays for it. The articles in DNA will tell the public what their dollars discovered, and do so in understandable English. In addition, it is an excellent format for keeping policy makers at NASA Headquarters and in the Congress informed about the accomplishments of the Institute.

Other Public Engagement Activities

It is crucial to share our discoveries with the public, in order to help raise the level of science literacy both in Hawaii and in the nation. We plan to do this in three major ways. First, we will host a regular series of public lectures about astrobiology. These will be advertised widely to attract a large audience. Second, we will organize a speaker's bureau, allowing local organizations (*e.g.*, Rotary Club, Downtown Club of Honolulu, etc.) to request a researcher to talk about the wonders of some aspect of astrobiology. Initial contacts with these organizations are already in place. Third, we will make effective use of our local press to publicize our most interesting research findings. The press is a vital partner in public engagement and we have an experienced and talented group of local science reporters.

3.1.7 Evaluation

Our plans for evaluation is that we will use the effective partnerships we have already developed with teachers. They will help us in the development and testing of classroom activities. Testing will be done partly during teacher workshops, via an evaluation form for each activity. Testing will also be done in the classrooms of cooperating teachers. We will rely on their expert opinion as to the effectiveness of each new activity. Teacher workshops themselves will also be evaluated through questionnaires filled out by the participants and through follow-on surveys designed to determine if teachers are using the materials and, if not, why not. We will also adapt the rigorous evaluation techniques developed for the TOPS program, which involved a continuous, action-oriented, decision-making evaluation model. This involved planning, formative and summative assessment phases. We will work with PREL to develop and execute a formal evaluation of our outreach programs.

3.2 Professional Community

3.2.1 Winter Astrobiology school

A fundamental aspect of astrobiology is its cross-disciplinary nature. The network of Astrobiology Institutes is successfully creating an environment in which researchers from widely different backgrounds can interact and break down the barriers between subjects erected during their different paths of training. However, if astrobiology is going to be an increasingly vibrant discipline, we must prepare the young researchers who, a generation from now, will be leading the future efforts. We should foster a cross disciplinary attitude in young people *before* they develop the myopic science view that arises from traditional specialization. This is possible if we reach out to students well before they finish their PhD. Young people have a remarkable ability to connect easily to each other, and the strong personal connections that are established in youth tend to last the longest. By bringing young students together across the astrobiology spectrum, we are helping to build the network of cross disciplinary contacts that will be part of the foundation of astrobiology for the next generations.

We propose to establish the Hawaii Astrobiology Winter School to be held yearly in the Hawaiian islands. It will be open to all graduate students in the course of doing a PhD in astronomy, biology, biochemistry, chemistry, or geology, and with an interest in astrobiology. We envisage a school with about 20 students lasting two, or ideally three, weeks, with 4 to 6 courses taught by experts in various fields. The students will, in small teams, write the lecture notes themselves under supervision of the lecturers, and the lectures will be made available at a dedicated web site. It will be easier to engage busy senior scientists if they do not have to do a time consuming write-up afterwards. The idea is not that each years school should be covering all of astrobiology, rather each years school will have its distinct character, determined by the subjects offered by the lecturers.

Young people move around a lot after their PhD until they eventually get tenure somewhere, so there is reason to be concerned that the contacts established during the school will die out merely for practical reasons. To help counter this we will establish the Astrobiology Quarterly (AQ), an internet - bazed forum for dialogy and interaction amongst past participants in the Winter School. The AQ will contain abstracts of papers written by past and present school participants, summaries of PhD theses by school participants, and address changes so contacts can be maintained.

3.2.2 Visiting Faculty Scholars Program

The UH-NAI is proposing a Visiting Faculty Scholars program which will bring external collaborators to work with local researchers, to participate in the Astrobiology Winter School (3.2.1), and help with the E/PO (3.1). Having a strong visitor program will inject a breadth of innovative ideas to the UH-NAI, and maintain and strengthen our interdisciplinary research. Because the University of Hawaii has made a concession to the usual Faculty Housing policy (3.4.1) we will be able to house our visitors for longer-term visits to engage in meaningful research that is fully integrated into all aspects of our proposed NAI.

3.3 Teaming with Minority Institutions

The University of Hawaii is a Minority Institution, with only 19% of the student body Caucasian, 14% Hawaiian or part Hawaiian, and another 12% of mixed ethnicity, the remainder being Asian. In addition, our unique geographical location places us in an ideal position to interact with communities in Micronesia (90% minority groups). Through our previous E/PO programs, we have considerable experience and have developed contacts with the Micronesian educational community in the US-Affiliated pacific entities: (American Samoa, Chuuk, CNMI, Guam, Kosrae, Pohnpei, Palu, Marshall Islands and Yap), and we will actively integrate teachers from these regions into our E/PO program (3.1.2).

3.4 Institutional Commitment

3.4.1 University of Hawaii

The University of Hawaii fully supports this project and, to this end, is contributing a substantial matching component to the program.

- **Staff Salaries** First, we will be utilizing the bulk of the funds to recruit high-caliber postdoctoral fellows to work with the team and foster the collaborative interactions, only a small component of salary support is requested by the team. The in-kind value of the state-funded salary for the team amounts to \$1,545K.
- **Tenure Track Positions** The Institute for Astronomy will committ a senior tenure-track professorship in the area of Star and Planet Formation to the NAI, at an anticipated level of \$140K/year (plus fringe and overheads), and in addition will contribute a junior tenure-track position at a level of \$77K/year. This will be continued beyond the 5 year NAI program. The Institute sees the NAI goals as being an area of science where Hawaii is especially well-qualified to become a world leader in research because of our unique astronomical facilities and is therefore making this substantial commitment.
- Center for Star and Planet Formation The Institute for Astronomy will provide \$20,000 in funds per year to establish the Center for Star and Planet Formation. The goal of the Center is to develop closer ties between researchers studying star and planet formation, primitive planetary bodies (including the Kuiper belt objects and comets) and meteorites and the early solar system. The funding will be used to bring visiting scientists to the Center.
- **EPO Staffing** The University of Hawaii will fund outreach staffing at a level of \$50,000 (loaded) per year to help orchestrate our outreach program.
- Office Space The University of Hawaii will give the program 2000 sq. feet of space for our postdoctoral community, and an additional \$20,000 of funds to renovate the space, purchase furniture and set up wireless networking.
- **Faculty Housing** In order to support our strong visitor program (see 3.2.2), President Dobelle of the University of Hawaii has agreed to place us on a high priority list for rented faculty housing. Hawaii is expensive, and even at the state per diem level of \$80 / day (which cannot begin to cover hotel costs in Honolulu), a visitor program would be costly.

Short-term apartments are difficult, if not impossible to find. The UH faculty housing has a long waiting list (1-2 years) for space. Eligibility for priority for faculty housing is determined by the Board of Regents Policy, which only the President can override. Visiting Faculty Scholars, as a group, are at number 12 on the list, which means, in effect, that an apartment would be impossible to acquire. In response to our request, the President will place the UH-NAI at a high priority on this list, and extend the term of lease to the duration of the UH-NAI, if funded (normally it is 1-3 years maximum). Our project proposes a 3 month period per year, and the Institute for Astronomy Director will pick up the remaining 9 months of the year. Apartment rents range from \$600-\$1800 per month.

3.4.2 Outside Contributions

The director of the Pacific Eisenhower Mathematics and Science Regional Consortium at Pacific Resources for Education and Learning (PREL) will support the cost of airfare for 2 Pacific Island teachers each year to attend our summer Astrobiology programs. (Est. value: \$4K/year).

Table 2: Summar	y of	Cost-Sharing	and	In-Kind	Contributions	Amounts	Correspond	to	Fully
Loaded Salaries									

Contribution	Amount [\$K]
Faculty Salaries	1,545
1 Tenure track senior position (\$140K/yr)	1,639
1 Tenure track junior position (\$70K/yr)	934
Center for Star & Planet Formation	100
Outreach Staffing	250
2000 s.f. office space	N/V
Office rennovation	20
PREL Teacher Contribution	20
Access to R/V Kilo Moana	
Total Matching	\$4,508

3.5 Flight Missions

Karen Meech

• Meech is a co-Investigator on NASA's 8th Discovery mission, *Deep Impact*, which will explore the interior of a comet. One of her roles in the mission is to be in charge of all the ground-based observing support both for pre-mission target characterization, and during the encounter. She is also heavily involved in the mission outreach.

Scott Anderson

• Anderson helped to run the Mars Orbiting Laser Altimeter (MOLA) on the Mars Global Surveyor and the Gamma Ray Spectrometer (GRS/NS/HEND) on 2001 Mars Odyssey.

• Member of the 2003 MER rover landing site working group.

Tobias Owen

- Interdisciplinary Scientist & member of Galileo Mission Probe Mass Spectrometer Team ('97-'03).
- Interdisciplinary Scientist & member of the Spectrometer and Aerosol Collector Cassini-Huygens Teams.
- Associate investigator on Rosetta, which will be the first good chance to get noble gas abundances for a comet.
- Member of the Neutral Mass Spectrometer Team on the Japanese Mission NOZOMI.
- Owen will also be joining Discovery Proposal teams for two comet missions, one mission to search for water on Jupiter (the greatest unknown for that planet right now), and a Venus mission designed to study atmospheric abundances and isotopes, again to investigate the origin of the Earth's volatiles and the possible comet (=ice) connection.

Jeffrey Taylor

• Member of the 2001 Mars Odyssey Gamma Ray Spectrometer Team.

3.6 Information Technology

We plan to design, implement and evaluate a software tool to aid interdisciplinary scientific collaboration, tentatively called HypMaT (Hypothesis Management Tool). It would be aimed at groups of researchers working in different fields, possibly remotely, but towards a common goal or theme.

NAI already uses ScienceOrganizer^[109], a knowledge management tool that allows distributed NASA teams to organize and navigate through project information. Like ScienceOrganizer, Hyp-MaT would be a combination of a semantic network and a relational database. However, it would represent the knowledge at a higher level, and provide an intuitive graphical interface, allowing users to visualize relations between hypotheses, concepts, experimental results, and speculations across scientific fields. We plan to make HypMaT compatible with ScienceOrganizer, so that users can move easily between the two tools.

One of the problems of interdisciplinary scientific collaboration is how to allow a non-expert in some particular field to successfully interpret and use the high-level expertise of an expert in that field. For this reason, HypMaT would allow users to assign Confidence Factors (CFs), ranging from -1 to 1, to both the nodes in the network and to the relationships between them. A CF value captures the expert user's confidence in the information represented by the node. These CF values would percolate through the network, allowing a non-expert to access, at a high level, an expert's deep understanding of how concepts in his or her field of expertise interrelate.

For example, a biologist might want to know which of two theories of planetary formation are favored by the astronomers in the collaborating community. Using HypMaT, the biologist could see at a glance that Theory A (CF=3D0.8) is strongly preferred over the Theory B (CF=3D-0.1).

If she were to explore the network further, she could see that, although most observations support both theories equally, one recent observation would seem to disconfirm Theory B. That is, there is a relationship between the observation (CF=3D0.8) and Theory B, and this relationship contributes negatively to the CF of Theory B. Finally, the biologist could choose to access (perhaps via ScienceDesk) detailed information regarding that observation, including published papers, web pages, and data archives.

HypMaT is intended to be used by distributed teams of scientists. HypMaT users in a collaborative group would be able to synchronize their versions of the knowledge network over the internet. HypMaT would also maintain a record of past and alternate versions of the knowledge network, so that users can revert to earlier versions, or maintain different versions in cases of disagreement.

As an aid to collaborative composition, HypMaT would be able to transform a knowledge network (or sub-network) into a text outline, which could serve as a starting point for a scientific paper. The text outline would include any bibliographic data that were included in the network, saving time and reducing cross-referencing errors.

Although we envisage HypMaT as primarily for collaboration, it could also be used as a pedagogical tool. Students could explore the networks that result from various NAI projects, and thus learn more about the various disciplines involved in astrobiology and how they interrelate.

Kim Binsted, the co-investigator in charge of HypMaT, is a specialist in artificial intelligence and human-computer interaction. She is currently designing and building a prototype of a collaborative system similar to that described above. Because such systems are best developed in the context in which they will be used, Co-I Binsted is eager to use the distributed, interdisciplinary team associated with this proposal as a prototypical set of users for the system. Likewise, the team is eager to explore a tool that will allow them to collaborate more effectively.

3.7 Other Astrobiology Commitments

Karen Meech

- Towards Other Planetary Systems Outreach Program Meech has run a major NSFand NASA-funded teacher enhancement program in Hawaii since 1993. The program is designed to help high school math and science teachers integrate math and science standards into their classes by teaching astronomy. The Astrobiology content of this summer program also teaches about cutting edge astronomical research that is ongoing in Hawaii. A privately funded student component also exists for this 3-week summer program. This program was funded as a pilot by NASA from 1993-1995, and then by the NSF for 1999-2003.
- **Bioastronomy 1999 Meeting, Hawaii** Meech was the Local Organizing chair for this meeting held on the Kona Coast in Hawaii, and in addition she facilitated a large educational outreach component at the meeting.
- **Bioastronomy 2004 Meeting, Iceland** The local organizing chair of the meeting is Thorstein Thorsteinnson, one of our NAI collaborators. PI Meech is also a member of the local organizing committee, and the scientific organizing committee (SOC), and Gaidos and collaborator Ehrenfreund are members of the SOC. Many of the UH-NAI members

will take an active role in this meeting (and 4 of the 15 SOC members are UH-NAI affiliates).

- IAU Commission 51 on Bioastronomy Meech is a member of the Organizing committee, and the incoming President of Commission 51 of the International Astronomical Union as of the summer of 2003, and is currently the Vice President of the Division.
- WGESP Meech is a member of the IAU Working Group on Extra-Solar Planets. The working group is charged with acting as a focal point for research on extra solar planets and organizing IAU activities in the field, including reviewing techniques and possibly maintaining a list of identified planets.
- **PSRD** Meech is a member of the Board of Editors of the University of Hawaii on-line magazine, Planetary Science Research Discoveries.
- **COMPLEX** Meech is a member of the National REsearch Council's Committee on Planetary and Lunar Exploration and has taken an active role in the development of several studies, including: *The Quarantine and Certification of Martian Samples, Organic Environments in the Solar System* and the *Assessment of Mars Science and Mission Priorities*.

James Cowen

- **Ridge2000 Program** Cowen is a Steering and Executive Committee member of NSF's Ridge2000 program. The program is focused on the complex linkages between life and planetary processes at mid-ocean ridges. There are strong linkages between Ridge2000 and NASA's Astrobiology programs.
- LExEn Cowen has been an invited participant to numerous planning workshops including those for LExEn (Life in Extreme environments) and NEPTUNE (ambitious plan for seafloor observatory based on fiber optic cable/instrument node/AUV system).
- **Teacher at Sea** Cowen has developed and actively supports a Teacher at Sea program (see 3.1.3).

Eric Gaidos

- **Terrestrial Planet Finder** Gaidos is a member of the Terrestrial Planet Finder Working Group (2002-2006)
- Planetary Ecosystems and Biosystems Lab Gaidos has set up this laboratory and curriculum at the University of Hawaii. http://www.soest.hawaii.edu/GG/FACULTY/GAIDOS/pebl.html

Ralf Kaiser

• UK Astrobiology Network – The Co-I is member of the UK Astrobiology Network and also an advisor to the UK Astrobiology Forum highlighting future research initiatives in astrobiology.

- Centre for Astrobiology, The Open University (UK) The Co-I holds an adjunct professorship at the Department of Physics and Astronomy, Centre for Astrobiology, at The Open University, Milton Keynes (UK). In collaboration with Prof. Nigel J. Mason, one experiment is currently being setup at the synchrotron to investigate the synthetic routes and destruction rates of aminoacids and carbon hydrates in astrobiologically important ices.
- **Course Development** Kaiser developed a graduate course at the University of Hawaii in Astrochemistry and Astrobiology.
- **Textbook** Cambridge University Press commissioned Kaiser to write a textbook for graduate students entitled "The Chemical Evolution of the Interstellar Medium: From Astrochemistry to Astrobiology".
- **Graduate Program** In collaboration with faculty members from Department of Chemistry, Department of Physics & Astronomy, the Institute for Astronomy (IfA), and the Hawaii Institute of Geophysics and Planetology (HIGP), Kaiser organized a new graduate program at the University of Hawaii. Astrobiology is a key component of this endeavor.

David Karl

- **1998 Lake Vostok Workshop** Washington DC, Karl was co-chair of this international workshop that led to a series of recommendations on future research in Antarctic subglacial lakes.
- **Polar Research Board, National Research Council** Karl is currently a member of this polar sciences advisory board.
- Meeting Planning Committee Karl is currently co-chair of an American Academy of Microbiology planning committee for a future international colloquium with the tentative title, "Marine Microbial Diversity: The Key to Earth's Habitability"

Klaus Keil

- **SScAC** Keil served on the Space Science Advisory Committee (SScAC), NASA Headquarters, Washington, D.C. from 1993-2000, during which time discussions took place regarding the creation of the Astrobiology Program.
- **Planetary Protection** Keil served on the Planetary Protection Task Force, NASA Headquarters, in 1999.
- **Chondrule and CAI Formation** Krot, Reipurth, Scott and Keil are organizing this interdisciplinary workshop in October 2004, in Kauai which aims at bringing meteoriticists and astronomers together to explore formation mechanisms for chondrules and CAI's.

Tobias Owen

• Astrobiology Text – Owen has written a well-used Astrobiology textbook with D. Goldmith: *The Search for Life in the Universe*, (University Science Books, Sausalito) 573 pp. (2002).

• Astrobiology Conference – Co-Director, 7th Trieste Conference on Chemical Evolution and the Origin of Life 15-19 Sep. 2003.

Bo Reipurth

- IAU Division IV Interstellar Medium President: B. Reipurth.
- **Protostars and Planets V Meeting, 2005** Reipurth has spearheaded getting this meeting to come to Hawaii during Oct 24-29, 2005. Team members Reipurth, Keil and Jewitt constitute the Scientific Organizing Committee of the meeting and Meech is the Local Organizing Chair. This will be a highly visible meeting with Proceedings published through the University of Arizona series.
- **Outreach** Reipurth is very active in outreach, having conducted over 150 radio broadcasts, participated in various TV programs, and has written over 30 newspaper articles on popular astronomy, some related to Astrobiology.
- NAI Affiliation Reipurth was an affiliate of the Colorado Astrobiology group (1998-2001).

Jeffrey Taylor

- **Planetary Science Research Discoveries** Manager and editor of a web magazine called Planetary Science Research Discoveries (www.psrd.hawaii.edu) which translates recently published articles to the level appropriate for teachers, high school students and the public.
- Hawaii Space Grant Consortium Taylor is the Associate Director for Space Science for the Hawaii Space Grant Consortium. He has been instrumental in helping to develop on-line classroom activities which are related to exobiology. http://www.spacegrant.hawaii.edu/class_acts/index.html

4 Facilities & Equipment

• The Mauna Kea Observatories – The 4,200 meter high summit of Mauna Kea in Hawaii houses the world's largest observatory for optical, infrared, and submillimeter astronomy. The University of Hawaii staff have priviledged access on a competitive basis to all of the facilities on Mauna Kea which are shown in the Table below, thus all of our UH NAI team members will have the opportunity to use these facilities. Through collaborations with our local NAI team, members of the national NAI will also have access. The UH gets 10-15% of the time on all of the facilities listed, and 100% of the time on the University of Hawaii 2.2m telescope.

Telescope	Diam [m]	Partners	λ Regime
Keck	2×10	Caltech, USC, NASA	optical, IR
Subaru	8	Japan	optical, IR
Gemini	8	Internat. consortium	optical, IR
UKIRT	3.8	United Kingdom	IR
CFHT	3.6	Canada, France, Hawaii	optical, IR
IRTF	3.0	NASA	IR
UH	2.2	University of Hawaii	optical, IR
JCMT	15.0	UK, Netherlands, Canada	submillimeter
CSO	10.0	Caltech	submillimeter
SMA	8×6	Smithsonian, Taiwan	submm interferometer

Table 3: Facilities on Mauna Kea, Hawaii

The Submillimeter Array (SMA), is nearing completion on Mauna Kea, and will be optimized for high angular aresolution observations at $\lambda = 1.3$ -0.3mm, ideal for looking at thermal continuum emission, rotational lines of light molecules, and atomic fine structure lines, which arise in compact regions such as the vicinity of young stars, protoplanetary disks and solar system bodies. This will be a unique tool for astrobiology.

- The Haleakala Observatories The Faulkes Telescope is a joint project between the Faulkes Telescope Corporation and the University of Hawaii's Institute for Astronomy. The 2-meter facility is under construction and scheduled for completion this year. When complete, this will be the largest professional grade telescope in the world dedicated to education and public outreach.
- Ultra-High Vacuum Surface Scattering Machine All experiments will be carried out in an extreme ultrahigh vacuum (10⁻¹¹ mbar) surface scattering machine in which frozen, astrobiologically relevant ice samples (10K-293K) are irradiated with charged particles (electrons, protons, helium nuclei) and photons. The analysis will be carried out quantitatively on line and in situ via Fourier transform spectroscopy in absorption-reflection (solid state) and through a calibrated quadrupole mass spectrometer (gas phase) to determine temperature dependent production rates of astrobiologically relevant molecules such as sugars, aminoacids, and phosphates. This machine presents the only setup world wide in which an extreme ultra high vacua and low temperatures can be reached and the solid state as well

as the gas phase can be monitored simultaneously. This setup can be operated as a user facility for qualified NAI members.

- Meteorite Instrumentation At the present time at the University of Hawaii, we have the following equipment available to our group in HIGP and SOEST: Three Nikon research optical microscopes (two with automated photography attachments, including a digital camera attached to a computer, and Swift point counter); two Nikon stereomicroscopes (one with automated photography attachments); a state-of-the-art, fully automated 5-spectrometer Cameca SX-50 electron microprobe; a Hitachi H-600 scanning transmission electron microscope (STEM) and sample preparation laboratories including plasma etcher, carbon and gold-palladium coating devices and ultramicrotomes; a JEOL-5900LV scanning electron microscope (SEM); a Princeton Gamma-Tech 4-Plus energy dispersive X-ray spectrometer and digital image analysis systems, both of which are interfaced with the STEM and TEM; atomic absorption and ICP laboratories; a fully automated Siemens SRS303-AS-Xray fluorescence facility; a fully automated Scintag Pad V X-ray diffractometer; experimental petrology apparatus; extensive computer facilities; laboratory for the preparation of polished thin sections; photography and drafting facilities; and others. In situ isotopic studies of secondary minerals resulted from aqueous activity will be performed in collaboration with Dr. K. D. McKeegan at the University of California, Los Angeles using the UCLA ims 1270 ion microprobe and in collaboration with Dr. I. D. Hutcheon at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory using the modified Cameca ims-3f and NanoSIMS 50 ion microprobes.
- Cryobot Access In addition to state of the art computational support, Anderson has a 200 square foot laboratory, two rotating field mass spectrometers (RFMS), and access to a Cryobot as part of a shared agreement with JPL (as he is a team member). One of the RFMS systems is housed in a casing rated to 2000m for deep sea deployment, and the other is a benchtop unit suitable for life detection experiments. The Cryobot is a prototype hot water ice drill capable of carrying instruments to hundreds of meters depth in Iceland or Antarctica, as well as deployment in the ocean. The Cryobot can steer, make measurements, process data, and produce realtime video of the subsurface ice. The data is sent through a tether to the surface. Our lab space is suitable for maintenance on the Cryobot and RFMS, as well as experimentation with the RFMS instrument.
- **BioLab BSL2** Gaidos operates an 825 sq. ft. complex that includes a Biosafety Level 2 clean laboratory for manipulation of environmental samples and culturing organisms. This laboratory includes a BSL-2 laminar-flow clean bench, PCR cabinet, compound epi-fluorescence microscope, stereo field microscope, two (2) water-jacketed controlled atmosphere incubators, an anaerobic chamber with airlock, several refrigerators and freezers, centrifuges, autoclave, dishwasher, ultrapure water system, and miscellaneous equipment to treat samples and extract DNA. The facility also includes a computer lab work area for data analysis and modeling with 3 PC computers equipped with the Linux operating system. In addition, he manages a 1200 sq. ft. shared molecular biology facility that includes a multiple capillary DNA sequencer, laser-scanning blot reader, spectrophotometer, centrifuges, complete denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) system, a laser flow cytometer system, and miscellaneous equipment for molecular biology.

- Kilo Moana Oceanographic Research Ship The R/V Kilo Moana is the latest member of the University of Hawaii's research fleet. Owned by the Office of Naval Research and operated by SOEST (School of Ocean and Earth Science and Technology), the twin hull research ship has been called the best in the U.S. academic fleet. The modern vessel is the first Auxiliary General Oceanographic Research ship to be constructed on a Small Waterplane Area Twin Hull design. This provides a comfortable, stable platform for multi-disciplinary marine research. The overall length of 186 feet and 88-foot beam provide ample exterior deck space and 3,000 s.f of dedicated science space. The vessel is equipped with both a deep-water (Simrad EM 120) and a shallow-water (Simrad EM 1002) multi-beam echo sounder capable of accurate sea-floor mapping at any ocean depth, dynamic positioning, and a complement of winches, cranes and other handling gear. The ship has an endurance of 50 days at sea, and a range of 10,000 nautical miles at 11 knots. The ship missions include water sampling, equipment launch, towing, recovery, and shipboard sample analysis and data processing. The Kilo Moana can accommodate 31 scientists and 17 crew. Facilities include library and conference rooms and hydrographic, computers, chemistry, wet and meteorology laboratories.
- Mid-ocean ridge (magmatic/tectonic) Event Detection and Response MOR eruptions are unpredictable and short-lived. Scientific exploitation of these fundamental phenomena requires an extensive, well-coordinated infrastructure involving essential equipment, extensive planning and established communication, and dedicated personnel. The Northeast Pacific ED&R team consists of a partnership between researchers at NOAA- PMELs VENTS Program and NSF-RIDGE2000 funded Universities. NOAAs T-Phase Monitoring Program is responsible for event detection: the remote detection of T-Phase seismic waves via the U.S. Navys Sound Surveilance System. The University research team, led by the University of Hawaii (NAI-HI co-PI Cowen), is funded by NSF to develop and maintain readiness to rapidly respond to significant seafloor eruptive events along the Northeast Pacific MOR system; they will be joined by NOAA response colleagues. Communication is facilitated by the RIDGE2000 Program, overseen by the Time-Critical Studies Committee (chaired by Cowen).
- Hawaii Undersea Research Laboratory The Hawaii Undersea Research Laboratory (HURL) was established by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and the University of Hawaii. HURL's facilities include two deep-diving (2000 m) submersibles Pisces V and Pisces IV, a remotely operated vehicle RCV-150, and the support ship R/V Kaimikai-o-Kanaloa. Its mission is to study deep water marine processes in the Pacific Ocean, including a research focus on submarine volcanology: the geology, geophysics, geochemistry, and biology of volcanic processes. Loihi Volcano, on the flanks of the island of Hawaii, is a prime site for this work, which includes monitoring submarine geophysical, geological and geochemical processes using an Ocean Bottom Observatory.